NORTHWESTERN UNIVERSITY

Gaze and Gait: How Motor Learning and Concussive Injury Change Where We Look and Our

Visual Reliance

A DISSERTATION

SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS

for the degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Northwestern University Interdepartmental Neuroscience Program

By

Alexander Thomas Cates

EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

September 2023

© Copyright by Alexander Cates, 2023

All Rights Reserved

Abstract

Visual information plays a critical role in controlling movement. People use visual information to plan future actions and correct current actions through feedforward and feedback processes, respectively. We can gain insights into these visually guided motor control processes by quantifying where people look during movement and measuring how much they rely on different pieces of visual information. Researchers have established that the visual information people collect and their reliance on the collected information changes based on their surrounding environment and capacity to move (e.g., motor skill level or injury). My thesis expands on this knowledge by examining how where-we-look (i.e., fixation distance) and visual reliance changes throughout the motor learning process; first with an online motor learning task and then with practice of a precision stepping task. My research clearly demonstrates that fixation distance increases with practice. In contrast, changes in visual reliance are dependent on the task being performed. Additionally, my research suggests that changes in visual reliance are a consequence of changing motor skill. I then apply this approach to examine whether individuals who have recently been medically cleared from a concussion exhibit altered collection of and reliance upon visual information (gaze behavior). While my research does not find significant visual changes during walking following the concussion, it does find persistent postural balance and oculomotor deficits. Together, these results provide new information about how gaze behavior changes with motor learning and following a concussion. Outcomes from this dissertation may be valuable for informing gaze-based intervention practices and for further exploring why individuals postconcussion exhibit persistent gait deficits.

Acknowledgments

To my advisor:

Dr. Keith Gordon for your help, mentorship, and guidance throughout this process. Keith, you have created a model of mentorship and leadership through adversity that I will forever appreciate. You have also constantly surprised me with your sense of humor and openness to speculate about off the wall ideas and approaches while keeping me grounded in reality.

To my committee members:

Drs. Mark Segraves, Daniel Marigold, and Jeff Mjaanes for your valuable feedback and guidance on my work. Mark for helping me keep the bigger picture in mind, Dan for guiding me in how to tackle eye tracking data during walking, and Jeff for always helping me to remember the patient and practical significance of my work.

To my lab mates and coworkers

To Anna Shafer, Shamali Dusane, Francis Grover, Tara Cornwell, Rucha Kulkarni, Andrew Dragunas, Amanda Stack, Mary Bucklin, Steve Antos, Jordan Dembsky, Jas Deol, Geoff Brown, and all of the Human Agility Lab, your feedback, support, and input have been invaluable during this journey and have made me a better scientist.

To Jenn Lupo, Kacey Suvada, Thomas Plaiser, Hendrik Dewald, Tiffany Christian, Elizabeth Johnson, and everyone else who came through our writing group for your patience and inciteful comments dealing with my various pieces of writing.

To Peter Fino, Nick Kreter, Paula Kramer, and Catherine Paris, our monthly meetings played an integral part in every aspect of this dissertation from design choices and analysis paths.

To Brian Vesci and Matt Nerrie, your insights into how to assess individuals post-concussion and your constant help with recruitment was invaluable to my progress.

To my family

To Tom, Julia, Serena, and Connor, thank you for being a sounding board for any and all wacky ideas along the way. For teaching me to always be curious. And for giving me the space and confidence to pursue any goal

To Sarah, you have kept me grounded and sane throughout this entire process while constantly reminding me that there is more to life than lab. I would not have accomplished this without you.

To my funders:

Northwestern university (The John Nicholson Fellowship), The National Institute of Health (HD101395), The American College of Sports Medicine, The Department of Physical Therapy and Human Movement Science for providing me with the resources and support to explore the questions that truly interested me.

Thank you to everyone.

Preface

Chapter 3: A preprint of this work is available at: https://osf.io/a3bkx/

Chapter 4: This work has been published in the Journal of Neurophysiology (Cates and Gordon 2022).

Chapter 5: A preprint of this work is available at: https://osf.io/659cr/

Table of Contents

Contents

Abstract
Acknowledgments
Preface
Table of Contents7
List of Tables, Illustrations, Figures, and Graphs
Chapter 1: A Walk through what you will see in this dissertation
General Outline and Summary of Experiments
Chapter 2: What alters gaze behavior?
Chapter 3: Motor Learning alters vision, but vision does not alter motor learning
Chapter 4: Don't watch your step: Gaze behavior adapts with practice of a target stepping
task
Chapter 5: Seeing does not mean processing: Where we look and the visual information we
rely on change independently as we learn a novel walking task
Chapter 6: Gaze behavior during walking is unaffected after recovery from a concussion 22
Chapter 7: A meta-view of gaze behavior changes
Chapter 8: Conclusions, clinical implications, and future directions
Chapter 2: What Alters Gaze Behavior?

The Gaze Behavior of a Healthy Young Adult	
Visuo-locomotor Control Systems: Feedback vs Feedforward	
Fixation Distance	
Visual Reliance	
The Effect of Terrain	
Fixation Distance	
Visual Reliance	
The Effect of Age	
Fixation Distance	
Visual Reliance	
The Effect of Neurologic Impairment	
Fixation Distance	
Visual Reliance	
The Effect of a Concussion	
The Effect of Confidence and Anxiety	
Fixation Distance	
Visual Reliance	
The Effect of Elite Athleticism	
Fixation Distance	
Visual Reliance	

The Effect of Motor Learning	38
Fixation Distance	39
Visual Reliance	40
Current State of What Alters Gaze Behavior	40
Scientific Gap	41
Chapter 3: Motor learning alters vision, but vision does not alter motor learning	42
Abstract	42
New & Noteworthy	43
Introduction	43
Methods	48
Participants	48
Online Learning Task	48
Trial Blocks and Conditions	50
Experiment Procedures	52
Outcome Measures	53
Data Analysis	54
Results	56
Experiment One: Limiting visual information during training limits performance but not	
motor learning	56
Experiment Two: Motor learning reduces visual reliance	58

Discussion	59
Experiment One: Removing visual information reduces motor perform	nance but not motor
learning	60
Experiment Two: Full vision practice reduces visual reliance and incre	eases performance-
related visual flexibility	
Limitations	
Conclusions	
Acknowledgements	
Chapter 4: Don't watch your step: Gaze behavior adapts with practice of a	target stepping task 65
Abstract	
New & Noteworthy	66
Introduction	66
Materials and Methods	
Participants	
Experimental Setup	
Stepping Task	
Experimental Protocol	
Data Analysis and Processing	
Outcome measures	
Statistical Analysis	

Results	78
Representative Participant7	78
Step Error and Fixation Metrics Change with Practice7	78
Changes were driven by general task learning rather than sequence learning	30
Participants significantly changed their fixation distance following an error step	31
Participants did not exhibit learning within trial rounds	32
Discussion	33
Acknowledgements	39
Chapter 5: Seeing does not mean processing: Where we look and the visual information we rely	r
on change independently as we learn a novel walking task9) 1
Abstract) 1
Introduction	<i>)</i> 2
Materials and methods) 6
Participants) 6
Experimental Setup9) 7
Stepping Task) 8
Experimental Protocol) 9
Data Analysis and Processing10)1
Outcome Measures 10)3
Statistical Analysis)4

Results	105
Participants	105
Step Error decreases while fixation distance increases with practice	106
Limiting visual targets affected gaze behavior	107
Reliance on feedback visual information increases with practice	109
Discussion	110
Acknowledgements	115
Chapter 6: Gaze behavior during walking is unaffected after recovery from a concussion	116
Abstract	116
Introduction	116
Visual Fixation Locations	118
Visual Processing and Reliance	119
Visuo-Locomotor Learning	120
The Present Study	120
Methods	121
Participants	121
Experimental Setup	122
Baseline Testing	123
Target Stepping Tasks	127
Experimental Protocol	130

Data Analysis and Processing	1
Results	4
Visual Fixation Location: Individuals post-concussion look at the same place as matched	
controls	4
Visual Reliance: Individuals post-concussion rely on vision the same amount as matched	
controls	5
Visuo-locomotor learning: Individuals post-concussion decreased their step error and	
increased their fixation distance similarly to matched controls	6
Baseline Tests: Persistent oculomotor and balance deficits when under enough cognitive	
load	7
Correlations: Stepping performance was related to days to recover	9
Discussion	9
Visual Fixation Locations140	0
Visual Processing and Reliance140	0
Visuo-Locomotor Learning	1
Participant Characteristics	2
Future Directions: Proprioception	2
Conclusions	3
Acknowledgements 14.	3
Chapter 7: A meta-view of gaze behavior changes144	4

Introduction	
Locomotor learning and fixation distance	
Step Error exhibit similar learning rates across all studies	
Despite differences in study design, fixation distance increases with practice	
Motor learning and visual reliance	148
Changes in feedback and feedforward visual reliance are task and individual dep	endent 149
Conclusion	150
Chapter 8: Conclusions, clinical implications, and future directions	152
Summary of work	152
Fixation distance increases with locomotor learning	152
Alternative perspective: Fixation distance vs fixation timing	153
Changes in visual reliance from motor learning may be task dependent	154
Alternative perspective: Central vs peripheral vision	154
Next question: What role does peripheral vision play in locomotor learning?	155
Gaze behavior does not change following a concussion	155
Alternative perspective: Vision and proprioception	156
Next question: What is the relationship between proprioception and vision in inf	orming
locomotor control?	156
Clinical Implications	157
Gaze training for movement rehabilitation	

Implications for post-concussion care1	58
Next question: How long do balance and oculomotor deficits persist post-concussion? 1	59
Final Thoughts1	59
References	61

List of Tables, Illustrations, Figures, and Graphs

- Figure 2-1: Description of gaze behavior of healthy young adult pg. 27
- Figure 2-2: Comparison of gaze behavior between flat and complex terrain pg. 28
- Figure 2-3: Comparison of gaze behavior between young and older adults pg. 30
- Figure 2-4: Comparison of gaze behavior between healthy young adults and individuals with neurological impairments pg. 32
- Figure 2-5: Comparison of gaze behavior between adults with low vs high anxiety pg. 35
- Figure 2-6: Comparison of gaze behavior between novice and elite athletes pg. 36
- Figure 2-7: Comparison of gaze behavior between pre vs post motor learning pg. 39
- Figure 3-1: Theoretical framework of the possible motor learning models pg. 44
- Figure 3-2: Screenshot of the online learning task pg. 49
- Figure 3-3: Study Block Orders pg. 53
- Figure 3-4: Results of limiting vision during motor learning pg. 57
- Figure 3-5: Results of motor learning on visual reliance pg. 58
- Table 4-1: Demographic Information pg. 70
- Figure 4-1: Depiction of stepping task pg. 72
- Figure 4-2: Data from representative participant pg. 78
- Figure 4-3: Results of practice on step error and fixation distance pg. 79
- Figure 4-4: Percent of fixations in feedback or feedforward zones pg. 80
- Figure 4-5: Effect of error step on fixation distance pg. 81
- Figure 4-6: Within trial effect of practice on step error and fixation distance pg. 82
- Figure 5-1: Diagram of target stepping task and representative participant data pg. 98
- Figure 5-2: Depiction of visual conditions and trial block order pg. 100

- Figure 5-3: Effect of practice on step error and fixation distance pg. 106
- Figure 5-4: Effect of visual conditions on gaze behavior pg. 107
- Figure 5-5: Effect of practice on visual reliance pg. 109
- Table 6-1: Demographic Information pg. 121
- Figure 6-1: Test cards for oculomotor testing pg. 123
- Figure 6-2: Depiction of step reaction task pg. 126
- Figure 6-3: Depiction of the visual conditions pg. 128
- Figure 6-4: Depiction of target stepping task and representative data pg. 132
- Figure 6-5: Effect of concussion on visual fixation distance pg. 134
- Figure 6-6: Effect of concussion on visual reliance pg. 135
- Figure 6-7: Effect of concussion on visuo-locomotor learning pg. 136
- Figure 6-8: Effect of concussion on oculomotor, balance, and step reaction times pg. 137
- Figure 6-9: Correlations between age and days to recover on locomotor performance pg. 139
- Figure 7-1: Effect of practice on step error pg. 145
- Figure 7-2: Effect of practice on fixation distance pg. 147
- Figure 7-3: Effect of practice on visual reliance pg. 149

Chapter 1: A *Walk* through what you will *see* in this dissertation

"Hey, watch where you step!" We have all heard and said this phrase while navigating our world. Given the ubiquitousness of the phrase, it is no surprise that vision plays a major role in how we plan and execute our movements. While research suggests that the type of vision we collect and how we use vision changes based on our motor ability, how and whether vision changes during the motor learning process is not understood. My dissertation therefore explores the role of vision in motor learning through multiple tasks and populations. In Chapter 2, I provide background knowledge of what the role of vision is in controlling movement, and how that role changes based on the individual's abilities and/or the environment. In Chapter 3, I present evidence about the role of vision during motor learning of an online typing task. Chapters 4 and 5 investigate the role of vision during a locomotor learning task, with Chapter 4 focusing on where people look and Chapter 5 focusing on how people rely on vision to perform the task. Chapter 6 applies the knowledge gained in the previous chapters to explore the role of vision during walking among individuals post-concussion. In Chapter 7, I establish some common themes about how fixation distance and visual reliance change with motor learning. Finally in Chapter 8, I conclude by discussing alternative perspectives, clinical implications, and outstanding questions.

General Outline and Summary of Experiments

Below I provide an overview of the organization of the dissertation and the aim, topic, and takeaway of each chapter.

Chapter 2: What alters gaze behavior?

I provide background literature and establish how different tasks and individual characteristics affect fixation distance and visual reliance. I examine how 6 different factors affect gaze behavior; specifically, terrain, age, neurologic disorders, confidence/anxiety, elite athleticism, and after motor learning; and visualize gaze behavior differences of these factors compared to healthy young adults walking on flat ground. Finally, I discuss the gaps in our knowledge of how gaze behavior is affected throughout the motor learning process and following a concussion.

Chapter 3: Motor Learning alters vision, but vision does not alter motor learning

Aim 1: To determine how gaze behavior changes during finger coordination learning.

I present the results of two experiments that used an online typing game to assess how visual availability affected motor learning (Experiment 1) and how motor learning affected performance with limited visual information (Experiment 2). The online typing game consisted of targets dropping from the top of the game screen with participants responding when the targets crossed a designated location on the bottom of the screen. In Experiment 1, 52 participants practiced the task in one of three conditions: Full vision; No feedback (when the targets were not visible on the lower half of the game screen), No feedforward (when the targets were not visible on the upper half of the game screen). In Experiment 2, visual reliance was assessed for 145 participants before and after a full vision training period. Visual reliance was defined as the decrease in performance between a full vision condition and a limited vision condition (no feedback or no feedforward).

Hypothesis 1: Limiting visual information during training will reduce overall motor learning.

Contrary to my hypothesis, limiting visual information did not alter motor learning, only immediate performance. Participants were less accurate during the limited vision conditions, but neither the rate of improvement (a measure of motor learning) nor post-training performance (when all participants performed the task with full vision) were limited by training condition.

Hypothesis 2: Following training, participants will alter their visual reliance to emphasize feedforward visual information more and feedback visual information less.

In partial support of my hypothesis, I found that practice reduced participant reliance on vision altogether, rather than increasing feedforward reliance and reducing feedback reliance. People became more visually flexible with training, defined as being better able to use whatever visual information was available to them to complete the task.

Taken together, the results of the two experiments suggest that motor learning affects gaze behavior, but constraining gaze behavior does not affect motor learning.

Chapter 4: Don't watch your step: Gaze behavior adapts with practice of a target stepping task.

Aim 2A. To determine how gaze behavior changes during locomotor learning

I present the results of an experiment on how locomotor learning affects where people look during a target stepping task. Twelve people walked on a treadmill while stepping targets were projected onto the treadmill surface. Participants practiced accurately stepping on the targets and received auditory feedback to inform and help update their performance.

Hypothesis: With practice of a precision stepping task, people will decrease their step error and increase their fixation distance.

As hypothesized, people did decrease their step error (the distance between the foot and the target) and increase their fixation distance (how far ahead they fixated) with practice. There was also evidence of a consolidation effect, as most of the changes in step error and fixation distance occurred between trial blocks rather than from step to step within trial blocks.

Chapter 5: Seeing does not mean processing: Where we look and the visual information we rely on change independently as we learn a novel walking task Aim 2B. To determine how gaze behavior changes with locomotor learning

I examined how participant visual reliance, a measure of visual processing rather than the visual sampling previously explored, changes with locomotor practice. Twenty people walked on a treadmill while completing a precision stepping task. Visual reliance was repeatedly probed through the use of limited visual conditions: 1) No feedback condition (hiding targets less than 1.5 steps ahead) and 2) No feedforward condition (hiding targets greater than 1.5 steps ahead). Visual reliance was defined as the decrease in stepping performance between a limited and full vision condition. Participants completed sets of three training trials with full vision in between probe periods (one block of each visual condition) to create the locomotor learning conditions.

Hypothesis: With practice, people will become more reliant on feedforward visual information and less reliant on feedback visual information

Counter to my hypothesis, people became more reliant on feedback visual information with practice, while their reliance on feedforward visual information was unchanged. Contrary to the results of Chapter 3 (where visual reliance decreased with practice), this finding suggests that the task being learned affects how visual reliance changes with practice. The results did support the

findings of Chapter 4, with people looking farther ahead with practice. When combined with the increase in feedback visual reliance, the results suggest people use visual information differently as they practice the precision stepping task, such as more efficient visual processing or by shifting to using peripheral vision more as they practice the precision stepping task.

Chapter 6: Gaze behavior during walking is unaffected after recovery from a concussion

Aim 3: to determine how gaze behavior changes following a concussion

To understand why people exhibit persistent gait deficits following medical clearance from a concussion, I examined whether gaze behavior is similarly altered during walking after a concussion. Twelve people who were recently medically cleared from a concussion and twelve matched controls completed a series of tasks to assess their fixation distance, visual reliance, and locomotor learning during walking. Using the precision stepping tasks described in Chapters 4 and 5, I assessed if individuals who recently recovered from a concussion exhibit altered gaze behavior during walking.

Hypothesis: People who recently recovered from a concussion will exhibit altered gaze behavior, specifically fixating closer to themselves and displaying an increased reliance on feedback visual information.

Contrary to my hypothesis, I did not find any evidence of altered gaze behavior during walking. People post-concussion exhibited similar fixation distances to their matched controls, along with similar visual reliance on both feedback and feedforward visual information. While further study is needed, it is likely that the persistent gait deficits following a concussion are not related to disruptions in gaze behavior.

Chapter 7: A meta-view of gaze behavior changes

Chapter 7 takes a meta-analytical approach to aggregate and compare the results of the four studies presented in this dissertation. I find that fixation distance consistently increases with locomotor learning, while changes in visual reliance depend on the task and the individual. I discuss how differences in task design and study participants across the different studies may have affected changes in gaze behavior.

Chapter 8: Conclusions, clinical implications, and future directions

I conclude the dissertation with a summary of the research presented and discussing alternative explanations and frameworks. I discuss the clinical implications of the knowledge gained and present outstanding questions raised by the research, including how future studies research could answer these questions.

Chapter 2: What Alters Gaze Behavior?

Gaze behavior captures a combination of where people look and how people utilize visual information to perform a task. The present chapter will start by describing the gaze behavior of healthy young adults. I then present six different situations, relating to either the individual or the environment, which alter gaze behavior when compared to healthy young adults. These situations set up the basis for the dissertation, exploring how the use of vision differs depending on the situation presented. The chapter ends with a description of the current gaps in the literature, including how the present dissertation may provide novel insights into how gaze behavior changes with motor learning and post-concussion.

The Gaze Behavior of a Healthy Young Adult

As mentioned, gaze behavior categorizes where people look and how they use visual information to perform a task. People exhibit a variety of different gaze behaviors based on a wide range of factors. Here, I focus on walking and the gaze behaviors associated with planning and executing a gait pattern which ensures safe and efficient locomotion.

Visuo-locomotor Control Systems: Feedback vs Feedforward

People make a range of visual fixations during locomotion which inform both a feedforward and a feedback visuo-locomotor control system (Marigold 2008, Matthis et al. 2018, Patla 2003). Feedforward visual information is information relating to future steps and is particularly important for detecting potential hazards along an individual's path (Marigold 2008). Feedforward visual information creates open-loop motor plans which are necessary during walking for both accurate foot placement (Hollands and Marple-Horvat 1996) and clearing an obstacle (Patla et al. 1996, Mohagheghi et al. 2004, Graci et al. 2010). In contrast, feedback visual information is information relating to the current step being executed (i.e., the current swing phase) and informs an online, conscious, closed-loop motor control system (Marigold 2008). Feedback visual information is necessary to fine tune the pre-made motor plan (Graci et al. 2010) and correct any perceptual errors which may have informed the feedforward plan (McCarville and Westwood 2006, Glover and Dixon 2004). Both feedback and feedforward visual information are necessary to ensure a safe and efficient gait. For instance, when given the choice, people will prioritize collecting feedforward visual information during walking (Patla et al. 1996), but if feedback visual information is removed, people will adopt a more cautious gait pattern to counter any unexpected perturbations (Timmis, Bennett, and Buckley 2009, Timmis and Buckley 2012, Marigold and Patla 2008). The present dissertation therefore examines gaze behavior, specifically fixation distance and visual reliance, to understand how people use feedback and feedforward visual information to guide their locomotion.

Fixation Distance

When walking on flat, level ground, healthy young adults tend to visually fixate about two steps ahead (Patla and Vickers 1997, 2003, Matthis et al. 2018). This average represents the balance of feedback and feedforward visual information collection and persists regardless of the stepping task, including precision stepping (Patla and Vickers 2003), target avoidance (Matthis and Fajen 2013, 2014), and obstacle navigation (Patla and Vickers 1997). Later sections of this chapter will discuss how environmental and individual factors shift this average fixation distance as people prioritize collecting feedback or feedforward visual information. For our purposes, we will use the average of about two steps ahead when walking on flat, level ground as our baseline for comparison with other situations discussed later in the chapter.

Visual Reliance

Visual reliance is defined here as how motor performance changes with the removal of all or certain pieces of visual information. Similar to doing a genetic knockout paradigm in mice, we can explore how pieces of visual information are used during the task by examining how performance changes when such information is removed. There are a few different methods researchers employ to limit the amount or type of visual information available. The first is visual occlusion, whereby people block all or part of a person's visual field, such as wearing a blindfold or with electronic occlusion glasses (Timmis and Buckley 2012, Timmis, Bennett, and Buckley 2009, Buckley et al. 2005, 2008, Craik, Cozzens, Freedman 1982, Marigold and Patla 2008, Rietdyk and Rhea 2006, 2011). Similar to visual occlusion, information removal (Matthis and Fajen 2014, Hollands and Marple-Horvat 1996) is where the relevant information is removed from the environment (such as turning off projected targets, a method I employ in Chapters 5, and 6). A third method is experimentally directed visual fixation, where participants are required to maintain a single fixation point, often directed away from the movement to limit central visual input (Vieluf et al. 2015). For all three of these methods, researchers will compare performance during the limited visual conditions to a full/free viewing condition to determine visual reliance. In some instances, researchers will then add a visual perturbation on top of the limited vision condition, with the relative impact of the visual perturbation being taken as evidence of visual reliance (Yeh et al. 2014, Anson et al. 2014). Unlike fixation distance, there is no universal metric that can be applied to visual reliance. All determinations are relative to the task being performed and, thus, I can only comment on relative changes in visual reliance (such as a general increase in reliance). I will again make these comparisons vs healthy young adults.

When walking in a straight line over flat ground, healthy young adults exhibit almost no visual reliance (Pham et al. 2011). However, adding something as simple as a turn increases their reliance on vision (Pham et al. 2011, Pradeep Ambati et al. 2013). When stepping over an obstacle, feedback visual reliance is evident both during the approach (Patla and Grieg 2006) and execution of the step over the obstacle (Patla et al. 1996, Mohagheghi et al. 2004, Hayhoe et al. 2009, Timmis and Buckley 2012, Lo et al. 2015). Most commonly, this means that people have an increased toe clearance when stepping over the obstacle without feedback visual information

(Patla et al. 1996, Mohagheghi et al. 2004, Timmis and Buckley 2012). Feedforward visual information is also relied upon during obstacle crossing (Mohagheghi et al. 2004), and during target avoidance (Matthis and Fajen 2014), with the removal again leading to an increased toe clearance or more variable step placement. Similar feedforward results have been demonstrated in nonwalking tasks such as typing based sequence learning (Ariani et al. 2021) and path following (Bashford et al. 2022) with motor performance decreasing with the removal of feedforward visual information.





Healthy Young Adult

Figure 2-1. Default depiction of where a healthy young adult looks and their visual reliance on feedback and feedforward information. Fixation distance (width of arrows) is evenly weighted between both feedback and feedforward directions, color places them in the middle of our reliance scale.

average fixation distance of about two steps ahead. They also have a moderate reliance on both

feedback and feedforward visual information allowing for room to both increase and decrease their reliance based on the situation (as we will see in the following sections).

The Effect of Terrain

Fixation Distance

The terrain a person is navigating can have several effects on their gaze behavior. When walking on easy, flat terrain with no obstacles, such as a paved path, a person's gaze is often not directed towards the locomotor path (Matthis et al. 2018) and instead is guided by the visual salience of the environment (Turano et al. 2003). However, when the terrain gets more complex, the gaze will be directed downwards, fixating more on the path and eventually straight down at their own feet (Thomas et al. 2020a, b, Marigold and Patla 2007). The effect of the terrain is graded, such that the more complex the terrain is to navigate, the closer to themselves a person will fixate





(Matthis et al. 2018). Therefore, walking on complex terrain increases the number of feedback fixations and decreases the number of feedforward fixations, reducing the overall average fixation distance (Figure 2.2).

Visual Reliance

The shift in fixation distance likely also suggests a shift in visual reliance. Visual occlusion studies have demonstrated an increased reliance on feedback visual information when navigating complex terrains (Marigold and Patla 2008). Additionally, when clearing an obstacle (a simple complex terrain) feedback visual reliance also increases (Patla and Vickers 1997, Patla et al. 1996, Patla and Grieg 2006, Graci, Elliott and Buckley 2010). During stair descent, occluding feedback visual information leads to a more cautious, "soft" landing behavior (Timmis, Bennett, and Buckley 2009, Buckley et al. 2007, Craik, Cozzens, and Freedman 1982). While the research on how terrain affects feedforward visual reliance is limited to lab studies (Matthis and Fajen 2014, Graci, Elliott, and Buckley 2010), they do suggest that there is a general increase in visual reliance. Overall, there is clear evidence that complex terrains increase feedback visual reliance. Similarly, complex terrains seem to increase feedforward visual reliance, however more research is likely needed to support this conclusion.

Overall, complex terrain decreases a person's fixation distance and increases feedback visual reliance and likely feedforward visual reliance (Figure 2.2). Based on the available literature, the locomotor research presented in this dissertation will create a simulated complex environment through the use of projected stepping targets. This will allow for enough dynamic range for changes in fixation distance and visual reliance to be identified in both healthy individuals and individuals post-concussion.

The Effect of Age



Figure 2-3: Comparison between healthy young adults on flat terrain (Left) and older adults on complex terrain (Right) of where they direct their vision (arrow thickness) and the amount they rely on vision (color).

Fixation Distance

Older adults tend to fixate closer to themselves than young adults (Figure 2.3). Whether it is a target stepping task (Chapman and Hollands 2006), stair climbing (Zietz and Hollands 2009), obstacle avoidance (Muir et al. 2015), or complex terrains (Hunt et al. 2023, Dominguez-Zamora et al. 2020), older adults perform more feedback fixations and look closer to themselves on average. The reduced fixation distance is also accompanied with a disruption in fixation timing, with older adults spending more time fixating on their path (Zukowski et al. 2020). We can therefore see that age, similar to terrain, reduces fixation distance. While the effect is consistent, it may not be a bad thing as further decreasing the fixation distance of older adults, by directing

their gaze through verbal reminders, improves stepping performance (Young and Hollands 2010).

Visual Reliance

Older adults also exhibit greater visual reliance, both in terms of general reliance and specifically for feedback visual reliance (Figure 2.3). When vision is completely occluded, such that they receive no visual information, older adults change their gait patterns more than young adults, becoming overly cautious when navigating an obstacle (Kunimune and Okada 2017). Their visual reliance is increased even after the movement has started (Chapman and Hollands 2006), demonstrating the need for older adults to visually guide and adjust ongoing movements. When feedback visual reliance is directly probed through partial visual occlusion, older adults again adopt a more cautious gait pattern (Marigold and Patla 2008). Additionally, older adults are more perceptible to visual perturbations, such as artificial optic flow fields which perturb their perception of locomotor steering (Yeh et al. 2014), suggesting an increased reliance on feedforward visual information. As mentioned, some recent trial interventions have improved stepping performance directing older adults to focus on feedback visual information, effectively reducing feedforward reliance and increasing feedback reliance in the process (Young and Hollands 2010).

Overall, similar to complex terrains, older adults fixate closer to themselves and rely on visual information, both feedback and feedforward visual information, more (Figure 2.3). While not the focus of the present dissertation, the changes in gaze behavior due to aging informed my expectations of how other gait-deficient populations (i.e., individuals post-concussion) may perform.

The Effect of Neurologic Impairment



Figure 2-4: Comparison between healthy young adults on flat terrain (Left) vs individuals with neurologic impairments (Right) of where they direct their vision (arrow thickness) and the amount they rely on vision (color).

Fixation Distance

The gaze behaviors of several populations with neurological impairments have been examined to better understand the causes of their gait deficits. Following an incomplete spinal cord injury, people will fixate closer to themselves during an obstacle crossing task (Malik et al. 2017). A similar reduction in fixation distance is found among people with developmental coordination disorders during a walking task (Warlop et al. 2020). People with Parkinson's Disease exhibit task-based changes to their fixation patterns. When walking over flat ground, people with Parkinson's Disease look farther ahead and at more task-irrelevant information (Hunt et al. 2018). However, when they have to cross an obstacle, they fixate closer to themselves and hyperfixate on the obstacle itself (Hunt et al. 2018). However, when people with Parkinson's have to

navigate multiple targets, they may prematurely transfer their gaze to a future target, increasing their step error and their fixation distance (Vitorio et al. 2016). Overall, similar to older adults, we generally find neurological impairments reduce a person's fixation distance (Figure 2-4).

Visual Reliance

When visual reliance is examined in populations with neurologic impairments, we see a similar increase in visual reliance as was observed in older adults. People with Parkinson's Disease exhibit a general increase in visual reliance during obstacle crossing (Simieli et al. 2017, Vitorio et al. 2013). Individuals with chronic stroke exhibit a disruption in optic flow perception (Lamontagne et al. 2010) and the integration of visual information with the coordination of body movements during turning (Lamontagne et al. 2007, Lamontagne and Fung 2009). Similarly, people with multiple sclerosis are more susceptible to visual perturbations (Selgrade et al. 2020), again suggesting a general increase in visual reliance.

Overall, neurologic impairments decrease fixation distance and increase visual reliance (Figure 2.4). However, more research is needed to differentiate between feedback or feedforward visual reliance in these populations.

The Effect of a Concussion

One notable absence from the literature on gaze behavior neurological impairments is individuals post-concussion. Concussions are one of the most common neurological injuries in America, with an estimated 4 million people diagnosed with a concussion every year (Harmon et al. 2013). In the acute stages (generally the 2 weeks following the injury), concussions lead to a wide range of symptoms including cognitive (Parker et al. 2007), oculomotor (Murray et al. 2019), vestibular (Ellis et al. 2015) and gait (Wood et al. 2019) deficits. While most of these symptoms

resolve after the acute stage, recent research has found that gait deficits often persist for weeks or months following the injury (Wood et al. 2019); leading to comorbidities such as a 3x increase in the risk of a lower leg injury (Herman et al. 2017). This persistence of gait deficits and the increased injury risks suggest a change in locomotor control, though the mechanisms behind this change are currently unknown.

Gaze behavior offers one potential mechanism behind the hypothesized changes to locomotor control. Eagle and colleagues (2020) proposed exactly this, suggesting that people post-concussion may be misperceiving the world around them, leading to altered gait patterns. Given the oculomotor deficits present during the acute stages (Murray et al. 2019), which limit what information a person is able to collect, people post-concussion may exhibit changes in their gaze behavior. If people post-concussion behave similarly to other populations with neurological impairment, we would expect people post-concussion to fixate closer to themselves and to rely on feedback visual information more. Chapter 6 will therefore examine where people post-concussion direct their gaze and how they rely on visual information while practicing a precision stepping task.

The Effect of Confidence and Anxiety



Figure 2-5: Comparison between healthy young adults on flat terrain (Left) vs an individual with high anxiety (Right) of where they direct their vision (arrow thickness) and the amount they rely on vision (color). In this instance, gray arrows represent unknown changes in visual reliance.

Fixation Distance

Decreasing a person's confidence and increasing their fall related anxiety may also reduce their fixation distance. When fall related anxiety is increased through changing the height of a walking platform, people reduce their fixation distance (Ellmers et al. 2019, Kluft et al. 2020). Similarly, when people view a terrain as more difficult, they fixate closer to themselves to better inform the cautious approach they take (Thomas et al. 2020c). One possible mechanism for this effect is a shift towards more conscious processing of the movements (Ellmers et al. 2020a, b) and a more externally directed focus (Mak et al. 2020). Regardless of the mechanism, the effect is that people will look closer to themselves when they are not confident in their walking ability.

Visual Reliance

To my knowledge, the effect of confidence or anxiety on visual reliance has not been examined. This may be a point of future study but was not explored in the present dissertation.

Overall, we can see that reducing a person's confidence leads to a reduction in average fixation distance (Figure 2.5). The effect of confidence was considered in both the design and interpretation of the studies presented here. In particular, Chapter 5 discusses confidence as a possible explanation for the differences seen in fixation distance compared to Chapter 4.

The Effect of Elite Athleticism



Figure 2-6: Comparison between healthy young adults on flat terrain (Left) vs Elite Athletes (Right) of where they direct their vision (arrow thickness) and the amount they rely on vision (color). Because evidence suggests both increasing and decreasing visual reliance among elite athletes, the arrows are striped with both red and blue.
Fixation Distance

Elite athletes also show altered gaze behavior compared to novices or non-athletes. Soccer players will fixate farther ahead when they don't have the ball (Aksum et al. 2020), though where they look while taking a penalty kick does not seem to affect performance (Kurz et al. 2018). Elite volleyball players similarly fixate farther ahead than novices when watching a replay of their game (Piras et al. 2010). In video games, elite guitar hero players fixate farther ahead (in terms of the game screen) than novices (Vickers et al. 2010). Together, the research suggests elite athletes fixate farther ahead (Figure 2.6).

Visual Reliance

When we examine the visual reliance of elite athletes, we find a variety of research finding altered visual reliance, though the direction of the changes may be sport or task specific. Elite gymnasts performing a vault fixate on their landing spot less than novices, relying more on proprioception and suggesting a general reduction in visual reliance (Natrup et al. 2020). Soccer goalkeepers and cricket batsmen exhibit a general reduction in visual reliance (Makris and Urgesi 2015, Brenton et al. 2016). In contrast, elite basketball players exhibit a greater reliance on feedback fixations during shooting (Oudejans et al 2002, 2012). Elite golfers often exhibit quiet eye performance, a form of gaze behavior focused on extending the duration of the last fixation before striking the ball (Harris et al. 2020, Carnegie et al. 2020). Depending on they direct this final fixation, golfers may be increasing their reliance on feedback or feedforward visual information, but either scenario improves performance (Xu et al. 2021). In general, while it is likely that elite athletes have altered visual reliance, the specifics of feedback vs feedforward

reliance, or whether visual reliance is increasing or decreasing, may be sport specific (Figure 2.6).

The gaze behaviors of elite athletes were considered as the eventual endpoints of any motor learning paradigm (described further below). Importantly, how motor learning leads to changes in gaze behavior, specifically during walking, is poorly understood. This dissertation begins to address this gap and my hypotheses were informed by the hypothetical endpoint of the differences between novice and elite athletes.

The Effect of Motor Learning

While the studies presented here focus on healthy, young, non-elite-athlete adults, the consistent effects of both aging and neurologic impairments (reducing fixation distance and increasing visual reliance) compared to elite athletes (increasing fixation distance) suggests that there may be a connection between motor skill/ability and gaze behavior. However, an important question is how do these differences develop? And, how can we shift our gaze behavior to improve both rehabilitation and elite athletic training?



Figure 2-7: Comparison between healthy young adults before practicing a motor task (Left) vs after practicing the motor task (Right) of where they direct their vision (arrow thickness) and the amount they rely on vision (color). The gray arrow represents an unknown area of the literature.

Fixation Distance

A few studies have begun to examine how fixation distance or location changes with motor learning. Sailer and colleagues (2005) demonstrated that where people look changes with motor learning, with practice of a novel curser movement task leading to a decrease in fixations on the curser and an increase in fixations on the ballistic target. Follow-up studies have largely supported this result across ballistic curser movements (Safstrom et al. 2014), reaching (Vieluf et al. 2015, Perry et al. 2020), and driving (Tuhkanen et al. 2021), though there is competing evidence in a trail following task suggesting no change in fixation distance (Mathew et al. 2019). When we focus on walking, we find additional, though limited, support for fixating farther ahead. Kopiske and colleagues (2021) examined how people identify and prepare for an icy patch when navigating a virtual walkway. Participants looked farther ahead with practice to prepare for the slip. A follow-up study replicated the results (Muller et al. 2023), suggesting that people also look farther ahead with locomotor practice. However, whether these results generalize to a continuous target stepping task is unknown. Overall, we would expect fixation distance to increase with motor learning, but how well that translates to locomotor learning remains to be established and is the focus of Chapter 4.

Visual Reliance

Indirect evidence from reaching and finger coordination studies suggests that feedforward visual reliance increases with practice (Mennie et al. 2007, Perry et al. 2020, Ariani et al. 2021, Bashford et al. 2022); though some of these studies (Ariani et al. 2021, Bashford et al. 2022) may be evidence of an increase in visual flexibility, or the ability to perform under any visual condition, more so than an increase in visual reliance. In walking studies, there is indirect evidence of a general decrease in visual reliance which can be impacted by dual task interference during locomotor learning (Muller et al. 2023). However, further research is needed to determine how visual reliance changes with locomotor learning and is therefore the focus of Chapter 5.

Current State of What Alters Gaze Behavior

In general, after reviewing several different situations that alter gaze behavior, a general pattern emerges. Situations that make walking harder (Aging, Neurological Impairment, Anxiety, Complex Terrain) lead to a reduction in fixation distance and an increase in visual reliance (notably feedback reliance). In contrast, situations that make walking easier (elite athleticism, motor learning) increase fixation distance, though the effects on visual reliance remain mixed.

Scientific Gap

The literature review emphasizes a couple of gaps which will be the focus of the present dissertation. First, does gaze behavior change as a consequence of motor skill changes or is it a cause of motor skill changes? While previous research has established that gaze behavior may change with motor learning, whether it is a cause of those changes that can then be used for interventions is unknown. Chapter 3 will focus on this question using an online motor learning paradigm. Second, does gaze behavior change with locomotor learning? Most of the research has focused on upper limb motor learning paradigms and while there is lots of evidence for differences in gaze behavior during walking, these are at the end points, comparing a novice vs an expert or a healthy young adult with a gait deficient individual. Therefore, we do not know how the differences in gaze behavior came to be. Chapters 4 and 5 will focus on this question, examining how locomotor learning changes fixation distance (Chapter 4) and visual reliance (Chapter 5). Finally, how does a concussion affect gaze behavior during walking? Visuomotor deficits may contribute to the persistent gait deficits reported and provide possible intervention points. Chapter 6 will therefore focus on whether gaze behavior during walking is altered after medical clearance from a concussion.

Chapter 3: Motor learning alters vision, but vision does not alter motor learning

Chapter 3 presents research on how visual reliance changes during an online motor learning task. While the experiments presented do not involve a walking task, it provides important context for how visual reliance changes in a more traditional motor learning task. Additionally, Chapter 3 covers the reverse, investigating whether visual availability alters motor learning. The results provide important context for implementing future gaze training protocols.

Abstract

During visuomotor learning, improvements in motor performance accompany changes in how people use vision. However, whether altered visual reliance causes improvements in motor skill or vice versa is unclear. The present studies used an online sequence learning task to quantify how changing the availability of visual information affected motor skill (Experiment One) and how changing motor skill affected visual reliance (Experiment Two). Participants played an online game where they pressed corresponding keys when a target reached the bottom of the game screen. In Study One, the availability of visual information was altered by manipulating where the targets were visible on the screen. Three experimental groups practiced the task during full or limited vision conditions (when the targets were only visible in specific areas). We hypothesized that limiting visual information would reduce motor learning (i.e., the rate of improvement during training). Instead, while participants performed worse during limited vision trials (p<0.001), there was no difference in learning rate (p=0.87). In Experiment Two, all participants practiced the task with full vision and their visual reliance (i.e., their performance

change between full and limited vision conditions) was quantified before and after training. We hypothesized that with motor learning, visual reliance would increase for some visual areas and decrease for others. The results of Experiment Two partially support our hypotheses with motor learning decreasing visual reliance for all visual areas (p<0.001). Together, the results suggest changing motor skill alters how people use vision, but changing visual availability does not affect motor learning.

New & Noteworthy

Previous research has established how people use visual information changes with motor learning. However, the dependencies between these two processes are unclear. We find that limiting the availability of visual information degrades motor performance but not motor learning. We also find that motor learning reduces the impact of limiting the availability of visual information on motor performance. Together, these results suggest that changes in visual processing are dependent on changing motor skill.

Introduction

Motor learning is the process of improving a movement with practice. The learning process involves constantly updating, altering, and optimizing the movement. As the accuracy of the movement improves with practice, the motor control strategies will also change. Novices typically use a feedback, or closed loop, control strategy where they actively correct a movement while it is being executed. As their skill develops, they progress to a feedforward, or open loop, motor control strategy, letting the planned movement complete its execution before updating the motor plan for the next action (Franklin and Wolpert 2011, Khan and Franks 2004). Similarly, the sensory information used to execute the movement will change with the motor control



Figure 3-1: Theoretical framework of how motor control strategies change during motor learning. Previous research has established that Novices (A) and Experts (D) use different visual and motor control strategies to perform the same task (such as walking in the image). However, what the intermittent states of these changes and/or whether visual strategy (B) or motor performance (C) change first is unknown

strategy. For visuomotor control, novices tend to fixate on information about future actions (Bashford et al. 2022). However, whether changing what visual information is gathered changes the motor control strategy or vice versa is unclear (Figure 3-1).

The correlational relationship between visual information and motor control strategies is well documented in a variety of motor learning tasks. Whether people are controlling a cursor on a computer (Sailer et al. 2005), playing video games (Vickers et al. 2010), reaching for a target (Perry et al. 2020), or stepping on (Cates and Gordon 2022) or avoiding (Kopiske et al. 2021) targets on the ground, a progression from fixating on the object being manipulated to fixating on the target is characteristic of motor learning. This gaze shift also occurs whether the task consists of intermittent targets (Sailer et al. 2005, Kopiske et al. 2021) or a continuous stream of targets

for the individual to navigate (Vickers et al. 2010, Perry et al. 2020, Cates and Gordon 2022) suggesting neither the type of motor task nor muscle groups used affect the relationship. For the motor control strategy to change, previous literature generally assumes that first a person's motor performance changes, then their visual behavior changes to support the new motor control strategy (As proposed by Sailer et al. 2005 and Perry et al. 2020 and represented in the progression in Figure 3-1 of $A \rightarrow C \rightarrow D$). However, recent research which manipulates what visual information is available suggests otherwise.

Research on visual occlusion during motor learning suggests that visual sampling strategies may need to change before motor performance can improve. When visual information is removed or constrained, motor learning becomes impaired (Massing et al. 2016, Vieluf et al. 2015). While this directly suggests that changing visual information changes motor learning, there are additional variables that need to be considered. When visual information is constrained, people perform worse on a task (e.g., Timmis and Buckley 2012). It may be that degraded motor performance (rather than the altered visual information) impairs motor learning. For example, limiting visual information about the current action causes people to step less accurately (Kim et al. 2018, Timmis and Buckley 2012). Similarly, limiting visual information used to plan future movements (such as information about a target three steps ahead) reduces movement accuracy during walking (Matthis et al. 2015), playing computer games (Ariani et al. 2021), and executing full-body movements (Saeedpour-Parizi et al. 2020). Ballester and colleagues (2015) demonstrated that when people perform poorly on a task, it is hard for them to improve because they struggle to find the correct motor pattern to optimize and thus, they do not progress their motor control strategy. Taken together, limiting visual information may just worsen immediate performance, rather than directly impacting motor learning.

Despite the mixed understanding of cause and effect, there is an interaction between motor learning and vision. Consequently, vision training is being tested as a possible intervention to improve motor performance (Young and Hollands 2010, Gunn et al. 2019). Participants are taught where to look with the expectation that improvement in motor skill will follow. While these studies have shown some preliminary positive effects, there is not a clear separation between the visual and motor training. Instead, these efforts often include reminders to focus on vision while participants practice the task. To properly develop these interventions, we need to understand the exact role of vision during motor learning, and the cause-and-effect relationship between vision and motor skill. Therefore, to better understand the interplay of changes in gaze behavior and improvements in motor skill, we performed two experiments that each used an online motor learning paradigm to investigate how manipulating vision or motor performance changes motor learning or visual behavior, respectively.

In Experiment One, we measured how altering what visual information is available to the participant during the motor learning process impacts both the learning rate and performance. We altered visual availability by limiting where targets were visible on a game screen, specifically hiding the targets when fixating upon them would inform feedback or feedforward motor control strategies. We hypothesized that motor learning would be impaired by the limited visual conditions. Specifically, we expected that removing information about future actions would not affect initial learning, but overtime would limit overall motor learning and create significant group differences in later trial blocks. This is because removing information about future actions about future actions should not impair feedback control processes, which is the primary control process used by novices (Franklin and Wolpert 2011). Only once a novice has improved enough to emphasize feedforward motor control strategies would the lack of information about future

actions impair their motor learning. In contrast, we expected removing information about the current action would prevent motor learning by removing visual knowledge of the result (Oppici et al. 2021). Such findings would indicate that motor learning depends on specific visual information at specific stages of the motor learning process, with feedback visual information needed for early learning (not just preferred) and that without it, participants are unable to progress the skilled feedforward stage.

In Experiment Two, we measured how motor learning altered gaze behavior by quantifying participant reliance on feedforward and feedback visual information to perform the task. We defined visual reliance as the amount a participant's performance decreased when the relevant visual information was removed. We hypothesized that, similar to general motor control theory where people shift from focusing on a feedback to a feedforward information (Franklin and Wolpert 2011, Kahn and Franks 2004), participants' reliance on feedback visual information would increase with motor learning (matching a progression from feedback to feedforward motor control strategies). Such results would support that the role of vision is guided by motor skill.

Taken together, the outcomes of these studies provide information about the dependent relationship between gaze behavior and motor learning. Experiment One assesses how gaze affects motor learning, while Experiment Two assesses how motor learning affects gaze. The two studies provide complementary evidence of the cause-and-effect relationship between gaze and visuomotor learning.

Methods

Participants

197 participants (52 for Experiment One and 145 for Experiment Two) were recruited through social media and Amazon Mechanical Turk. In Experiment One, participants' mean age was 33.4 years old (18-65) with 23 women. In Experiment Two, participants mean age was 35.8 years old (19-65) with 43 women. For each experiment, participants recruited through social media were entered into a raffle to win \$100, while participants recruited through Amazon Mechanical Turk received \$3 for completing the study. All participants completed an online informed consent and participated on their personal computers from a remote location of their choice. All procedures were approved by the Northwestern University Institutional Review Board (IRB).

Online Learning Task

In both studies, participants completed repeated trials of an online finger coordination task. Targets would stream, vertically, from the top to the bottom on the game screen at a constant speed. Targets would be dropped from one of four locations, with each location mapped to a key on the keyboard ("J", "K", "L", ";" keys for right-handed individuals, "A", "S", 'D", "F" for lefthanded individuals). Participants used a separate finger for each key (index to pinkie).



Figure 3-2: Still image of the online learning task with the areas where the targets could be hidden highlighted. Participants had to respond whenever a target (blue circle) aligned with one of the open response circles (surrounding the key labels) with the corresponding key. Targets were hidden in the orange zone during the No Feedback condition and hidden in the green zone during the No Feedforward condition.

In Experiment One, participants were required to have the appropriate key(s) pressed when the target(s) aligned with the circle at the bottom of its path (See Figure 3-2). A successful response was defined as having only the correct key(s) pressed when the target(s) aligned with its respective response circle.

In Experiment Two, following feedback from participants, the response instructions were changed such that participants only had to perform a single press of the key when the target was near its response circle to signify a response rather than holding the key while the target aligned. A key press within 1.5 target diameters of the center of the response circle was accepted as accurate. This change was made to make the task more natural and to better conform to participant expectations.

In both studies, participants received feedback on their performance in the form of an auditory "ding" in response to a successful response. A combo (number of correct responses in a row) and score counter displayed in the top left of the game screen. The combo and score were for motivational purposes only and increased with each correct response.

The targets progressed down the game screen at a constant rate, taking a total of 1.4 seconds to traverse the entire game screen. Zero to two targets would start down the screen every 0.6 seconds. In cases where zero targets were released, it created a longer pause between targets to avoid too much rhythmicity within the task. The order of targets was either random or sequenced (See Trial Blocks and Conditions for definitions). The embedded sequence was used to accelerate the motor learning and to test whether any changes were sequence specific (Experiment Two).

To test the importance of vision on feedback and feedforward motor control, we defined areas on the game screen to correspond to the visual information related to these motor control strategies (highlighted in Figure 3.2). Feedback information was defined as information relating to the current action (in this case the current target(s) the participant must respond to). Given the target speed, the bottom 40% of the game screen provided information about the current target(s). Feedforward information was defined as information about future targets, in this case corresponding to the upper 60% of the game screen.

Trial Blocks and Conditions

The following terms are used throughout the methods to describe different settings experienced while playing the online learning task. The different visual conditions were used in both Experiment One and Experiment Two. The sequenced and random trial blocks were used in Experiment One, while all our trial block types were used in Experiment Two (Figure 3-3).

Full Vision Condition: The control condition where targets were visible for their entire path down the game screen.

No Feedback Condition: During the no feedback condition, the targets were visible for the upper 60% of the game screen (a total of 0.8 seconds) and hidden in the bottom 40% (the orange area in Figure 3-2). The no feedback condition was used to assess the role of feedback visual information on motor learning and motor performance. Participants were still expected to respond to each target when it reached its respective response circle, even though the target(s) were not visible. Participants therefore had to predict when the target reached the response circle and respond appropriately. They would still receive auditory feedback based on the accuracy of their response.

No Feedforward Condition: During the no feedforward condition, the targets were visible only for the lower 40% of the game screen (a total of 0.6 seconds) and hidden in the upper 60% (the green area in Figure 3-2). The no feedforward condition was used to assess the role of feedforward visual information on motor learning and motor performance.

Trial Block: A Trial Block represented one play-through of the online learning task. Each trial block consisted of a predefined number of targets (with each target representing a single trial) which took differing amounts of time (see different trial blocks below). Participants were able to pause and take a break between trial blocks, but once a block started, they were required to complete it.

Sequenced Trial Block: A trial block where the targets were presented in a repeating sequence. The sequence consisted of a 13-target repeating pattern which was repeated for a total of 195 targets per sequenced trial block. The same 13 target pattern was used in every sequenced trial block and each sequenced trial block took 2 minutes to complete. *Random Trial Block:* A trial block where the targets were presented in a random order. These trial blocks were shorter than the sequenced trial blocks, consisting of a total of 85 targets and taking about 1 minute to complete.

Catch Trial Block: A version of the sequenced trial block with a different 13-target repeating pattern. The same 13-target pattern was used in every catch trial block.

Probe Trial Block: Sequenced or Catch Trial Blocks where participants experienced either the no feedback or no feedforward visual conditions (described above). In Experiment Two, these trial blocks were compared to the most recent full vision trial block to probe participant's visual reliance.

Experiment Procedures

In Experiment One, participants completed a total of 8 trial blocks (Figure 3-3A). Participants first completed a practice and baseline trial block, each with full vision and random target sequences. Participants were then randomly assigned to one of three experimental groups during the five training blocks. Each training block consisted of a sequenced trial block with one of the three visual conditions (based on their experimental group). Finally, all participants completed a full vision sequenced trial block post-training to assess motor performance without any visual limitations before and after training.

In Experiment Two, participants completed a total of 14 trial blocks (Figure 3-3B). Participant visual reliance was probed before and after practicing the learned sequence and again with the catch sequence. While the full vision condition was always first during the probe periods



Figure 3-3: A. The three different trial block orders assigned to the different experimental groups in Experiment One. B. A representative trial block order for Experiment Two. The order of the limited vision probe trials changed per participant.

(Baseline, Post, and Catch), the order of the no feedback and no feedforward conditions was randomized for each participant to avoid order effects during the Baseline, Post, and Catch periods. The 4 training trials were presented with the full vision condition to allow participants to train and test without visual limitations.

Outcome Measures

The following outcome measures were used in one or both studies.

Trial Accuracy: Trial accuracy was determined for each trial block as the percentage of targets correctly responded to and used as the metric of motor performance.

Normalized Performance: Normalized performance was calculated as the percent change in trial accuracy from each individual's baseline, full vision trial block.

Improvement Rate: A first order linear regression was used to calculate the improvement rate based on individual changes in normalized performance across consecutive trial blocks with the same conditions. In Experiment One, an improvement rate was calculated for the training trial blocks of each participant. The improvement rate was considered a metric of motor learning, with a more positive slope being indicative of improved motor learning.

Visual Reliance: Visual reliance was calculated as the difference in normalized performance between a probe trial and the most recent full vision condition. For example, the baseline feedback reliance was calculated as the difference in normalized performance between the no feedback condition, probe trial block and the full vision condition, probe trial block during the baseline period. A separate visual reliance metric was calculated for both feedback and feedforward visual reliance.

Data Analysis

To ensure data quality, any participant who was in the bottom 5% of raw (non-normalized) trial accuracy for any individual trial block was removed. For instance, if a participant was in the bottom 5% for only the first training trial block, their entire dataset was removed, even if they performed the rest of the trial blocks to an acceptable level. These normally indicated participants who did not properly complete the task or did not complete the entire task. A total of 3 out of 52 participants from Experiment One and 28 out of the 145 participants from Experiment Two were removed due to this.

Experiment One

To assess the effect of visual condition on motor learning, a linear mixed model was performed using participant data during the training trials. Normalized performance was set as the outcome measure, trial block number, visual condition, and their interaction were set as fixed effects and subject was a random effect. A significant main effect of trial block number would be evidence that participants were able to learn the motor task, while a significant main effect of visual condition would be evidence that removing feedback or feedforward visual information affected performance. Finally, a significant interaction between trial block number and visual condition would be evidence that the visual condition affected motor learning.

To support any interaction effect found in Experiment One, we also conducted a one-way ANOVA to compare the effect of visual condition on improvement rate. If a significant effect was found, a Tukey post hoc test was performed to determine pairwise comparisons. Any significant effects would be evidence that visual condition affected motor learning.

A second one-way ANOVA was performed for Experiment One to assess if the different training conditions affected post-training performance. The normalized performance during the post-test was the dependent variable with the visual condition during training as the independent variable. If a significant effect was found, a Tukey post hoc test was performed to determine the significance of pairwise comparisons. A significant effect would signify that any changes from the visual condition during training persisted during a full vision post-test.

Experiment Two

A linear mixed model was performed to assess whether visual reliance changed with training. Normalized performance was set as the outcome measure while probe trial block timing (Base, Post, Catch), visual condition, and their interaction were set as the fixed effects and subject was set as the random effect. A significant main effect of probe trial block timing would be evidence that available visual information affected motor performance. A significant interaction between trial and visual condition would be evidence that motor learning affected visual reliance.

Two additional linear mixed models (one for feedback visual reliance and one for feedforward visual reliance) were performed to assess if visual reliance changed directly. Each linear model consisted of either feedback or feedforward visual reliance as the outcome measure while probe trial block timing (Base, Post, or Catch) was the fixed effect and subject was the random effect. A significant fixed effect would signify that motor learning altered visual reliance.

Results

Experiment One: Limiting visual information during training limits performance but not motor learning

Limiting visual information, and in particular feedback visual information resulted in worse motor performance during the training trial blocks. A mixed linear model of performance during the training trial blocks found a significant main effect of trial block number (p<0.001) and visual condition (p<0.001) on motor performance. The significant main effect of trial block



Figure 3-4: Line graph of normalized performance for training in each of the 3 visual conditions. Mean and standard error are shown for each group and during each trial block. Shading represents trials where every group completed the task with full vision.

number supports the hypothesis that participants would improve their performance with practice. A pairwise t-test comparing the visual conditions averaged across training blocks found that performance of the no feedback training group (Figure 3-4, orange) was significantly worse than the full vision (p<0.001) and no feedforward (p<0.001) training groups. The no-feedforward and full vision groups did not significantly differ from each other (p=0.2). This suggests that limiting feedback visual information limits motor performance.

The mixed linear model found no significant interaction between training trial round and visual condition (Figure 3-4, p=0.93). This result suggests that the visual condition did not affect motor learning, as all participants were able to improve at a similar rate (\sim 8/8% improvement per training block). This conclusion was further supported by the results of a one-way ANOVA on the improvement rate which did not find a main effect for visual condition (p=0.87).

Additionally, a one-way ANOVA comparing performance during the post-test did not find a significant effect for visual condition (p=0.88). Taken together the results fail to reject the null hypothesis and suggest that visual condition did not affect motor learning.





Figure 3-5: A. Line graph of Trial Accuracy during the three probe periods. Each point represents the mean and standard error. B and C. Violin plots of the Feedback (B) and Feedforward (C) visual reliance during the different probe periods. Positive values represent the participant performing worse with limited vision (and thus relying on vision to perform the task). B. The different between the No Feedback (Orange) and Full Vision (Blue) lines in A. C. The difference between the No Feedforward (green) and Full Vision (Blue) in A. *** p<0.001

A mixed linear model found a significant interaction effect between probe round and performance (Figure 3-5A, p<0.001). Participants improved their performance during both limited visual conditions (p<0.001 for each) significantly more than the full vision condition,

suggesting a decrease in visual reliance. Pairwise comparisons also found significant improvement in performance with practice (p<0.001 in all cases), supporting that individuals did improve their performance with practice.

When we tested visual reliance directly, we found a significant main effect of probe round for both feedback (Figure 3-5B, p<0.001) and feedforward (Figure 3-5C, p<0.001) visual reliance. A pairwise Tukey test comparing different probe rounds found that visual reliance was significantly different at each time point for both feedback and feedforward visual reliance (p<0.001 in all tests). The results of Experiment Two therefore reject the null hypothesis and suggest that motor learning impacted visual reliance.

Discussion

The present paper analyzes the interaction between visual information availability and visuomotor learning using an online, sequence learning task. In Experiment One, participants practiced the task with varying amounts of visual information to assess how visual availability affected motor learning and performance. We found that while visual availability affected motor performance, it did not impact motor learning, either in terms of learning rate or post-test performance. In Experiment Two, we tested participants' visual reliance before and after training with full vision. We found that participants' reliance on both feedback and feedforward visual information reduced with practice. Taken together, the results suggest that people can adapt their motor control strategy to match what visual information is available to them. We will refer to this ability as an individual's visual flexibility. Additionally, this visual flexibility increases with practice, such that participants' reliance on any particular form of vision reduces with practice.

Overall, the results suggest that motor control strategies may shift before any changes in gaze behavior.

Experiment One: Removing visual information reduces motor performance but not motor learning

Experiment One found that the removal of visual information did not affect motor learning, despite reducing motor performance. This is counter to our hypotheses and previous research examining motor learning when visual information was limited (Vieluf et al. 2015; Massing et al. 2016). In our study, while motor learning was not affected when visual information was removed, motor performance was. Unsurprisingly, performing a motor task with less visual information should make the task more difficult, as has been shown in finger coordination (Ariani et al. 2021) and walking (Matthis and Fajen 2014, Timmis and Buckley 2012). However, unlike previous motor learning research (Ballester et al. 2015), the decrease in motor performance when training with reduced vision did not impact motor learning. It may be that learning and executing a movement have different levels of visual flexibility. Motor learning in this simple, sequence learning task may be visually flexible, even if skillfully executing the movement is not. A second explanation may be that participants learned to rely on auditory feedback, which remained constant throughout the task, rather than any visual information. Han and Reber (2022) demonstrated that people can learn sequences in a similar task based on auditory cues alone, although in their task each button had a different auditory tone, unlike the present task. Here, auditory feedback only provided binary feedback on whether the participant was accurate or not. The magnitude and direction of any error was only available through visual feedback and was therefore removed in the no feedback condition. While the auditory feedback

alone could not completely replace the visual information, it could provide missing information about response timing. When combined with either limited visual condition to provide visual information about which key to respond with, people could have shifted their performance to rely on the combination of vision and auditory feedback.

While participants demonstrated visual flexibility with learning the sequence, it was not apparent that participants became more visually flexible in their motor performance. Participants did improve their performance regardless of visual condition, however those with limited visual information were never able to compensate for the missing information. These participants only caught up to the full vision training group at post-testing, when everyone had full vision. One explanation may be a disassociation between the sequence pattern recognition and the motor sequence performance. Participants may have been able to recognize the learned sequence visually based on the limited visual information just by watching the screen. However, the limited visual information may have disrupted their ability to time their motor actions accurately. This arrangement would allow for a constant effect of visual condition on motor performance without the visual condition influencing learning the sequence. This would also explain why the three groups performed similarly during the post-test. If all groups similarly learned to recognize the sequence, then when the missing information was returned during the post-test, all participants were able to accurately time their motor actions. The results of Experiment One, therefore, suggest that while vision does affect motor performance during training, it does not impact visuomotor sequence learning, possibly by disassociating sequence learning from motor performance.

Experiment Two: Full vision practice reduces visual reliance and increases performance-related visual flexibility

When we trained motor skill with visuomotor learning in Experiment Two, we found participants became less reliant on visual information with practice. However, rather than a unidirectional shift (with only feedback visual reliance reducing as hypothesized), we found both feedback and feedforward visual reliance were reduced following full vision practice. Previous research has suggested that reliance on vision in general may be reduced with motor learning (Seidler-Dobrin and Stelmach 1998; Guo and Raymond 2010). However, previous research has compared full vision to no vision, rather than the limited visual conditions and reliance examined here. It is interesting that the reduction in visual reliance observed in the current study is general rather than specific to feedback or feedforward visual information. The reduction can be interpreted as participants increasing their visual flexibility to perform the task as they get more skilled. Importantly, unlike in Experiment One, participants visual flexibility was trained in Experiment Two, through the full vision training protocol. It may be that visual flexibility is trained only when participants have a choice of what visual information to use (such as in the full vision condition) rather than when being forced to use one type of visual information. This conclusion has significant implications for future training interventions focused on improving motor performance in limited visual conditions (such as dim lighting or while gaze is focused elsewhere). Instead of guiding a person's vision, they should be allowed to explore and gather any visual information they deem relevant to improve at the task.

When the learned sequence was removed in the catch trials, we found that participants performed worse on the initial full vision task, but that their performance improved during the subsequent

limited vision probe trials. We propose that order effects may be the cause of these results. Specifically, while a new sequence was introduced during the first, full vision catch trial, the same sequence was used for the subsequent limited vision probe trials. Participants may have adjusted to the new sequence during the full vision trial, when they exhibited the expected and characteristic drop in performance following a sequence learning task. Then, when the same sequence was used during the visual probe conditions, participants had already begun learning the new sequence and, with their newly trained visual flexibility and reduction in visual reliance, were able to perform the task better than during the first, full vision catch trial. If this effect remains after randomizing the order of probe rounds in a future study, it may be that as participants reliance on visual information decreased, they reached a point where the visual information is a distraction rather than providing any additional information, in alignment with the specificity of practice hypothesis (Tremblay and Proteau 1998; Proteau and Cournoyer 1990; Kahn and Franks 2004). Future research should look to randomize the order of probe rounds, including the full vision condition.

Limitations

There were a couple of limitations with the present study, in addition to participants being able to rely on auditory feedback and the order of the catch trial probes discussed above. First, while we modulated what visual information was available to participants, we did not track where participants were looking and therefore do not know what visual information participants gathered during the study. It may be that participants only fixated on a subset of the total information, and by tracking where they looked, we may be able to make much stronger and narrower claims on the relationship between vision and motor learning. Second, because participants completed the study online, we did not control the setup of their personal computers.

Variation from different screen sizes and participant seated locations may have changed the perceived visual availability and should be investigated as a possible mediator in the future. Finally, while we tried to remove participants who appeared to not understand the task or who did not participate in good faith, due to the online nature of the study, we cannot be sure that all participants performed the task appropriately.

Conclusions

We conducted two studies to quantify the relationship between motor learning and visual availability. In Experiment One, we found that limiting the availability of visual information reduced motor performance during training but did not impair motor learning. In Experiment Two, we found that participants' reliance on specific forms of visual information decreased with motor learning. Together, the two studies suggest that motor learning affects reliance on specific forms of visual information does not affect learning. Additionally, participants demonstrated the ability to adapt their motor learning strategies to use any available information which may translate to motor performance following training when visual information is not limited during training.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to acknowledge Catherine Han for her insight into the experimental design along with all the study participants for their time. This work was supported by the Dr. John N. Nicholson Fellowship, the NIH grant T32 HD101395 Training Program in Sensorimotor Neurorehabilitation, and by Northwestern University's Department of Physical Therapy and Human Movement Sciences.

Chapter 4: Don't watch your step: Gaze behavior adapts with practice of a target stepping task

Abstract

Vision plays a vital role in locomotor learning, providing feedback information to correct movement errors and feedforward information to inform learned movement plans. Gaze behavior, or the distribution of fixation locations, can quantify how visual information is used during the motor learning process. How gaze behavior adapts during motor learning and in response to changing motor performance is poorly understood. The present study examines if and how an individual's gaze behavior adapts during a sequence learning, target stepping task. We monitored the gaze behavior of 12 healthy young adults while they walked on a treadmill and attempted to precisely step on moving targets that were separated by variable distances (80%, 100%, 120% of preferred step length). Participants completed a total of 11 trial blocks of 102 steps each. We hypothesized that both mean fixation distance would increase (participants would look farther ahead), and step error would decrease with experience. Following practice, participants significantly increased their fixation distance (p<0.001) by 0.27±0.18 steps and decreased their step error (p<0.001) by 4.0 ± 1.7 cm, supporting our hypothesis. Our results suggest that early in the learning process participants gaze behavior emphasized gathering visual information necessary for feedback motor control. As motor performance improved with experience participants shifted their gaze fixation farther ahead placing greater emphasis on the visual information used for feedforward motor control. These findings provide important information about how gaze behavior changes in parallel with improvements in walking performance.

New & Noteworthy

People consistently vary how they use visual information to inform walking. However, what drives this variation, and how sampled visual information changes with locomotor learning is not well understood. Here, we find that gaze fixation locations moved farther ahead while step error decreases as participants practice a target stepping task. The results suggest participants increasingly used a feedforward locomotor control strategy with practice.

Introduction

Vision plays a vital role in controlling human walking. Visual information is a primary source of feedback information, to ensure the safety and accuracy of the current step, and an important input for feedforward motor planning, to efficiently prepare and execute future steps. Gaze behavior, or the distribution of visual fixation locations, is one way to quantify how visual information is used during walking. Gaze fixations close to the location where the viewer steps on the ground can guide swing limb movement and precision foot placement (Patla 2003). When these close fixation locations are occluded or ignored, foot placement becomes more variable, reducing postural steadiness (Koren et al. 2021) and making foot clearance of obstacles (such as a curb) less likely (Timmis and Buckley 2012). In contrast, fixations farther ahead are used to plan the immediate and upcoming steps and to confirm that one is walking towards their desired destination (Patla and Vickers 2003, Hollands et al. 2002). When the ability to look ahead is removed, individuals make a series of discrete segmented movements, rather than a single continuous movement, to account for obstacles in their path (Saeedpour-Parizi et al. 2020; Yamamoto et al. 2019). Thus, motor performance during walking is intricately related to the gaze behavior that dictates the availability of visual information.

An individual's preferred fixation distance is updated depending on individual motor skill level and the challenges presented by the specific walking task. With normal vision, healthy adults walking on smooth, level surfaces fixate ~2 steps ahead, though they will glance towards their feet and farther ahead to gather additional information (Patla 2003; Matthis et al. 2018). When walking across rough terrains, (such as stepping across rocks (Matthis et al. 2018) or uneven cobblestones (Thomas et al. 2020)), where precise foot placement is required to maintain stability, individuals decrease their focus to ~1.2 steps ahead (Matthis et al. 2018). This shift appears dependent on the task requirement to precisely place the foot in a specific location. In more challenging terrains, there is a larger decrease in mean fixation distance, suggesting the role of visual information shifts to emphasize feedback motor control (Matthis et al. 2018). Similarly, older adults (Chapman and Hollands 2010), individuals with an incomplete spinal cord injury (Malik et al. 2017), and individuals with developmental coordination disorders (Warlop et al. 2020) all display gaze behavior fixations that are closer to their feet when compared to young and unimpaired counterparts. Here this reduction in gaze fixation distance is likely to ensure safe and accurate foot placement. In contrast, elite athletes, who are less likely to require visual feedback to ensure safe foot placement and perform their practiced skill, tend to look farther ahead - a strategy that emphasizes motor planning and may improve the energetic efficiency of their movement (Piras et al. 2010). Collectively, this research suggests that fixation distance adapts to both the demands of the task and individual motor skill level.

Gaze behavior can also be quantified using the timing of fixations relative to actions. Specifically, the window of time when a person gathers visual information for the desired destination of a movement (i.e., first and last fixations on a given target) can be compared to the associated window time of the directed movement (i.e., the swing phase of a single step onto the target). By comparing the start of these two time-windows, we can estimate how far ahead in time an individual is gathering visual information to plan their movement. The earlier the individual begins gathering information on the target location, the more feedforward visual information is available to guide the motor planning to step on that target. In addition, by comparing the end of these two time-windows, we can estimate how much visual feedback was required to complete the movement. Visual information gathered after the movement is completed would indicate an emphasis on feedback information as the participant watched the foot contact the target. These fixation timing metrics have been shown to change based on the predictability of the environment and the importance of precise foot placement (Domínguez-Zamora et al. 2018). Specifically, and in line with fixation distance, when the environment is more predictable the visual information window shifts earlier in time compared to the movement window (suggesting an increased emphasis on feedforward motor control). When the task requires precise foot placement, the opposite occurs with individuals shifting their visual information window to overlap more with the movement window (suggesting an emphasis on feedback motor control). As with fixation distance, we see that fixation timing also adapts to the demands of the task.

How do these differences in gaze behavior between populations and walking tasks develop? If the changes in fixation distance and timing are a part of the motor learning process, then we would expect gaze behavior to update in a manner consistent with general motor learning theory. Specifically, during the learning process motor control strategies shift from a reliance on feedback motor control to a feedforward motor control strategy (Franklin and Wolpert 2011, Franklin et al. 2003). Such a progression has been found when learning to walk (Yamamoto et al. 2019), catching a ball (Hayhoe et al. 2002), and shooting a basketball (Oudejans et al. 2002). With practice of a novel task, we would expect gaze behavior to mirror this shift, gathering fixations close to the movement early in the learning process and shifting farther ahead as the individual shifts to a feedforward motor planning strategy. However, whether gaze behavior follows this pattern remains unclear. While several studies find gaze behavior to shift farther ahead when learning reaching or finger coordination (Perry et al. 2020; Vieluf et al. 2015; Sailer et al. 2005; Ariani et al. 2021), others find no change in fixation distance (Mathew et al. 2019). In walking, the evidence is more mixed. Kopiske and colleagues (Kopiske et al. 2020) found short-term increases in fixation distance with practice, but that these changes did not persist over the medium- or long-term despite repeated practice. Koren and colleagues (Koren et al. 2022) found fixation distance decreased with practice, though their study lacked specificity in fixation distance compared to previous literature.

The present study, therefore, aimed to better understand if and how gaze fixation distance and timing changes during locomotor skill acquisition. To evaluate this question, we directly measured gaze fixation distance and timing as healthy individuals practiced a challenging precision stepping task. To maximize the learnability of the task (and therefore maximize changes in motor skill), a repeating sequence of stepping targets separated by variable distances (80%, 100%, 120% of preferred step length) was embedded into the precision stepping task. Choi and colleagues (Choi et al. 2016) have shown that people can learn a repeating sequence of step lengths through sequence learning mechanisms as evidenced by a decrease in performance when the learned sequence is removed. We hypothesized that with practice performing the target stepping task, an individual's mean fixation distance would increase (move farther ahead of the body) and step error (the distance between the foot and the target) would decrease. In addition, we anticipated that this shift in fixation distance would be accompanied by a shift in fixation

timing, with the visual information window shifting earlier in time compared to the movement window, emphasizing feedforward locomotor control strategies. The hypothesized results would be indicative of increased emphasis on feedforward fixations as locomotor skill improves. To further strengthen the result, we included a catch trial during which the target sequence was removed. If the changes in fixation distance are related to sequence learning, then removing the sequence should temporarily reverse any changes in step error and fixation distance, providing additional evidence towards how locomotor performance and gaze behavior are intertwined.

Materials and Methods

Participants

12 healthy young adults provided written informed consent and participated in the study. All procedures were approved by the Northwestern University Institutional Review Board. All participants were screened via

Table 4-1: Demographic Information	
N	12
Age (years)	22-31
Sex	8 Women, 4 Men
Height (meters)	1.74 ± 0.10
Step Length (meters)	0.52 ± 0.07

self-report to ensure they had normal or corrected-to-normal vision and did not have any current neuromuscular or musculoskeletal injuries known to affect their balance or gait. Demographic Information available in Table 4-1.

Experimental Setup

Task environment. Participants were asked to walk on a treadmill and step on a series of moving targets that were streaming towards them. All walking occurred on an oversized treadmill (3 m x 1.5 m, TuffTread, USA). A static board was placed level with the front of the treadmill belt to extend the target viewing space to 4 m x 1.5 m (board + treadmill belt). Stepping targets (7 cm x

15 cm) were projected using an overhead projector (Hitachi, Japan) onto the target viewing space.

Motion Capture: We collect 3D kinematic data during walking to quantify foot and head movement. Specifically, we used a 12-camera optical motion capture system (Qualisys, Gothenburg, Sweden) to collect walking kinematics and quantify real-time stepping behavior. We placed thirteen passive reflective markers on each participant to track their motion throughout the duration of the trial. Three non-collinear markers on the head-mounted eye tracker determined the headset viewing plane relative to the lab reference plane. The other 10 markers tracked the 2nd, 3rd, and 5th metatarsals, the lateral malleolus, and the calcaneus of each foot to determine locations of the two feet.

Eye-tracking. Pupil locations were tracked throughout the study to determine gaze behavior and fixation locations. To capture gaze behavior, participants wore a head-mounted eye tracker (Pupil Core eye tracker, Pupil Labs, UK). The headset uses IR reflection to determine the 2-dimensional pupil location of each eye, and, following a calibration period, we transformed this data into a 2-dimensional gaze point in the viewing plane. Gaze vectors were then determined using methods described in (Matthis et al. 2018), from which fixation points were defined as the location where the gaze vector intersected with the treadmill surface.

Stepping Task



Figure 4-1: Diagram demonstrating the stepping task with head angle (theta) and fixation distance measurement.

During the stepping task, participants walked on the treadmill while stepping targets were projected onto the treadmill (Figure 4-1). Stepping targets were projected onto the treadmill surface with a set step width (matched to participant's preferred step width) and variable step lengths of short (80% of preferred step length), preferred, or long (120% of preferred step length) steps. Each trial consisted of 102 targets to step on. Participants were instructed to step on the projected targets as accurately as possible and received auditory feedback (error noise) when the foot was too far (greater than 0.2 m) from the target. The Stepping targets were projected such that they moved faster than the treadmill belt speed (two times the speed of the treadmill). During piloting, participants performed near ceiling during baseline (greater than 90% accurate) when the speed of the targets was matched to the treadmill speed. Increasing the speed of the targets mitigated the ceiling effects and provided participants with room to improve with practice.
Experimental Protocol

Participants first completed a series of calibrations. An eye tracker calibration, consisting of the participant fixating on static targets projected onto the treadmill surface, was used to calibrate participants' gaze vectors. A standing calibration determined the flatfoot height of the calcaneus marker. During walking trials, we defined real-time heel strike as the time when the calcaneus marker dropped within 5 mm of the participant's flatfoot height. Participants also completed a 2-minute walking trial on the treadmill (no targets) to determine their preferred step length and step width that would be used to define the spacing of targets during the experimental trials. All walking trials were performed at a fixed speed (0.9m/s) for all participants. People naturally walk slower during target stepping protocols and so the speed was chosen to allow participants to comfortably perform the task and have enough time for both feedback and feedforward locomotor control strategies while still challenging participants enough to avoid ceiling effects.

Following these calibrations, participants first completed a baseline (102 stepping targets) trial of the stepping task during which the order of the target step lengths was randomized. Following baseline, participants completed 5 sequenced trials, then a catch trial, and finally 4 more sequenced trials. During all sequenced trials, the targets appeared in the same, repeating, 6-step pattern (specifically all participants experience the following pattern of step lengths which always started with their right foot: 120% - 120% - 80% - 120% - 100% - 80%) to encourage sequence learning and accelerate overall motor learning within the duration of the experiment. A catch trial (during which the targets were presented in a random order of step lengths, though this specific sequence order was consistent across participants) was included to determine whether the learning was specific to the repeating sequence or generalized to the target stepping task. Choi and colleagues (Choi et al. 2016) demonstrated sequence learning in a similar stepping task

with targets projected on a screen in front of the participant rather than directly onto the ground. Participants were given the option of taking self-paced breaks in between trial blocks, however, most participants continued walking on the treadmill for the duration of the experiment.

Data Analysis and Processing

Motion capture data: Following manual marker correction in Qualisys Tracking Manager software, data was exported and processed through a custom Python (v3.8) script. Specifically missing marker data (less than 10% of individual marker data) was interpolated using a cubic interpolation through the pandas python package. After interpolation, the entire trajectory was passed through a 6 Hz low pass filter (Winter, Sidwell, and Hobson 1974).

Eye tracking: A post hoc calibration and gaze mapping were performed using pupil player software before being exported to a custom Python script. The x and y position of each pupil and of the normalized gaze position on the visual plane were filtered as follows: First, the most extreme values (top and bottom 5%) were masked to remove mischaracterizations of the pupils. The data was then interpolated to the nearest point and finally a median filter with a window size of 10 samples was applied. Saccades were defined as any time an eye's pupil position changed between aligned frames (100hz) more than 0.15 mm (~70 deg/sec) in the x direction or 0.3 mm (~140 deg/sec) in the y-direction. Additionally, any gaze point with lower than 60% confidence (as calculated by Pupil Labs) was discarded. To determine the fixation point, we followed the methodology described by Matthis and colleagues (Matthis et al. 2018). Specifically, we created gaze vectors originating at the scene camera of the eye tracker and connecting through the fixation point provided by Pupil Labs on the recorded scene camera image. That image was arbitrarily defined as residing on a rectangle 1 meter in front of the scene camera. The corners of

the rectangle were defined by the intrinsic camera values (103 degrees horizontal and 54 degrees vertical) and the center was located 1 meter in front of the scene camera and normal to the head vector originating at the scene camera. The fixation point on the scene camera image was placed on this rectangle and a gaze vector from the scene camera and through the fixation point was computed. The gaze vector was then projected to intersect with the treadmill plane to determine the fixation point (Matthis et al. 2018).

Projected target locations: The location of projected targets was determined by linearly mapping the projection space into the motion capture system space. A unique linear mapping was created for each participant to ensure data quality.

Data Alignment: Data between the target locations and motion capture were sampled at 100hz and aligned using the motion capture system frame numbers which were streamed in real-time to the MATLAB program recording and projecting the targets. Gaze data were sampled at 200hz and aligned to the motion capture system data by aligning the nearest timestamps.

Outcome measures

Step error: Step error was determined as the Euclidean distance between the center of the foot defined by the 5 reflective markers on each foot) and the center of the target on the plane of the treadmill.

Fixation distance: Fixation distance was defined as the Euclidean distance between the center of the headset (blue line on Figure 4-1) and the treadmill surface fixation point along the plane of the treadmill (Figure 4-1).

Look ahead time: Look ahead time was defined as the time it would take a participant's foot to reach the location being fixated upon. In practice, look ahead time is equal to the fixation distance divided by the treadmill speed (0.9 m/s).

Head angle: In addition to fixation distance, we recorded head angle. While a participant's head angle is accounted for in fixation distance, head angle has historically been used to approximate fixation distance. By including it here, we both allow for historical comparisons and provide additional validation for fixation distance as head angle data is less processed and more reliable than gaze location. Head angle was therefore defined by the vertical angle between the normal vector to the headset viewing plane and the vertical z-axis (Figure 4-1).

Toe off interval: The toe-off interval is defined as the time (in seconds) between the start of the first fixation onto a target and the toe-off of the foot which will step onto that target. A fixation which begins before toe-off is coded as a negative interval while a fixation after toe-off is coded as a positive interval.

Heel strike interval: The heel strike interval is defined as the time (in seconds) between the end of the last fixation on a target and the heel strike of the foot onto that target. A fixation which ends before heel strike is coded as a negative interval while a fixation after heel strike is coded as a positive interval.

Statistical Analysis

For all analyses, the first 6 targets of a trial (the first complete presentation of the sequence) were removed to allow participants to align their gait pattern with the phase of the stepping targets. The remaining 96 steps were analyzed for each participant. Significance was set at p < 0.05 for all analysis unless otherwise specified.

For fixation-based metrics, we analyzed the distance, toe-off interval, and heel-strike interval, of on treadmill fixations. Off treadmill fixations, which accounted for ~10% of the data, were considered irrelevant for this analysis. Fixation distance was grouped by step such that each step's average fixation was equal to the mean fixation distance of all fixation samples during the step's swing phase. A mixed linear model, with trial number as a fixed effect and subject as a random effect, was used to calculate the change trial-to-trial in fixation distance, toe-off interval, and heel-strike interval. Given a significant main effect of trial on each outcome measure, pairwise t-tests or Mann Whitney U tests (depending on a normality check using the Pingouin Python package) with a Bonferroni correction were completed between baseline and the final trial (trial 9), to determine if participants significantly changed with practice, and between the catch trial, and the trials immediately before and after the catch trials (trials 5 and 6 respectively) to determine if the changes were specific to sequence learning or more general task learning.

In addition to the between trial analysis, we conducted a within-trial analysis. Specifically, a Mixed Linear Model was used to examine if participant fixation distance changed on steps following an accurate vs inaccurate step (when they would be reacting to the auditory feedback). Given a significant effect, a post-hoc analysis was completed to compare fixation distance and step error between the first and last accurate step in a series of consecutive correct steps.

Results

Representative Participant



Figure 4-2: Data from one participant of the anterior-posterior position of the left (blue diamonds) and right (green diamonds) heel, stepping targets (yellow square) and gaze location (colored dots, each color grouping is a unique fixation) through time. The figure demonstrates the hypothesized shift in fixation distance with practice as gap between the colored fixation dots and the heel diamonds is larger in the after practicing the task (on the right).

Processed data showing the locations of the left and right feet, the stepping targets and the fixation point on the treadmill are presented in Figure 4-2. We can see the participant fixating onto a target and tracking its movement before saccading to the next target and beginning a new fixation. The participant also demonstrates the expected shift forward in fixation distance between the early and late sequenced trials.

Step Error and Fixation Metrics Change with Practice

With practice, participants decreased their step error, and increased their fixation distance, and head angle (Figure 4-3). A mixed linear model found a significant main effect of trial on fixation distance (p < 0.001), head angle (p < 0.001), and step error (p < 0.001). When comparing the



Figure 4-3: Error bar plots of mean step error (top), fixation distance (middle) and head angle (bottom). Datapoints represent individual participant averages. Shaded vertical bars indicate trials when there was no repeating sequence. Error bars represent SEM. Results support step error decreasing while fixation distance and head angle increase (the participant looks farther ahead) with practice.

baseline vs. the last trial, we find a significant difference for step error (Mean Difference = -4 cm, p < 0.001, hedges g = 1.33), fixation distance (Mean Difference = 0.27 steps ahead, p = 0.003, hedges g = 0.62), head angle (Mean Difference = 0.09 radians). Participants increased their average look ahead time from 1.51 seconds to 1.80 seconds (290 msec total change). When



Figure 4-4: Error bar plot represent the percent of fixations directed towards less than 1.5 steps ahead (blue, solid) greater than 1.5 steps ahead (orange, dashed) or off the treadmill (green, dotted). Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. Results demonstrate an increased fixation time towards information greater than 1.5 steps ahead with practice, but that the participant consistently fixates in all three visual zones.

looking at where individuals direct their gaze, we found that with practice, more fixation time was directed farther ahead (greater than 1.5 steps ahead) (Figure 4-4). The number of fixations directed off the treadmill surface remained relatively consistent, suggesting that foveal vision was consistently relied upon for the task.

For fixation timing metrics, a mixed linear model found a significant main effect for the heelstrike interval (p = 0.008), but not for the toe-off interval (p = 0.051). We did not find a significant difference between baseline and the last trial for heel-strike interval (Mean Difference = -0.02 seconds, p = 0.49).

Changes were driven by general task learning rather than sequence learning

A Tukey post hoc test was performed to compare the trials before and after the catch trial with the catch trial. The catch trial did not significantly differ from the adjacent trials in step error (p =

0.8 for both), fixation distance (previous trial p = 0.3, next trial p = 0.7), or head angle (p = 0.4 vs previous and next trials).

Participants significantly changed their fixation distance following an error step



Figure 4-5: Mean and SEM of each participants' fixation distance during the step following an accurate (green) or inaccurate (red) step. Vertical lines represent group means with each subject having equal weighting. On average, participants shifted their gaze closer to themselves following an inaccurate step.

To determine how participants respond to an error step, a mixed linear model with subject as a random effect and previous step accuracy as a fixed effect was performed to compare the fixation distance of a step following an error or accurate step. A significant change in fixation distance based on the previous step accuracy (p < 0.001) was found with an error on the previous step leading to a mean reduction in fixation distance of 0.08 steps (Figure 4-5).

Step Error and Fixation Distance Changes Within The First 2 Trial Blocks



While participant step error and fixation distances changed across trial rounds, the changes may be occurring on a smaller time scale such that a gradual shift occurs constantly within trial rounds. Because participant fixation distance did change following a step error, within-trial changes were compared based on the first and last accurate step in a streak of accurate steps in a row (minimum streak length of 3 steps). A Mann Whitney U test found a statistically significant difference in step error (p < 0.001, Mean Difference = 1 cm) but not in fixation distance (p = .96).

Additionally, given the large change during the initial trial blocks, a post hoc examination comparing the change in step accuracy and fixation distance was conducted between the baseline

Figure 4-6: Changes in step error (top) and fixation distance (bottom) for the first 2 trial blocks (baseline shaded blue, trial block 1 shaded green). Horizontal red lines represent mean values across the entire trial block (each shaded region). Error bars are SEM. The results support the changes occurring between trial blocks (red lines) and less so within trial blocks (error bar plots).

and trial block 1 (Figure 4-6). To allow for any learning effects while minimizing the effect of step error, performance was grouped in 6 step repetitions representing a complete loop through the sequenced pattern (for trial block 1). A mixed linear model with trial (baseline and trial block 1) and pattern repetition (1-16) as fixed effects and subject as a random effect was conducted for outcome measures step error and fixation distance. Trial (p < 0.001) but not pattern repetition (p=0.21) had a significant fixed effect on step error, while both trial (p = 0.001) and pattern repetition (p < 0.001) had significant fixed effects on fixation distance (Figure 4-6). Despite the significant fixed effects, a Mann Whitney U test did not find a statistically significant difference between the first and last pattern repetition for fixation distance during these 2 trials (p = 0.06).

Discussion

The present study examined how gaze behavior changed in relation to motor learning during a sequence stepping task. Participants were instructed to step on projected targets as accurately as possible while their gaze behavior was monitored. The results support our hypothesis that both fixation distance would increase and stepping accuracy would improve with experience. This shift in fixation location did not impact fixation timing, as participants toe-off and heel-strike intervals did not significantly change with practice. Despite this, we found participants made concurrent reductions in their step error and increases in their fixation distance between trial blocks. Participants updated their gaze behavior in a manner that suggests they updated locomotor control strategies with practice, increasing their emphasis on feedforward motor planning. Overall, the results support that fixation distance increases with locomotor learning. Our primary finding was that gaze fixation distance increased with practice. As expected, with

experience participants shifted their gaze to sample visual information that was farther ahead.

This increase in average gaze fixation may have been related to individuals increasing their emphasis on feedforward motor control strategies. Previous literature has established that general motor learning is accompanied by a progression from feedback to feedforward motor control strategies (Franklin and Wolpert 2011). By shifting their gaze fixation, individuals change what sensory (and in particular visual) information is available to perform the task. Fixations close to the individual benefit online reactive control strategies, providing information about where the limb and current step target are and allowing immediate corrective actions to be taken as needed. Fixations farther ahead benefit motor planning by providing more information about the future and providing additional time to process the information, allowing the individual to create and execute efficient motor plans.

Participants shifting their gaze farther ahead is in line with previous upper limb (Sailer et al. 2005, Perry et al 2020) and walking (Kopiske et al. 2020) studies where participants shifted their gaze farther ahead with practice. The shift is likely accompanied by a de-emphasis on feedback and an increased emphasis on feedforward motor control strategies (as suggested by Sailer et al. 2005). However, as demonstrated in Figure 4-4, participants are always performing fixations both less than 1.5 steps ahead (to provide feedback on the current step) and greater than 1.5 steps ahead (to provide feedback on the current step). Participants therefore use a combination of feedback and feedforward motor control to walk efficiently (similar to driving Lehtonen et al. 2013). The changing fixation distance and locomotor control strategies may alternatively suggest an increased planning horizon (Ariani et al. 2021, Bashford et al. 2022). Under this interpretation, practiced participants are better able to use visual information from farther ahead, possibly due to more efficient processing of feedback visual information. Unlike an overall shift in locomotor control strategy, this perspective would suggest that

participants remain just as reliant on feedback motor control but are able to achieve any corrective actions with shorter fixation periods (and therefore less visual information to guide feedback control). Our results also support this alternative and future research where visual information is occluded periodically throughout the locomotor learning process would be necessary to tease these two hypotheses apart.

Surprisingly, changes in fixation location with practice did not impact fixation timing. Rather than shifting the entire fixation window farther ahead and therefore earlier relative to toe-off and heel-strike, participants maintained a consistent timing of when they began and finished looking at a target. Instead, participants changed where they directed their gaze between those two timepoints (i.e., during swing phase). As depicted in Figure 4-4, while participants did spend more time looking farther ahead, they did not stop performing fixations back to the current step (less than 1.5 steps ahead). Therefore, participants may have shifted their gaze farther ahead in terms of distance for the majority of swing phase, but still made a confirmatory fixation back at their foot to confirm accurate foot placement. It may be that participants became more efficient confirming where their foot is in space (in line with the possible shift in planning horizon) or that they became more proficient at using peripheral vision to guide target stepping (as seen during reaching by Perry et al. 2020). Either change would allow participants to look farther ahead without reducing their ability to perform a feedback-driven motor control strategy.

When the learned sequence was removed, participant motor performance and fixation metrics did not significantly change. While we expected both to revert towards baseline levels, the lack of any change suggests that the motor learning across the entire study was due to general task learning (learning to step accurately on targets) rather than sequence learning impacting performance as we expected. The main takeaway here may have more to do with the task design. Unlike Choi and colleagues (2016), we projected our stepping targets directly onto the treadmill, rather than presenting them on a screen in front of the participant. It is possible that the sequence is more recognizable when presented on a screen as the visuomotor mapping between the participant's stepping and the screen representations recruits more cognitive resources compared to the more natural guidance of their foot to a seen target on the ground (treadmill belt) employed in our study. While most participants could tell that the prescribed step length changed, few were able to articulate the pattern, even after 153 repetitions. Additionally, the speed of the targets and the sequence employed in the present study were different than in Choi and colleagues, though performance characteristics such as participants having more difficulty with short steps compared to preferred or long steps and the percentage of accurate steps improving from ~30% to ~60% is comparable to the results of Choi and colleagues. We therefore suspect that the modified task design may have impaired participant pattern recognition and therefore limited any sequence learning effect.

On a step-by-step basis, gaze behavior did not change significantly relative to stepping performance. The main trigger for sudden changes in gaze behavior came from the motor errors/auditory feedback, with fixation distance reducing on average 0.08 steps immediately following an error step, though there was large intersubject variability. The variability may suggest that different participants had different strategies to deal with errors. Some participants largely maintained their gaze behavior while others exhibited large changes following an error step. Neither a participant's percentage of accurate step (which would suggest an acclimatization to the error noise) or overall fixation distance (which would speak to different locomotor strategies) appear to be related to the intersubject variation. Future research is needed to disentangle the significance of variability. Accepting that participant fixation distance does systematically reduce following a step error (as the data suggests), the change following an error step brings up the question of causality. Specifically, since participant gaze behavior changed following an error step, the step error may have triggered the change in fixation distance. This behavior has a real-world parallel where people look down following a stumble to maximize visual feedback and regain their balance. While participants exhibited similar behavior, a followup study is needed to determine whether the fixation change was due to the step error (representing a bottom-up, movement driven response) or a reaction to the error auditory feedback (creating a top-down, goal-directed response).

The reduction in fixation distance following a step error also provides a possible alternative explanation to the main result of fixation distance increasing with practice. Given that participants performed fewer errors with practice, it is possible that the trial-by-trial change in fixation distance was due to fewer errors (and therefore fewer temporary reductions in fixation distance) rather than a change in visuomotor control strategy. To check this, we reran the mixed effects models removing the step following an error step from the dataset. Again, we found participants significantly increased their fixation distance with practice (p < 0.001) and decreased their step error (p < 0.001) with practice.

When we look at streaks of correct steps (to remove any "reset" in fixation distance from a step error), we do not find a significant change in fixation distance and while step error does increase, the size of the increase (~1cm on average) is so small that it is unlikely to be clinically relevant. Similarly, when we zoom in on the first two trial blocks (baseline and sequenced trial 1) we do not see a significant change in step error within the trial block. While we do see a significant slope for fixation distance within the first 2 trials, we do not see a significant difference between the beginning and the end of a trial block. When we combine this lack of within-trial-blocks changes with the significant differences found between trial blocks, the results suggest some form of consolidation is necessary to update gaze behavior. This contrasts with the findings of Kopiske and colleagues (Kopiske et al. 2020) who found that participants adapted their gaze behavior in response to simulated stepping hazards (icy patches) within trial blocks, but any adaptations did not carry over between trial blocks. One reason may be the continuous nature of the present task with a target for every footfall here vs. one target every few steps in Kopiske et al. 2020. Given this difference, the present study is more in line with reaching (Perry et al. 2020) and finger coordination (Sailer et al. 2005) studies, where participants had a continuous task to respond to and shifted their gaze to sample information farther ahead as they practiced the task. Our current results suggest that time between tasks may be necessary to consolidate learning and update gaze behavior.

There are a few limitations with the present study, outside of those mentioned earlier. The primary limitation is that while the present study measured where individuals look, it did not quantify any cognitive processing being done with that information. While it is likely that processing follows foveal vision, this is not a requirement (Perry et al. 2020). Stepping behavior is often relatively automatic and therefore gaze may be directed for other purposes (such as looking at someone while you talk to them). A follow-up study should assess how the processing of visual information changes with locomotor learning by measuring how performance changes when visual information is removed from different areas. Such a study would also help differentiate between a shifting motor control strategy and an increased cognitive flexibility associated with an increased planning horizon discussed earlier. A second limitation is the lack

of updating difficulty in the task. Research has suggested that motor learning is maximized by progressively adapting task difficulty to match an individual's motor skill level (Wilson et al. 2019). To consistently compare gaze behavior to task performance, we did not update task difficulty as participants improved. While this was necessary to create a consistent comparison point, it is possible that changes in gaze behavior were due to reasons other than improved motor skill, such as participant boredom. A follow-up study with updating task difficulty based on performance may be able to better understand why gaze behavior is updated in the manner seen in the present study.

Overall, the results of the present study suggest that gaze behavior updates with changes in motor skill. Specifically, we found that with practice of a novel locomotor learning task, mean fixation distance increased, and step error decreased. However, these changes were only detectable between trial blocks and not on a step-by-step basis. The results suggest that changing gaze behavior is an integral part of locomotor learning, allowing individuals to emphasize different motor control strategies by providing different visual information. However, we found that the timing of fixations did not change with practice, suggesting individuals may be changing how they process visual information along with changing what visual information they collect. Future research should therefore investigate how the cognitive processing of visual information changes with locomotor learning.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to acknowledge Daniel Marigold for assistance in processing the gaze data and Jordan Dembsky for assistance with data collection. Additionally, we would like to thank all the study participants. This work was supported by the Dr. John N. Nicholson Fellowship and by the Northwestern University Department of Physical Therapy and Human Movement Sciences.

Chapter 5: Seeing does not mean processing: Where we look and the visual information we rely on change independently as we learn a novel walking task

Abstract

People use vision to inform motor control strategies during walking. With practice performing a novel target stepping task, people gradually shift their gaze farther ahead, transitioning from watching their feet contact the target to looking for future target locations. The shift in gaze focus suggests the role of vision in motor control changes from emphasizing feedback to feedforward control. The present study examines whether this change in visual fixation location is accompanied by a similar change in reliance upon visual information. Twenty healthy young adults practiced stepping on moving targets project on the surface of a treadmill. Periodically, participants' visual reliance was probed by hiding the stepping targets when they would inform feedback or feedforward (targets < or > 1.5 steps ahead, respectively) motor control strategies. We calculated visual reliance as the increase in step error when targets were hidden compared to being fully visible. We hypothesized that with practice, participant reliance on feedback visual information would decrease and their reliance on feedforward visual information would increase. Contrary to our hypothesis, we found that participants became significantly more reliant on feedback visual information with practice (p<0.001) but their reliance on feedforward visual information did not change (p=0.49). Participants' reliance on visual information increased despite an accompanying change to look significantly farther ahead with practice (p<0.016). Together, these results suggest that participants fixated on feedback information less. However,

any change in fixation pattern did not reduce their reliance upon feedback information as individual stepping performance still significantly decreased when feedback information was removed after training. These findings provide important context for how the role of vision in controlling walking changes with practice.

Introduction

People use different types of visual information to control, steer, and maintain stable walking. How people prioritize the different types of visual information informs researchers how they prioritize different motor control strategies. For instance, people who prioritize controlling the current swing limb trajectory to ensure their foot lands in a safe place will fixate their gaze closer to their body (Matthis et al 2018). These feedback fixations (sometimes called "guiding fixations" (Lehtonen et al. 2013, Mennie et al. 2007)), can be operationally defined as fixations less than 1.5 steps ahead. In contrast, people who prioritize locomotor steering and planning efficient future steps will fixate farther ahead. These feedforward fixations (sometimes called look-ahead fixations (Lehtonen et al. 2013, Mennie et al. 2007)), can be operationally defined as fixations greater than 1.5 steps ahead. People typically perform both feedback and feedforward fixations during walking (Patla 2003). Measuring a person's average fixation distance provides insight into the locomotor control strategies being used in a specific situation.

Healthy adults walking over flat terrain fixate ~2 step lengths ahead (Patla and Vickers 2003). When walking over uneven terrain, healthy adults fixate closer to themselves (Matthis et al. 2018, Thomas et al. 2020, Marigold and Patla 2007), performing more feedback fixations to prevent missteps and limit falls. Similarly, compared to healthy young adults, older adults (Chapman and Hollands 2010, Zietz and Hollands 2009) and people with spinal cord injury or developmental condition disorder (Malik et al. 2017, Warlop et al. 2020) also fixate closer to themselves. These groups may be performing more feedback fixations, taking a more active and visually guided locomotor control strategy to compensate for any gait deficits and ensure accurate foot placement. In contrast, athletic populations typically look farther ahead than nonathletes. Athletes likely rely more on proprioception to guide their current step and may perform more feedforward fixations to inform motor planning (Piras et al. 2010, Aksum et al. 2020). Taken together there may be a correlation between the difficulty of maintaining stable walking and where people direct their gaze.

Fixation distance also changes as people learn a new motor skill. With practice moving a cursor with a novel controller, Sailer and Colleagues (2005) found participants shift from fixating on the cursor (feedback fixations) to fixating on the target (feedforward fixations). Perry and colleagues (2020) found similar results during reaching, with fixation distance increasing as participant performance improved. This shift is often thought to mirror a change in motor control such that people shift from consciously processing and regulating their movement (via feedback control) to more subconscious, feedforward control mechanisms as they improve at a task (Franklin and Wolpert 2011). During walking, conscious control of stepping is associated with an increase in feedback fixations among young adults (Ellmers et al. 2019), older adults (Ellmers 2020) and individuals with Parkinson's disease (Hardeman 2020). When healthy adults practice and become more skilled at challenging walking tasks, they shift their gaze farther ahead during both obstacle avoidance (Kopiske et al. 2021) and target stepping (Cates and Gordon 2022) tasks. A forward gaze shift during locomotor learning suggests that as people learn to perform a task, their movements become more automated, and the role of vision shifts towards informing feedforward motor control strategies.

One limitation of this prior research is the inherent assumption that the amount of time spent fixating on a location directly correlates with the number of cognitive resources dedicated to that visual location. Stated more directly, if a person is sampling a visual area more, it is interpreted to mean that they are more reliant on that visual information. While this may generally hold true, there are exceptions, and it can't be assumed to be the case in all situations. Described as "Looked But Failed To See" errors (Wolfe et al. 2022), people may trip on a branch despite looking straight at it because they were processing other information rather than the new visual information being collected by their eyes. In the above locomotor learning examples, just because someone is looking farther ahead, it does not necessarily mean they are more reliant on that information. Additionally, people often use peripheral vision to guide foot falls during walking, rather than the central vision measured with eye trackers (Franchak and Adolph 2010). This creates a potential disconnect - an individual may be looking farther ahead on average but are actually using peripheral vision to guide their footfalls. Therefore, to understand the role of vision in controlling walking we must not only quantify where a person looks, but also whether they are using and relying upon the information gathered.

A person's visual reliance has commonly been quantified in standing balance paradigms (Lee, Han, and Hopkins 2022; Hwang et al. 2014) and used to compare the importance of visual information vs proprioceptive or vestibular information. To measure visual reliance, researchers use a knockout paradigm (similar to knockout paradigms in genetic research). Participants complete quiet standing tasks while their visual input is altered (such as via optic flow perturbations (Hwang et al. 2014)). In these studies, any deterioration in performance is interpreted as the reliance on visual information over undisrupted senses, such as proprioception. If a person (such as an older adult) is more affected by the perturbation, they are said to have an over-reliance on vision. One can apply this idea to probe a person's reliance on specific pieces of visual information relative to other visual areas in addition to other sensory inputs. If the person is highly reliant on a specific visual area (for instance being able to see the ground right at heel strike), removing that information should greatly decrease their task performance, even if some visual information (for instance information to guide future steps) is still available. In contrast, if they are not very reliant on a visual area, then removing that information should not significantly change their task performance. Importantly, by using a knockout paradigm, we can decouple where a person is looking from how and whether they are using the visual information being gathered from a particular visual area. To properly understand how locomotor control changes in different populations or situations, it is necessary to quantify both an individual's sampling behavior and their reliance upon the sampled visual information.

Researchers have begun to quantify peoples' reliance on visual information during walking. As expected, healthy adults performing straight walking on flat ground rely very little on processing general visual information, though they do rely on vision during turning (Pham et al. 2011). Older adults rely on vision more than younger adults, with gait becoming more variable (Chapman and Hollands 2006) and more cautious (Marigold and Patla 2008) when vision is temporarily occluded. When examining specific visual areas, occluding feedback fixations has the largest effect on the gait of older adults, leading to larger toe clearances (Kunimune and Okada 2017, Timmis and Buckley 2012) and a more variable foot placement (Reynolds and Day 2005, Matthis 2015) when stepping over obstacles without feedback fixations. Collectively this research suggests that older adults, who often exhibit altered gait patterns, make more feedback fixations, and rely on vision, and in particular feedback visual information, more than young adults.

To understand how the role of vision changes with locomotor learning we must understand the changes to both visual sampling and visual reliance. The present study will therefore examine how individual reliance on processing feedback and feedforward visual information changes with practice of a novel and challenging target stepping task. We hypothesize that, similar to changes in fixation distance, participants will become more reliant on feedforward fixations and less reliant on feedback fixations with practice. We will evaluate any changes in reliance by quantifying changes in the relative stepping performance between limited and full vision conditions. Reliance on feedback visual information would be defined as the difference in performance between the no feedback condition and the full vision condition. With practice, we expect the difference in stepping performance between the no feedback condition and full vision to decrease. In contrast, we expect the difference in stepping performance between the no feedforward condition and full vision to increase with practice. Such results would be in line with changes in visual sampling behavior (namely looking farther ahead with practice (Kopiske et al. 2021, Cates and Gordon 2022)) and support an increased reliance upon feedforward fixations with locomotor learning.

Materials and methods

Participants

20 healthy young adults (14 Women, 24.6 +/- 3.8 years old)) provided written informed consent and participated in the study. Participants were 1.7 +/- 0.1m tall with an average step length of 0.5 +/-0.05 m. Power was confirmed post hoc with a sensitivity analysis (see supplemental information for details). All procedures were approved by the Northwestern University Institutional Review Board. All participants were screened via self-report to ensure they had normal or corrected to normal vision and did not have any current neuromuscular or musculoskeletal injuries known to affect their balance or gait.

Experimental Setup

Task Environment: Participants were asked to walk on a treadmill and step on a series of projected stepping targets that were moving towards them. All walking occurred on an oversized treadmill (3m x 1.5m, TuffTread, USA). A static board was placed level with the front of the treadmill belt to extend the target viewing space to 4m x 1.5m (board + treadmill belt). Stepping targets (7cm x 15cm) were projected using an overhead projector (Hitachi, Japan) onto the target viewing space.

Motion Capture: We collected 3D kinematic data during walking to quantify foot and head movement. Specifically, we used a 12-camera optical motion capture system with a 100 Hz sampling rate (Qualisys, Gothenburg, Sweden) to collect walking kinematics and quantify real-time stepping behavior. We placed thirteen passive motion capture markers on the participant.

Three non-collinear markers on the head-mounted eye tracker determined the headset viewing plane relative to the lab reference plane. The other 10 markers tracked the 2nd, 3rd, and 5th metatarsals, the lateral malleolus, and the calcaneus of each foot to determine foot locations during gait.

Eye Tracking: Pupil locations were tracked throughout the study to determine fixation locations. To capture fixation location, participants wore a head-mounted eye tracker (Pupil Core eye tracker, Pupil Labs, UK). The headset uses IR reflection to determine the 2D pupil location of



Figure 5-1: A. Diagram of the target stepping task. Stepping targets (in yellow) were projected onto the treadmill, Gaze point (Orange Dot) was calculated based on the eye tracking data. Fixation distance was defined as the distance between the head and the gaze point. Blue and Red diamonds are the calcaneus markers. Shapes and colors match scatterplot in B. B. Scatterplots showing the raw fixation data. Time is on the x axis and Anterior-Posterior distance from the participants head is on the y axis. The yellow squares are the stepping targets. The diamonds are the left (blue) and right (green) heel markers. The orange dots are individual gaze points. The diagram in A is a rough estimation of what is happening at the time point marked by the vertical line in B.

each eye at 200 Hz, which, following a calibration procedure, we transformed into gaze vectors (method for gaze vector calculation described below). Fixation points were defined as the location where the gaze vector intersected with the treadmill surface.

Stepping Task

Full Vision Task: During the full vision stepping task, participants walked on the treadmill while stepping targets were projected onto the treadmill surface (Figure 5-1A). Stepping targets were presented with a set step width (matched to the participant's preferred step width) and a variable step length (either 80% of preferred step length, preferred step length, or 120% of preferred step length). The targets appeared in a random order of step lengths. Participants were instructed to step on the projected targets as accurately as possible and received auditory feedback (error

noise) when the center of the foot (as determined based on the calcaneus and 2nd metatarsal markers) was greater than 0.2 m from the center of the target. The stepping targets were projected such that they moved faster than the treadmill belt speed (two times the speed of the treadmill). Modulating the step error threshold and the speed of the targets are common methods in reaching studies to control task difficulty (Li, Wang, and Cui 2018; Sanchez, Gobel, and Reber 2010) and were selected here after pilot testing to minimize ceiling effects and provide participants with room to improve step accuracy with practice (Cates and Gordon 2022).

Limited Vision Tasks: The limited vision tasks consisted of the same setup and directions as the full vision task. However, the targets were projected such that they were only visible when they were greater than 1.5 steps ahead of the participant (the no feedback condition, Figure 5-2A) or less than 1.5 steps ahead of the participant (the no feedforward condition, Figure 5-2A). The cutoff of 1.5 steps ahead was personalized to each participant based on their preferred step length and was chosen as the dividing line based on previous literature separating visual information related to the current action (feedback) vs visual information for planning future actions (feedforward) (Patla 2003). Participants were still instructed to step on the target (or where the target would be in the no feedback condition) and received the same auditory feedback as the full vision task as if the target was visible. Finally, the targets always moved in a straight line and maintained a constant speed, regardless of whether they were visible to the participant or not.

Experimental Protocol

Participants first completed a series of calibrations. An eye tracker calibration, consisting of the participant fixating on bullseye-style targets projected onto the treadmill, was used to calibrate the participants gaze vectors. A standing calibration determined the flatfoot height of the

A. Conditions



Figure 5-2: A. Aerial view of the treadmill, participant, and targets in the three different conditions. Note the image is not to scale. B. Trial Block Outline

calcaneus markers. We defined real-time heel strike (used to provide auditory feedback) as the time when the calcaneus marker dropped within 5 mm of the participants flatfoot height. Participants also completed a 2-minute walking trial on the treadmill (no targets) to determine their preferred step length and step width at the trial speed (0.9 m/s for all participants and all trials) and define the spacing of the targets during the experimental trials. Following calibration, participants completed a total of 21 trial blocks, alternating in groups of 3 between probe and training trial blocks (Figure 5-2B). During the probe trial blocks, participants completed 60 stepping targets of full vision, no feedback, and no feedforward visual conditions. The order of these three conditions was randomized for each set of 3 probe trial blocks to avoid any order effects. During the training trial blocks, participants completed 120 stepping targets with the full vision task to improve their stepping performance. Participants were given a self-paced break

halfway through the experiment (after trial block 10) and were given the option of additional self-paced breaks between the training trial blocks, however most participants did not take any additional breaks. To maintain eye-tracking calibration, participants were not allowed to remove or adjust the eye tracker during any breaks. Additionally, the study ended with participants completing a second eye tracking calibration to check ensure calibration validity throughout the study.

Data Analysis and Processing

Motion Capture Data: Following manual marker correction in Qualisys Tracking Manager software, motion capture data was exported and processed through a custom Python (v3.8) script. Missing marker data (less than 10% of individual marker data) was interpolated using a cubic interpolation through the pandas Python package. After interpolation, the entire trajectory was passed through a 6 Hz low pass filter (Winter et al. 1974).

Eye Tracking: A post hoc calibration and gaze mapping were done using the Pupil Player software (Pupil Labs, UK) before being exported to a custom Python script. The average calibrated accuracy was $1.55^{\circ} \pm 0.81^{\circ}$. The x and y position of each pupil and the normalized gaze position on the visual plane were filtered in the following ways: First, the most extreme values (top and bottom 5%) were masked to remove mischaracterizations of the pupils. The data were then interpolated to the nearest point to fill in both the masked data and any missing data from the recording and a median filter with a window size of 10 samples was applied. Due to the smooth pursuit nature of the eye movements, saccades were defined as any time an eye's pupil position changed between aligned frames (100 Hz) more than 0.15 mm (~70 deg/sec) in the x-direction or more than 0.3 mm (~140 deg/sec) in the y-direction. Additionally, any gaze point

with lower than 60% confidence (as determined by Pupil Labs) was discarded. To determine the fixation point, we followed the methodology described by Matthis and colleagues (2018) which we have previously reported (Cates and Gordon 2022). Specifically, we created gaze vectors originating at the scene camera of the eye tracker and connecting through the fixation point provided by Pupil Labs on the recorded scene camera image. The scene camera image was arbitrarily defined as residing on a rectangle 1 meter in front of the scene camera. The corners of the rectangle were defined by the intrinsic camera values (103 degrees horizontal and 54 degrees vertical) and the center was located 1 meter in front of the scene camera image was placed on this rectangle and a gaze vector from the scene camera and through the fixation point was computed. The gaze vector was then projected to intersect with the treadmill plane to determine the fixation point. Representative data is available in Figure 5-1B.

Projected target locations: The location of the projected targets was determined by linearly mapping the projection space into the motion capture system space. To ensure data quality, a unique linear mapping was created for each participant using a projection calibration recording where single points were projected onto the treadmill and markers were placed on top of the projected points.

Data Alignment: Data between the target locations and motion capture were sampled at 100 Hz. They were aligned using the motion capture system frame numbers which were streamed in realtime to the MATLAB program recording and projecting the targets. Gaze data were sampled at 200 Hz and aligned to the motion capture system data by aligning the nearest timestamps.

Outcome Measures

Step Error: Step Error was defined as the Euclidean distance between the center of the foot and the center of the target on the plane of the treadmill at heel strike.

Visual Reliance: Visual Reliance was defined as the increase in step error between a limited vision condition and the full vision condition in the same group of 3 probe trial blocks.

Fixation Distance: Fixation Distance was defined as the Euclidean distance along the treadmill plane between the scene camera on the eye tracker and the gaze fixation point (Figure 1A). When reported, we normalize this distance based on each participant's step length such that distance is reported as the number of steps ahead a participant fixates.

Head Angle: In addition to fixation distance, we recorded participants' head angle. While a participant's head angle is accounted for in fixation distance, head angle has historically been used to approximate fixation distance. By including it here, we both allow for historical comparisons and provide additional validation for fixation distance as head angle data is less processed and more reliable than gaze location. Head angle was therefore defined by the vertical angle between the normal vector to the headset viewing plane and the vertical z-axis.

Toe Off Interval: The toe-off interval was defined as the time (in seconds) between the start of the first fixation onto a target and the toe-off of the foot which will step on the target. A fixation before toe-off is coded as a negative interval while a fixation after toe-off is coded as a positive interval. (See Dominguez et al. 2018 for further description of this metric)

Heel Strike Interval: The heel strike interval is defined as the time (in seconds) between the end of the last fixation on a target and the heel strike of the foot onto the target. A fixation before

heel strike is coded as a negative interval while a fixation after heel strike is coded as a positive interval. (See Dominguez-Zamora et al. 2018 for further description of this metric)

Statistical Analysis

For all analyses, the first 6 targets of a trial were removed to allow participants to align their gait pattern with the phase of the stepping targets. The remaining 54 or 114 steps (depending on the trial block) were analyzed for each participant. Significance was set at p<0.05 for all analyses unless otherwise specified.

To assess changes in visual sampling, we analyzed how participant step error, fixation distance, and head angle changed across full vision trial blocks. Off treadmill fixations, which accounted for <10% of the data, were considered irrelevant for this analysis. A second-degree mixed effects model with trial number as the fixed effect and subject as a random effect was used to calculate the change across trial blocks for step error, fixation distance, and head angle.

To evaluate if the visual probes did affect gaze behavior, we analyzed how participant fixation distance, toe-off interval, and heel strike interval changed across visual conditions. A mixed linear model with visual condition (no feedback or no feedforward) and probe timing (Baseline, Early, Late, or Post Training) as a fixed effect and subject as a random effect was conducted for fixation distance, toe-off interval, and heel strike interval as outcome measures.

Finally, to determine if visual reliance changed with practice, a mixed effects model tested changes in step error during the probe trials. Visual condition, probe timing, and an interaction effect between visual condition and probe timing were included as fixed effects while the participant was included as a random effect. Should a non-significant result appear, we will test for equivalence using a TOST test with a boundary equal to half of the step error improvement made across full vision condition trials.

Results

Participants

Two participants had poor eye tracking quality and were removed from eye tracking based results (Figures 5-3 and 5-4). However, because the primary result was based on motion capture data alone, both were included in the visual reliance analysis below (Figure 5-5). Data from a representative participant is provided in Figure 5-1B to show how the gaze tracked the targets relative to the participant's feet. We see the participant made individual fixations on each target, though the duration of those fixations is variable.



Figure 5-3: Line plots showing mean and SEM for step error (top), Fixation Distance (middle) and Head Angle (bottom) during the full vision trial blocks. Grey vertical bars represent probe blocks where the full vision trial may be in one of 3 trial numbers but were grouped for the graph here. The results show step error decreased while fixation distance increased with practice.

With practice of the full vision task, participants decreased their step error (p < 0.001) and looked farther ahead as indicated by significant increases in fixation distance (p = 0.016) but not head angle (p = 0.109, Figure 5-3). Compared to our previous work (Cates and Gordon 2022), the effect size of the change in fixation distance presented here was smaller than previously found, and there was not a significant change in head angle. To investigate why, a post hoc test was conducted to examine whether the probe visual conditions had lasting effects on the next trial block. A mixed linear model tested whether the fixed effects of trial block, current visual condition, and previous visual condition and random effect of subject affected fixation distance. We found significant main effects for trial block and current visual condition (as expected). We also found a significant fixed effect for the previous trial block on fixation distance. Specifically, fixation distance significantly decreased in the trial blocks following both no feedback (p =0.001) and no feedforward (p < 0.001) trial blocks.

Limiting visual targets affected gaze behavior



Figure 5-4: Changes in Gaze Behavior during the visual probe conditions with practice. Line plots show the mean and standard error for the fixation distance (A), Toe off interval (B) and Heel Strike interval (C) across probe rounds. The negative values in B and C suggest that Toe off (B) and Heel Strike (C) occurred after the initial fixation started (B) or last fixation ended (B).

To confirm that our intervention had the intended effect, we compared whether removing stepping targets changed gaze behavior. As expected, we found the no feedforward condition led to significantly closer fixations than the no feedback (p < 0.001) and full vision (p<0.001) conditions (Figure 5-4a). The result confirms that participants directed their gaze closer to themselves in the no feedforward condition as that was where the targets were visible. The no feedback condition, however, did not significantly change participant fixation location (p=0.45), likely due to the targets still being visible in the default, full vision location. The no feedforward condition also led to a significantly shorter toe-off interval (the time between the first fixation and start of the movement) compared to the no feedback and full vision conditions (p < 0.001, Figure 5-4b). As expected, participants transferred their gaze to the next step later, likely due to information about the next target not being available until later in the gait cycle. The no feedback condition, again, did not significantly change the toe off interval compared to the full vision

condition (p=0.78). In contrast, we found both the no feedback (p = 0.011) and no feedforward (p < 0.001) conditions exhibited significantly more positive heel strike intervals (the time between the end of the last fixation on the target and the end of the movement) than the full vision condition (Figure 5-4c). While expected in the no feedforward condition (due to where the targets were visible), this suggests that participants looked their foot to where they thought the target should be in the no feedback condition, even though they could not see the target.
Reliance on feedback visual information increases with practice

When testing for visual reliance, we find a significant interaction effect between probe timing and step error. Pairwise testing revealed a significant difference between visual conditions, with participants performing worse during the no feedback (corrected p<0.001) and no feedforward (corrected p=0.038) visual conditions, compared to full vision (Figure 5-5A). The pairwise testing also revealed a significant change in the reliance on feedback (p < 0.001) but not in the reliance on feedforward (p = 0.49) visual information with practice. As seen in Figure 5-5B and



Figure 5-5: A. Mean and SEM of step error during the four probe periods, split by visual condition of the probe. B and C show mean and standard error of the computed feedback (B) and feedforward (C) visual reliance during the 4 probe rounds. Feedback Visual Reliance was calculated as the difference between the No Feedback (Blue) and Full Vision (Green) conditions shown on Figure A. Similarly, Feedforward Visual Reliance was calculated as the difference between the No Feedforward (Orange) and Full Vision (Green) conditions shown in Figure A.

C, participant reliance on feedback information increases with practice, while reliance on feedforward information appears unchanged. An equivalence test, however, failed to reject the null (p=0.28) suggesting that we cannot reject the possibility of a significant change in feedforward reliance.

Similar to stepping performance, participant gaze metrics changed with training. A mixed linear model found significant interaction effects between visual condition and trial for fixation distance (p<0.001), toe off interval (p<0.001), and heel strike interval (p<0.001). Specifically, in the no feedforward condition participants fixated closer to themselves over time (vs fixating farther ahead with practice during full vision and no feedback conditions, Figure 5-4A). They also changed their toe off interval (Figure 5-4B) and heel strike interval (Figure 5-4C) significantly less in the no feedforward condition than the full vision and no feedback conditions, though they were directionally the same.

Discussion

We aimed to measure how reliance on feedback and feedforward visual information changes with locomotor learning. We hypothesized that participants would increase their reliance on feedforward information and reduce their reliance on feedback information. However, our results do not support this hypothesis. As expected, participants improved at the task and shifted their fixation distance farther ahead with practice (Figure 5-3). However, they also increased their reliance on feedback visual information with practice (Figure 5-5). The results suggest that while visual sampling behavior may shift towards greater sampling of feedforward visual information, people also become increasingly reliant on the feedback visual information they do collect. With practice, participants improved at the task, significantly decreasing their step error. This decrease in step error was accompanied by an increase in fixation distance, replicating our previous findings (Cates and Gordon 2022). However, the increase in fixation distance is smaller than our previous study, likely because of the intermittent probe trials. Previous research suggests gaze behavior during walking can be impacted by individual confidence (Thomas et al. 2020) or fall anxiety (Ellmers et al. 2019). Our post hoc results are in line with this idea. Participants struggled during the limited vision conditions, exhibiting more step errors, and thus hearing the corresponding auditory error noise more frequently. Participants therefore knew they were not very successful at the task, which may have lowered confidence going into the next trial block (regardless of the next block's visual condition) and increased the propensity for conscious movement processing (van Ginneken et al. 2018). The reduced confidence and increased conscious movement processing likely caused participants to fixate closer to themselves (Ellmers et al. 2020) and reduced the overall change in fixation distance across the study. Despite this limitation, the results do support our previous research suggesting that practicing a continuous target stepping task leads to an increase in fixation distance.

We expected that increasing fixation distance would be associated with an increased reliance on feedforward visual information. However, that is not what we found. Counter to our hypothesis, participants became more reliant on feedback visual information with practice. Taken together, our results suggest that while participants may be looking farther ahead, they are still reliant on the feedback visual information they receive.

One possible explanation for this disconnect may be that participants became more visually flexible, meaning they improved their ability to use whatever visual information was available to

successfully perform the task. With practice of typing tasks (Ariani et al. 2021, Bashford et al. 2022), participants were able to use visual information farther ahead in time to improve their performance. However, when future information was removed in these studies, participant performance did not significantly drop. Instead, participants were visually flexible, able to use the available information to complete the task. Similarly, in our study, participants were able to rapidly shift where and when they were directing their gaze based on the visual condition. They also improved their stepping performance in the full vision and no feedforward conditions, suggesting an artificially shorter planning horizon did not prevent motor learning. The importance of confirming accurate foot placement in the target stepping task may have led participants to continue to rely on feedback visual information. Therefore, the learning, may have resulted in improved efficiency (as evidenced by the increasing fixation distance resulting in less time spent on feedback fixations), but did not change visual reliance (as evidenced by the increasing reliance on feedback visual information).

Another explanation may be that participants became more adept at using peripheral vision to guide foot placement. Research suggests that people have increased peripheral awareness during walking (Cao and Handel 2019) compared to when they are stationary. Additionally, when navigating obstacles in the real world, adults use central vision to fixate on the obstacle less than children and infants (Franchak and Adolph 2010). This transition is supported more generally by Perry and colleagues (2020) who found people used peripheral vision more effectively and frequently as they practiced and improved at a reaching task. Our participants may have been able to increasingly rely on peripheral vision to guide their stepping, allowing them to keep their central fixation (which was quantified in this study) farther ahead. However, when the targets were removed, feedback visual information was occluded from both peripheral and central vision

alike. In this case, our participants' use of peripheral vision was unable to help them perform the task. General visual reliance was likely exacerbated by the visually dependent nature of the task, with the targets only being a visual projection with no way to provide tactile feedback. Future studies should look to quantify the utilization of peripheral vision to determine if locomotor learning increases its use.

While the increased reliance on feedback visual information is surprising, the continued reliance on feedback visual information is in line with visuo-locomotor training literature. A few studies (Gunn et al. 2019, Young and Hollands 2010) have attempted to rehabilitate locomotor performance by emphasizing where participants should look. Specifically, these studies emphasized feedback visual information, under the assumption that vision would make up for other deficits such as proprioception deficits. These studies found participant performance improved with these visual guidance interventions, suggesting that emphasizing feedback visual information is still important for improving locomotor performance. When combined with our present results, we would recommend training that emphasizes the general use of visual information without dictating where individuals should look. People likely need to collect the entirety of the visual field to best train at a task, though specific interventions modulating what information is available during training (compared to the constant full vision training employed here) is likely necessary to test this hypothesis.

The findings of the present study may have been limited by the task design. First, because the stepping targets were moving faster than the treadmill, the task may be more akin to stepping on a bug than walking in rocky terrain. The changes to both the step error threshold and the speed of the targets were to ensure participants demonstrated a learning effect as shown in our previous

work (Cates and Gordon 2022). Future work should look for other methods to create a similar learning task that transfers more easily to a real-world environment, possibly by modulating the speed of the treadmill belt. Second, by breaking the probe trials into separate trial blocks, it is possible that participants approached the probe trials as a different task altogether. Different strategies across participants may also account for the large inter-subject variability in performance during the no feedback condition. Third, the no feedback condition was especially unforgiving in terms of step error. Without visual feedback, participants would occasionally make repeated errors as they were unable to correct the previous step, leading to them being increasingly off with each successive step. These trends were also not evenly distributed across participants, with some participants consistently making repeated errors while others were able to adapt. To assess if the results were driven by these repeated errors, we conducted a post-hoc test looking at visual reliance only including the first inaccurate step (and ignoring subsequent consecutive errors). This method did not change the direction of our results, with participants still increasing their reliance on feedback visual information, though this result was no longer a significant change (p=0.44). Future studies should look to embed the limited vision conditions into a larger full vision trial. This would allow for quick probes without providing participants with the chance to change locomotor controls strategies and may therefore reduce the intersubject variability. Additionally, because the probes are short, participants would be able to correct their foot placement quickly once full vision is restored, limiting repeated errors.

Overall, the present results suggest that gaze behavior is flexible, changing both with increasing motor skill and in response to limited visual conditions. However, visual reliance does not change in the same way as visual sampling. Participants became increasingly reliant on feedback visual information while practicing the target stepping task, despite shifting their central gaze

fixation farther ahead. These opposing results may be explained by increased efficiency of visual processing or through the increased use of peripheral vision. Future research should continue to quantify both visual sampling strategies and visual reliance at different stages of locomotor learning. Such quantification may lead to a better understanding of how the role of vision to control walking changes with training.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Jordan Dembsky for his assistance in data collection, Daniel Marigold, Ph.D. for his guidance in the analysis, and all the participants who took part in the study. This research was funded by the Dr. John N. Nicholson Fellowship and the Research Training in Sensorimotor Neurorehabilitation (NIH grant T32 HD101395). Additional funding was provided by the Department of Physical Therapy and Human Movement Sciences Northwestern University.

Chapter 6: Gaze behavior during walking is unaffected after recovery from a concussion

Abstract

Concussions are one of the most common neurological injuries in the United States, causing a wide range of symptoms that can persist well past the normal recovery period. Impairments in gait are one such persistent effect commonly reported, often lasting weeks or months after the cognitive symptoms have recovered, though the cause of these persistent deficits is unknown. Here, we examine whether changes in gaze behavior, specifically where people look and how much they rely on vision, may be related to these gait deficits. Twelve individuals who were recently (<2 weeks) medically cleared from a concussion and 12 matched controls were recruited to complete two target-stepping tasks. While the results suggest that individuals post-concussion exhibit persistent deficits in oculomotor control and standing balance, participants did not exhibit significant gait deficits, nor changes in gaze behavior. While task design may have limited the present study, the results suggest that visuomotor deficits are not related to persistent gait deficits. Future research should look to confirm the results as well as explore other explanations, such as proprioceptive deficits.

Introduction

Mild traumatic brain injury, commonly referred to as a concussion, is one of the most common neurological injuries in the United States. An estimated 4 million Americans are diagnosed with a concussion every year (Harmon et al. 2013), affecting a diverse population including young adult athletes (King et al. 2014), military service members (Hoge et al. 2008; Nelson and Esty 2015), and older adults (Korhonen et al. 2013). The prevalence of concussions is concerning, with the concussion rate in older adults tripling in recent years (Korhonen et al. 2013) and 20% of high school athletes self-reporting that they have experienced at least one concussion (DePadilla et al. 2018). Additionally, suffering one concussion triples the chances of a second concussion (Cantu 2003; Guskiewicz et al. 2000) and can cause a wide range of secondary comorbidities. To effectively counteract the long-term consequences of a concussion, we must better understand the functional deficits and associated recovery. While short-term cognitive deficits following a concussion are well documented (Hallock et al. 2023), concussions also produce a range of other impairments, such as oculomotor (Parker et al. 2007), vestibular (Ellis et al. 2015), and gait (Wood et al. 2019) deficits which require further study.

Gait and balance deficits are of particular interest, as they limit daily living activities and can persist for weeks, months, or even years after the concussion has clinically resolved (Wood et al. 2019; De Beaumont et al. 2009). These altered gait patterns include a slower, more cautious gait (Buckley et al. 2016), shortened gait termination (Buckley et al. 2013), and suboptimal turning mechanics (Fino, Nussbaum, and Brolinson 2016). The persistence of these deficits likely contributes to other comorbidities common after a concussion (Howell et al. 2018). For instance, athletes with a history of concussions who have been medically cleared to return to play are over 3 times more likely to suffer a lower extremity, musculoskeletal injury than their non-concussed counterparts (Herman et al. 2017; Harada et al. 2019; Brooks et al. 2016; Nordström, Nordström, and Ekstrand 2014). Identifying potential mechanisms is necessary to prevent these secondary injuries. Eagle and colleagues (2020) proposed that deficits in visual perception and visuomotor processing may be a root cause for persistent motor control deficits following a concussion. While there are several potential aspects of visuomotor processing that could be examined, the present study focuses on: 1) altered visual fixation locations; 2) altered visual reliance; and 3) altered visuo-locomotor learning.

Visual Fixation Locations

One possible cause of persistent locomotor deficits may be that following medical clearance from a concussion, people are not sampling the necessary visual information to guide walking safely and efficiently. Following a concussion, oculomotor (eye movement) deficits are common (Murray et al. 2019; Ellis et al. 2015). Impairments in how the eyes can move may constrain what visual information a person collects by limiting where they are able to look. Limitations in where people can look will limit what visual information they are able to collect, possibly depriving people of information necessary for motor control. Experimentally, limiting visual information among individuals with a concussion negatively affects standing balance (Ellis et al. 2015), although this phenomenon has not been investigated during gait. When we examine other populations with gait impairments, even if there are no oculomotor deficits present, we find altered visual fixation locations. For instance, older adults tend to focus their gaze closer to themselves while maintaining a slower, more cautious gait and exhibiting poor standing and walking balance (Graham John Chapman and Hollands 2010; Young and Hollands 2012; Zietz and Hollands 2009; Jeka et al. 2006). People with coordination disorders similarly emphasize fixating on the current step rather than planning for future actions (Warlop et al. 2020) while people post-stroke exhibit altered visuomotor coordination during turning (Lamontagne et al. 2010). Individuals post-concussion exhibit the same changes in their gait pattern as other gaitdeficient populations. Therefore, the present study will examine whether visual sampling behavior is altered following medical clearance from a concussion.

Visual Processing and Reliance

Even if people who have recovered from a concussion are able to look at the necessary visual areas and collect the associated visual information, they may still struggle with visual processing. Many reported gait deficits following a concussion are only apparent during complex walking, such as when walking in cognitively demanding environments or under additional cognitive load (Fino et al. 2018; Lee, Sullivan, and Schneiders 2013). For instance, dual-task interference, where people must concurrently perform a cognitive task while walking, often leads to the expression of a variety of gait deficits among individuals post-concussion when compared to people who have never had a concussion (Fino et al. 2018). Similarly, when stepping over an obstacle (to create a complex environment), people with a concussion walk slower and display greater landing displacement than matched controls (Catena, van Donkelaar, and Chou 2007). With complex environments (e.g. uneven ground) and additional cognitive load (e.g. as talking with someone while walking) common in daily life, we are always executing complex walking. In people post-concussion, visual processing may therefore be constantly marginalized for other cognitive processes. Marginalizing visual processing may have an even larger effect on gait among individuals post-concussion due to an increased visual reliance. Other populations, such as older adults (Timmis and Buckley 2012) and people with neurological disorders (Selgrade et al. 2020; Lamontagne, Paquette, and Fung 2007) display an increased reliance on visual information during walking. If individuals post-concussion combine this same increased reliance on visual information with decreasing cognitive resources dedicated to processing visual information, then they are likely to struggle to maintain a safe and efficient gait pattern. Thus, it is possible that people post-concussion collect the necessary visual information to perform

walking tasks in complex environments, but do not process the information correctly, leading to changes in gait.

Visuo-Locomotor Learning

Finally, people post-concussion may have motor learning impairments, limiting their ability to adapt to changing environmental demands during walking. Preliminary evidence suggests motor learning deficits are present during the acute stages of a concussion (De Beaumont et al. 2009; Bourassa et al. 2021) and that these deficits become more pronounced with repeated concussions (Cantarero et al. 2020). Stable walking demands ongoing adaptation of the natural gait pattern to meet changing tasks and environmental demands (Hak et al. 2013). While the reported motor learning deficits are in reaching tasks, should they apply to locomotor learning, they could lead to a more cautious locomotor strategy. Therefore, people post-concussion may recover the ability to visually control walking similar to before the concussion (including normal visual sampling and reliance) but are unable to adapt their gait patterns in response to ever-changing environmental demands.

The Present Study

The present study, therefore, aims to investigate whether altered visual fixation locations, visual reliance, and/or visuo-locomotor learning could be a potential mechanism behind the persistent gait deficits in people post-concussion. Specifically, participants performed a precision stepping task while their gaze was monitored (Cates and Gordon 2022). Visual fixation distance was monitored throughout to assess if people post-concussion looked at the same visual areas. Visual reliance was assessed for both feedback and feedforward visual fixations, similar to previous work in healthy young adults (Chapter 5) and older adults (G. J. Chapman and Hollands 2006;

Kunimune and Okada 2017; Marigold and Patla 2008). Finally, their visuo-locomotor learning ability was quantified as the rate of change in step accuracy and fixation distance with practice (Cates and Gordon 2022). We hypothesized that individuals who recently recovered from a concussion would fixate closer to themselves and display a greater reliance on visual information to perform the task. We also expected individuals to have reduced visuo-locomotor learning following a concussion, indicative of deficits in their ability to adapt their gait pattern to meet environmental demands.

Methods

Participants

12 individuals less than 2 weeks post medical clearance from their concussion and 12 matched controls were recruited for the present study (table 1). Medical clearance was defined as all symptoms returning to baseline, as determined by a clinician in the Sports Medicine Department of the Northwestern Medicine Student Health Services. Control participants were matched on age (+/- 2 years), sex, and athletic level (not an athlete, intramural athlete, or club sport athlete). All participants completed a written informed consent as approved by the Northwestern University Institutional Review Board.

Table 6-1: Demographic information

	Individuals Post Concussion	Matched Controls
Ν	12	12
Age (mean)	21.9 +/- 4	22.3 +/-3.9
sex (No. Women)	10	10
Height (mean cm)	167 +/- 8	163 +/- 6
Step length (mean cm)	50 +/- 4	48 +/- 2
Days to medical clearance (mean)	34.5	N/A

Experimental Setup

Stepping Task: Participants were asked to walk on a treadmill and step on a series of projected targets that were moving towards them. All walking occurred on an oversized treadmill (3m x 1.5m, TuffTread, USA). A static board was placed level with the front of the treadmill belt to extend the target viewing space to 4m x 1.5m (board + treadmill belt). Stepping targets (7cm x 15 cm) were projected on the treadmill belt surface using an overhead projector (Hitachi, Japan).

Motion Capture: We collected 3D kinematic data during walking to quantify foot and head movement. Specifically, we used a 12-camera optical motion capture system operating at 100 Hz (Qualisys, Gothenburg, Sweden) to collect walking kinematics and quantify real-time stepping behavior. We placed thirteen passive motion capture markers on the participant. Three noncollinear markers on the head-mounted eye tracker determined the headset viewing plane relative to the lab reference plane. The other 10 markers tracked the 2nd, 3rd, and 5th metatarsals, the lateral malleolus, and the calcaneus of each foot to determine foot locations during gait.

Eye Tracking: Pupil locations were tracked throughout the study to determine fixation locations. To capture fixation location, participants wore a head-mounted eye tracker (Pupil Core eye tracker, Pupil Labs, UK). The headset uses IR reflection to determine the 2D pupil location of each eye at 200 Hz, which, following a calibration procedure, we transformed into gaze vectors. 2 different calibration processes were used, one for oculomotor testing with participants fixating on a laptop screen (see oculomotor testing below for details) and another for the visuo-locomotor testing where participants were fixating on the treadmill surface (see eye tracking data in Data Analysis and Processing for details).

Baseline Testing

To ensure that individuals post-concussion had recovered according to the clinical definitions and to test for any underlying deficits which may impact performance, we conducted three baseline tests to check oculomotor, balance, and step reaction time, respectively.

Oculomotor Testing

To assess baseline oculomotor ability and check for any persistent oculomotor deficits following recovery, we performed a computerized oculomotor test. The test was based on the King Devick Test (Galetta et al. 2011, Rizzo et al. 2016) which, when combined with eye tracking, has been shown to identify oculomotor deficits in individuals with a concussion. In our custom version, participants read a series of numbers presented on a 13.5" laptop screen (resolution 3000x2000)



Figure 6-1: Screenshots of the 4 test cards used in the oculomotor testing. The task became increasingly difficult through the removal of guidelines and reduction of spacing. Labels for each card have been added and were not displayed to the participant.

as quickly and accurately as they could. Participants sat directly in front of the laptop ~0.6 m from the screen at all times. All participants read the same cards displayed on the screen (see Figure 6-1). Participants were asked to read each card out loud "as quickly and accurately as possible, with accuracy more important than speed". Participants progressed through 4 cards in order, a practice, and 3 trial cards, then repeated the set of 4 cards (for 8 total cards shown). The cards were displayed on the laptop screen using a custom Python script. Participant reaction time and verbal reading of the cards were recorded using the same Python script. A head-mounted eye tracker was used to record eye movements during the task.

Total performance time, number of errors, and number of fixations made during each trial card were used as the outcome measures. To determine the number of errors made during each trial of the oculomotor testing, a custom Python (v3.8) script was used to process the auditory recording. The speech recognition Python package (Zhang 2017) was used to generate a transcript of each trial. The transcript was then cleaned to remove any extra pauses and letters and to convert all numbers to numerals (e.g., convert "one" to "1"). The transcript was then compared to the ideal transcript and checked for errors performed by the participant including missing numbers, extra numbers, and repeated numbers. To determine the number of fixations, fixation data was exported using the Pupil Player software (v3.5.1, Pupil Labs, UK) based on the calibration done on the laptop and the fixation detector plugin. The average calibrated accuracy was $1.68^{\circ} \pm$ 0.79°. Fixations were determined with a maximum dispersion was 1.5° and a duration between 80 and 220 ms. Three linear mixed models (using the statsmodels package and a custom Python script) were performed for total performance time, the number of fixations, and the number of errors, respectively. Each model included the experimental group, the trial card, and the interaction between the two as fixed effects and the subject as a random effect.

Modified Clinical Test of Sensory Integration and Balance

The modified clinical test of sensory integration and balance (m-CTSIB) was used to assess baseline balance ability (Moran et al. 2020). Participants completed a total of eight standing trials on top of a force plate (AMTI, Watertown, MA), two trials with eyes open on flat ground, two trials with eyes closed on flat ground, two trials with eyes open while standing on destabilizing foam, and two trials with eyes closed while standing on destabilizing foam. Participants were asked to stand still for 30 seconds with their feet together, their ankles together, and their arms at their sides.

The center of pressure was sampled at 1000 Hz using the force plate and fed into a custom Python (v3.8) script. The center of pressure was mean aligned (such that the new origin was at the mean x and y location of the raw recording). The recording was then clipped to include 20 seconds of recording (removing the initial stabilization period) during which the participant was tasked with maintaining a still stance. The stabilogram python package (Quijoux et al. 2021) was then used to compute the area of the 95% confidence ellipse of sway for each trial of each subject. A linear mixed model was performed with visual condition (eyes open or closed), surface (standing on flat ground or foam), experimental group, and all their interactions as fixed effects with the subject as a random effect. A significant effect of the experimental group would suggest a difference between individuals post-concussion and matched controls, while the interaction effects may speak to specific sensory deficits. Significant effects of visual condition and surface are expected as the task is designed manipulate these factors to increase the difficulty of standing still. Should an interaction effect be found, a pairwise Tukey test will be used to compare the experimental groups across the four conditions.

Step Reaction Time



Figure 6-2: Top-down view of the step reaction task. Targets would appear one at a time in one of the 4 locations. Participants had to step with their left foot for targets 1 and 2, and their right foot for targets 3 and 4. Not to scale.

To measure step reaction time, participants stood on flat ground with feet shoulder width apart (Figure 6-2). Stationary projected targets (Circles, 10 cm radius) would appear on the ground in one of four locations (side left, forward left, forward right, and side right) and participants were asked to step on the target as quickly as possible with the nearest foot before returning to the home position. Participants completed a total of 20 step trials. Because this test was added partway through data collection, only 5 matched pairs completed the step reaction time test (5 individuals post-concussion and their 5 matched controls).

The movement start time was used as the primary outcome measure, defined as the time between when a stepping target appeared and when the person began their movement. This was calculated algorithmically using a custom Python script and motion capture data based on the start of the peak associated with the height of the calcaneus marker during the movement. A participant's average reaction time was computed across all trials. A linear mixed model was then performed with the experimental group as the fixed effect and the subject as the random effect.

Target Stepping Tasks

To assess participant gaze behavior during walking, participants completed multiple versions of a target stepping task. The standard version is described first, followed by the modifications and their purposes.

Standard Stepping Task: Testing Visual Fixation Location

The standard stepping task consisted of participants walking on the treadmill (0.9m/s) while stepping targets were projected onto the treadmill surface. Stepping targets were presented with a set step width (matched to the participant's preferred step width) and a variable step length (either 80% of preferred step length, preferred step length, or 120% of preferred step length). Participants were instructed to step on the projected targets as accurately as possible and received auditory feedback (an error noise) when the center of the foot was greater than 0.2 m from the center of the target at heel strike. The speed, visibility, and order of the targets were manipulated as described below depending on the specific task.

Across both modified versions, fixation distance was monitored and compared to assess if individuals post-concussion fixate at the same locations as matched controls. Fixation distance was defined as the Euclidean distance along the treadmill plane between the scene camera on the eye tracker and the gaze fixation point. This distance was normalized based on each participant's step length such that distance is reported as the number of steps ahead a participant fixates. Average fixation distance was computed across all the embedded and sequenced trials, respectively. Two linear mixed models (one for embedded trials and one for sequenced trials) were used to assess if fixation distance (the outcome measure) significantly differed based on the experimental group (fixed effect) or subject (random effect).

Embedded Stepping Task: Testing Visual Reliance



Figure 6-3: A top-down visualizations showing a person walking on the treadmill during each of the 3 visual conditions. Note depiction is not to scale.

During the embedded stepping task, targets were projected in a random order of step lengths with a target speed that matched the speed of the treadmill. The visibility of the targets was manipulated throughout each trial block. In each trial block of 120 steps, participants completed four periods of limited vision, two with no feedback and two with no feedforward visual information (Figure 6-3). The limited vision periods lasted for six consecutive steps and were interspersed with 15-20 full vision targets in between (jittered to limit anticipatory effects). The no-feedback condition hid targets that were less than 1.5 steps ahead of the participant, while the no-feedforward condition hid targets that were greater than 1.5 steps ahead of the participant (Figure 6.3). The cutoff of 1.5 steps ahead was personalized to each participant based on their preferred step length. 1.5 steps were chosen as the dividing line based on previous literature separating visual information related to the current action (feedback) vs visual information for planning future actions (feedforward) (Patla 2003). Participants were still instructed to step on the target (or where the target would be in the no-feedback condition) and received the same auditory feedback as during the standard stepping task. Finally, the targets always moved in a

straight line and maintained a constant speed, regardless of whether they were visible to the participant or not.

Participant step error, defined as the Euclidean distance between the center of the foot and the center of the target on the plane of the treadmill at heel strike, was monitored. Visual reliance was then calculated by subtracting step error during the limited vision conditions from the full vision condition during each embedded trial block. A large difference between the visual conditions connotes a large reliance on the respective visual information. Two linear mixed models were used to assess if feedback or feedforward visual reliance (the outcome measures, respectively) significantly differed based on the experimental group (the fixed effect) or subject (the random effect).

Sequenced Stepping Task: Testing Visuo-Locomotor Learning

During the sequenced stepping task, the target projections were always visible. To help test locomotor learning, the targets were projected in a 6-step repeating pattern of step lengths, specifically 100%-80%-120%-80%-100%-120%. With practice of a similar 6-step pattern, healthy adults will improve their step accuracy and increase their fixation distance (Cates and Gordon 2022; Choi, Bouyer, and Nielsen 2015). The targets were also projected at twice the speed of the treadmill in the sequenced stepping task to limit ceiling effects (Cates and Gordon 2022). Participants received the same instructions and feedback as in the standard stepping task and were made aware that the targets would be faster than the treadmill but were unaware of the repeating pattern.

Both the change in step accuracy and fixation distance over time were considered as evidence of visuo-locomotor learning, with the rate of these changes compared between experimental groups.

Two mixed linear models were performed, one with step error and one with fixation distance as the outcome measures. Each model had the experimental group, trial block number, and the interaction between the experimental group and trial block number as fixed effects, and the subject as the random effect. A significant interaction effect would suggest altered visuolocomotor learning. A significant effect of the trial block is expected based on previously reported effects on how practice affects step error and fixation distance (Cates and Gordon 2022) while a significant effect of the experimental group would suggest either persistent gait deficits (for step error) and support the fixation distance results (for fixation distance).

Experimental Protocol

Following informed consent and demographic information collection, participants completed the m-CTSIB to assess balance. The eye tracker was then set up and calibrated to the laptop screen for oculomotor testing. This calibration was a standard 5-point calibration provided by the Pupil Capture software (v3.5.1) with targets appearing in the center and each of the 4 corners of the screen. Participants then completed the oculomotor testing before moving to the treadmill. A second eye-tracking calibration was then performed with participants fixating on a series of 40 bullseye-style targets projected onto the treadmill at various locations. An additional standing trial was then recorded with motion capture to determine the flatfoot height of the calcaneus markers. We defined real-time heel strike (used to provide auditory feedback) as the moment when the calcaneus marker dropped within 5mm of the participant's flatfoot height. Participants also completed a 2-minute walking trial on the treadmill (no targets) to determine their preferred step length and step width at the trial speed (0.9 m/s for all participants and all trials) and define the spacing of the targets during the experimental trials. Participants then completed the step reaction time task with normalized step lengths.

Following the completion of the baseline and calibration procedures, participants completed 10 trial blocks of the embedded stepping task, received a self-paced break of at least 5 minutes, and then completed 10 trial blocks of the sequenced stepping task. Each trial block consisted of a total of 120 stepping targets. Participants were also given the option of additional self-paced breaks between any trial blocks; however, most participants did not take any additional breaks. To maintain eye tracking calibration, participants were not allowed to remove or adjust the eye tracker during any of the breaks, additionally, single target calibration checks were performed every 5 trial blocks and a complete second eye tracking calibration was performed after the entire task to help control for any drift.

Data Analysis and Processing

Motion Capture Data: Following manual marker correction in Qualisys Track Manager software, motion capture data was exported and processed through a custom Python (v3.8) script. Missing marker data (less than 10% of individual marker data) was interpolated using a cubic interpolation through the pandas Python package. After interpolation, the entire trajectory was passed through a 6 Hz low pass filter (Winter, Sidwall, and Hobson 1974).

Eye Tracking Data: For the visuo-locomotor testing, post hoc calibration and gaze mapping were done using the Pupil Player software (v3.5.1, Pupil Labs, UK) before being exported to a custom Python script. The average calibrated accuracy was $1.75^{\circ} \pm 0.9^{\circ}$. The x and y position of each pupil and the normalized gaze position on the visual plane were filtered in the following ways. First, the most extreme values (top and bottom 5%) were masked to remove mischaracterizations of the pupils. The data were then interpolated to the nearest point to fill in both the masked data and any missing data from the recording. A median filter with a window size of 10 samples was

then applied. Due to the smooth pursuit nature of the eye movements, saccades were defined as any time an eye's pupil position changed between aligned frames (100 Hz) more than 0.15 mm (~70 deg/sec) in the x-direction, or more than 0.3 mm (~140 deg/sec) in the y-direction. Additionally, any gaze point with less than 60% confidence (as determined by the Pupil Player software) was discarded. To determine the fixation point, we followed the methodology described by Matthis and colleagues (Matthis, Yates, and Hayhoe 2018) which we have previously reported (Cates and Gordon 2022). Representative data is available in Figure 6-4 *Projected target locations:* The location of the projected stepping targets was determined by linearly mapping the projection space into the motion capture system space. To ensure data



Figure 6-4: A. Diagram of the target stepping task. Stepping targets (in yellow) were projected onto the treadmill, Gaze point (Orange Dot) was calculated based on the eye tracking data. Fixation distance was defined as the distance between the head and the gaze point. Blue and Red diamonds are the calcaneus markers. Shapes and colors match scatterplot in B. B. Scatterplots showing the raw fixation data. Time is on the x axis and Anterior-Posterior distance from the participants head is on the y axis. The yellow squares are the stepping targets. The diamonds are the left (blue) and right (green) heel markers. The orange dots are individual gaze points. The diagram in A is a rough estimation of what is happening at the time point marked by the vertical line in B.

quality, a unique linear mapping was created for each participant using a projection calibration recording with a consistent static projected grid.

Data Alignment: Data between the target locations and motion capture during the step reaction time and target stepping tasks were sampled at 100 Hz. They were aligned using the motion capture system frame numbers which were streamed in real-time to the MATLAB program recording and projecting the targets. Gaze data were sampled at 200Hz and aligned to the motion capture system by aligning the nearest timestamps. Gaze data was manually clipped for the oculomotor testing to include individual trials.

Correlations: To test for confounding variables that may affect the outcome measures and to provide insights for future investigations, Pearson correlations were computed with demographics (Days to Recover), balance testing (only during eyes closed, on foam condition and oculomotor (total time and number of fixations) as the predictors and step error as the predicted variable.. A Bonferroni correction was used to control for multiple comparison testing (4 comparisons made with corrected p values reported).

Results

Visual Fixation Location: Individuals post-concussion look at the same place as

matched controls



Figure 6-5: Box plots of the fixation distance during the embedded stepping task trial blocks (A) or the sequenced stepping task trial blocks (B). Data points represent individual trial blocks for each participant (10 points per participant in each graph).

To examine whether people recently medically cleared from a concussion exhibited altered visual fixation locations, two linear mixed models were performed. We found no significant differences in fixation distance between the experimental groups during the embedded trials (p=0.9, Figure 6-5A) nor the sequenced trials (p=0.8, Figure 6-5B).



matched controls

Figure 6-6: Boxplots of feedback (A) and feedforward (B) visual reliance. Individual points represent single trial block performance from each trial block of each participant (ten per participant)

To examine whether people post-concussion exhibited altered visual reliance, two mixed linear

models were performed. There were no significant fixed effects for the experimental group,

neither for Feedback Reliance (p=0.67, Figure 6-6A) nor Feedforward Reliance (p=0.33, Figure 6-6B).

Visuo-locomotor learning: Individuals post-concussion decreased their step error and increased their fixation distance similarly to matched controls



Figure 6-7: Changes in step error (A) and fixation distance (B) across trial blocks. We see both groups consistently decreased their step error and increased their fixation distance with practice. Error bars represent standard error for each trial block.

During the sequenced stepping trials, there was a significant effect of trial number, on both step error (p<0.001, Figure 6-7A) and fixation distance (p = 0.002, Figure 6-7B). However, there was no significant effect of the experimental group on step error (p=0.82) or fixation distance (p=0.77), in line with the visual fixation location results above. When examining visuolocomotor learning, there were no significant interaction effects between step error (p=0.1) or fixation distance (p=0.88). Though individuals post-concussion improved their step error more, and for longer, than matched controls.



cognitive load.

Figure 6-8: A. Mean and Standard Error of the number of fixations performed during the oculomotor testing. We see individuals post-concussion (purple) made significantly more errors than matched controls (gray). Individual data points represent individual trial data per participant (2 per participant). B. Mean and Standard Error of the 95% confidence ellipse of sway area during the eyes closed and standing on foam condition. We see significantly larger area of sway (worse balance) among individuals post-concussion. Data points represent individual trials per participant (two per participant). C. Mean and Standard Error of step reaction time. We see no significant difference between the two groups. Individual datapoints represent the average of all step reaction trials per participant (one per participant).

We found significant differences between the experimental conditions for both oculomotor testing (Figure 6-8A) and balance testing (Figure 6-8B), but not for step reaction time (Figure 6-8C).

For oculomotor testing, there was a significant difference between groups for the number of fixations (p=0.03, Figure 6-8A) but not for total performance time (p=0.09) or number of errors (p=0.83). Individuals post-concussion took longer on average to complete each trial and made significantly more fixations to complete the task. A ceiling effect may have limited the results in the number of errors, as participants in both groups rarely made any errors. There were no significant interaction effects, suggesting that the increased difficulty of the trial cards did not differentially impact individuals post-concussion.

For balance testing, there were significant interaction effects between the experimental group and visual condition (p=0.004) and the experimental group and surface (p=0.003). A pairwise Tukey test found a significant difference between groups only during the eyes closed, standing on foam condition (p=0.046, Figure 6-8B), with individuals post-concussion exhibiting worse balance in this condition.

For the step reaction time, there was not a significant effect of the experimental group on movement start time (p=0.66, Figure 6-8C). However, the results are limited by a smaller sample size (only 5 matched pairs of participants).

Correlations: Stepping performance was related to days to recover.



Figure 6-9: Regression plot of days to recover predicting step error. Only individuals post-concussion are included (purple). Gray shading represents standard deviation of the regression. Data points represent the average of all relevant trials for each participant (one per participant).

When stepping performance was correlated with demographic and baseline measures, we found a significant correlation between days to recover and step error ($R^2=0.55$, p corrected = 0.02). There were no significant correlations for oculomotor, balance, or step reaction time performance (p corrected > 0.5 in all cases).

Discussion

The present study examined whether visuomotor deficits are an underlying cause of the persistent gait deficits seen after medical clearance from a concussion (Wood et al. 2019; De Beaumont et al. 2009; Eagle et al. 2020). While our findings suggest that some deficits can

persist beyond symptom recovery, we did not find evidence to support any of our three hypotheses. Specifically, individuals post-concussion did not exhibit altered visual fixation locations, altered visual reliance, or altered visuo-locomotor learning.

Visual Fixation Locations

Individuals who recently recovered from a concussion did not exhibit differences in where they looked when compared to matched controls. The finding were consistent during the embedded trials and sequenced trials. Therefore, the present study suggests that individuals post-concussion are collecting similar visual information to their non-concussed counterparts during a precision stepping task. Surprisingly, they did exhibit different oculomotor performance during the baseline testing. While oculomotor deficits should limit the ability of people to move their eyes to the necessary location, it may be that the visual fixation results were limited by task difficulty. Many of the deficits described in individuals post-concussion are only exhibited under cognitive load. In the present study, increasing cognitive load during oculomotor testing increased the difference between experimental groups. The target stepping task may not have been difficult enough to elicit differences in visual fixation locations. Future research should consider increasing the difficulty of the stepping task. Adding a dual task during walking has been shown to shift visual sampling away from the walking path and force greater sampling of feedforward visual information (Muller et al. 2023). Adding a similar dual task to the present study may add the cognitive load needed to elicit significant differences between groups.

Visual Processing and Reliance

When visual processing was examined by quantifying how much individuals rely on vision to guide their walking, we again found no significant differences between groups. Our results

suggest that individuals post-concussion are processing the visual information they collect similarly to their non-concussed counterparts. However, the visual reliance exhibited by both groups here significantly differed from previous research in healthy adults (Chapter 5). Unlike the previous study where people significantly relied on both feedback and feedforward visual information, neither individuals post-concussion nor matched controls exhibited significant visual reliance during walking. This may be due to task design. Unlike the previous study, we embedded the visual probes into larger full-vision trial blocks to reduce the repeated errors previously reported. We also slowed the speed of the targets to avoid the task being too difficult for individuals post-concussion and to create a more generalizable situation. However, the effect of these changes in the present study may have made the stepping task too easy and led to a ceiling effect such that our protocol may not have had the sensitivity to quantify visual reliance. Therefore, future research should again look to make the task more difficult, by increasing the target speed, increasing the length of the probes, or introducing a dual task.

Visuo-Locomotor Learning

Finally, when visuo-locomotor learning was examined, we again found no significant deficits among individuals post-concussion. Both groups significantly decreased their step error and increased their fixation distance with practice, replicating previous findings from this lab (Cates and Gordon 2022). While both groups changed their step error and fixation distance, there were no detectable deficits in visuo-locomotor learning among individuals post-concussion. Individuals post-concussion actually decreased their step error significantly more than their matched controls, suggesting a possible enhancement to locomotor learning. Taken together, there is no evidence to suggest a visuo-locomotor learning deficit following a concussion.

Participant Characteristics

Participant characteristics may have affected the results of the present study. Our individuals post-concussion took longer than expected to recover, with a mean recovery time of 34.5 days. This is over twice as long as the typically reported timeline of about two weeks (McCrea et al. 2013). The time to recover was significantly correlated with stepping performance, suggesting that more significant injuries may have led to worse performance. Similar correlations between gait deficits and time to recover have been reported during the acute stages of the concussion (Millichap, 2015). Therefore, our results suggest that time to recover should be examined in future studies as a possible mitigating factor for post-recovery symptoms.

Future Directions: Proprioception

While future research is needed to confirm the results of the present study, our findings suggest that gaze behavior is not an underlying mechanism behind persistent gait deficits. While are a number of other possible mechanisms beyond visual deficits, such as motor execution or vestibular deficits, which may be behind the persistent gait deficits, we contend that deficits in proprioception are the next likely candidate to be investigated. Similar to vision, proprioception is a core sensory system for informing and controlling walking (Roden-Reynolds et al. 2015) and has been shown to be disrupted during the acute stages of a concussion (McPherson et al. 2019; Subbian et al. 2016). If these proprioceptive deficits persist beyond return to play designation, they could disrupt locomotor control strategies. Training proprioception can also improve motor control in healthy athletes (de Vasconcelos, Cini, and Lima 2020) and improve rehabilitation in clinical populations (Wang et al. 2021; Aman et al. 2014). Future research should therefore

explore whether there are persistent proprioception deficits during walking to better understand the causes of persistent gait deficits.

Conclusions

The present study investigated whether the persistent gait deficits exhibited by people postconcussion are a result of visuo-locomotor deficits. Specifically, we examined if people postconcussion (< 2 weeks post symptoms returning to baseline) display altered visual fixation locations, visual reliance, or altered visuo-locomotor learning. We did not find evidence for any of the three hypotheses. While additional research is needed to ensure enough cognitive load was delivered to elicit post-concussion deficits, future research should also look for alternative explanations, such as proprioceptive deficits, which may underlie the persistent gait deficits.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Brian Vesci and Matt Nerrie for their help with recruitment and input in study design. This research was funded by the Dr. John N. Nicholson Fellowship, the Research Training in Sensorimotor Neurorehabilitation (NIH grant T32 HD101395), and The American College of Sports Medicine Doctoral Student Research Grant.

Chapter 7: A meta-view of gaze behavior changes

Introduction

The previous four chapters describe novel experiments exploring how gaze behavior, both where people look and how much they rely on vision, changes with motor learning or following a concussion. This chapter will take a meta-analytical approach to combine the results of these four chapters. Meta-analyses are often used to increase the statistical power and the precision of a specific result. They also can help identify patterns and relationships that may not be apparent in individual studies (Goh et al. 2016), developing new theories or strengthening existing ones. The present chapter will therefore combine the results of the four studies with the goals to:

- 1. Strengthen the conclusions on how fixation distance changes with locomotor learning.
- 2. Provide broader context for how visual reliance changes with locomotor learning.
- 3. Identify how different study designs may alter how people adapt their gaze behavior.

Locomotor learning and fixation distance

Due to the similarities in the methodologies between chapters 4, 5, and 6; the step error and fixation distance results can be directly compared without the need for transforming the original data. All studies utilized similar precision stepping tasks, where participants had to walk on the treadmill and accurately step on projected targets. I will focus on trials where the targets were fully visible and projected at 2x the speed of the treadmill. I will also split the experimental groups in Chapter 6, treating individuals post-concussion and their matched controls as separate studies for the purposes of this chapter. Four studies are included, specifically: Chapter 4 (as is),
Chapter 5 (only full vision trials), Chapter 6 (only sequenced trials, individuals post-concussion), and Chapter 6 (only sequenced trials, matched control participants).

Step Error exhibit similar learning rates across all studies



Figure 7-1: Line plots of the 4 experimental groups showing group mean and standard error of step error per trial block. We see all groups decrease their step error with practice.

When step error is plotted against trial block for each of the different studies, we can see some immediate similarities and differences (Figure 7-1). Using a mixed linear model with step error as the outcome measure; trial block, study, and their interaction as fixed effects; and subject as the random effect; I find a significant effect of trial block, but no significant effect of study or the interaction effect. Unsurprisingly, there is a significant effect of trial block (p<0.001) as participants did improve their stepping performance with practice (~0.4 cm per trial block). There was no significant effect of study group, with the greatest difference in average step error occurring between the matched control group from Chapter 6 and the participants of Chapter 4

(p=0.07). While study design likely created the variation in mean performance and learning rates, the overall trend is consistent and supports that target stepping is a trainable skill.

Despite the differences in study design, there was a consistent learning rate exhibited across all studies as evidenced by the significant effect of trial block and the lack of an interaction effect between study group and trial block. When the differences in study design are compared, the lack of significant differences in learning rates suggest two additional conclusions discussed below:

- 1. Sequence learning does not play a significant role in learning the target stepping task.
- 2. Individuals post-concussion do not exhibit reduced locomotor learning.

Sequence learning, or the process by which the brain learns to anticipate a repeating pattern of stimuli or responses, is well described in the motor learning literature (see Clegg, DiGirolamo and Keele 1998 or Babu 2020 for a review). Interestingly, while it is frequently observed in upper limb motor learning and was present in the finger coordination task presented in Chapter 3, it is rarely studied in the lower limb. While Choi and colleagues (Choi et al. 2015) demonstrated sequence learning in a target stepping task, none of the present locomotor studies found a sequence effect. Unlike Chapters 4 and 6, Chapter 5 did not use a repeating 6-step sequence of step lengths and instead presented the different step lengths in a random order. Similar to the lack of an effect of the catch trial described in Chapter 4, the lack of a different rate in Chapter 5 suggests that sequence learning mechanisms did not enhance motor learning when available. Overall, the combined results suggest that sequence learning does not play a major role in learning this target stepping task.

The lack of a difference in motor learning between individuals post-concussion and the other 3 groups also provides additional support for the lack of motor learning deficits following a concussion. As discussed in Chapter 6, preliminary evidence suggested that motor learning may be impaired following a concussion. I did not find any evidence of a motor learning deficit in Chapter 6, and the lack of differences in learning rates compared to the other studies of healthy young adults lends additional support for this conclusion.

Despite differences in study design, fixation distance increases with practice



Figure 7-2: Line plots of the 4 experimental groups showing group mean and standard error for fixation distance per trial block. We see a general increase in fixation distance with practice, though with different amounts per group.

When we examine fixation distance across time, we can see that fixation distance increases with practice (Figure 7.2). We again used a linear mixed model with fixation distance as the outcome measure; trial block, study, and their interaction as fixed effects; and subject as a random effect.

We find significant fixed effects of both trial block and study, along with an interaction effect (p<0.001). Pairwise comparisons of the different studies revealed that the average fixation distance of Chapter 4 were significantly lower than the other 3 study groups (p<0.001) in all cases). Looking at the interaction effects, there was only a significant difference between the groups from Chapter 4 and Chapter 5, with participants in Chapter 4 increasing their fixation distance more over the course of the training period. As discussed in Chapter 5, this is likely a result of study design, with the intermittent probe trials significantly reducing the rate of change in fixation distance, possibly due to reduced confidence. Overall, the results support the initial findings of Chapter 4, that people increase their fixation distance as they improve at a novel walking task.

Motor learning and visual reliance

To aggregate the results of motor learning on visual reliance, I looked at the results of Chapters 3, 5, and 6. Because the measurement of visual reliance is task specific, the data from these chapters was transformed in order to compare the results. Cohen's d effect sizes were calculated for the change in feedback and feedforward visual reliance with practice. For Chapters 3 and 5, I compared probe trial blocks from baseline and post training to calculate their effect sizes. For Chapter 6, to create a larger sample of probe trials, I averaged the visual reliance of the first 3 embedded trial blocks to create a baseline reliance, and the last 3 embedded trial blocks to create a post reliance. These baseline and post reliance measures were then compared to calculate the effect sizes for Chapter 6. As with step error and fixation distance, I treated individuals post-concussion and their matched controls as separate study groups for this analysis. The calculated Cohen's d effect sizes and their 95% confidence intervals were then combined using a random

effects model and weighted based on sample size to create a combined effect (for a description of fixed vs random effects models in meta-analyses, see Dettori et al. 2022). This new, combined effect is a better estimate of how motor learning impacts visual reliance across tasks.

Changes in feedback and feedforward visual reliance are task and individual dependent



Figure 7-3: Forest plots of feedback (left) and feedforward (right) visual reliance changes. Positive numbers indicate an increase in reliance after training, negative numbers represent a decrease in reliance. size of the dot represents the weight of the study in the combined effect size while error bars are 95% confidence intervals for the effect size.

When we plot the feedback and feedforward reliance effect sizes, we find motor learning does not significantly reduce feedback nor feedforward visual reliance, though inter-study variance limits the overall effect (Figure 7-3). The largest change in visual reliance came from Chapter 3 with the finger coordination task. There was a significant reduction in both feedback and feedforward visual information in this study, unlike in the locomotor learning tasks. The result

highlights the differences between a typing task and a walking task from a motor control standpoint and suggests typing may be less visually dependent, especially after some practice.

When we focus on the locomotor learning tasks, there is still a lot of variation between the results of Chapter 5 and Chapter 6. Task design may explain this difference with Chapter 6 utilizing shorter, embedded probes compared to Chapter 5. The long probe periods in Chapter 5 may have led to repeated errors (see Limitations in Chapter 5) which may have inflated the visual reliance scores. In contrast, the slower speed of the targets and the short probes may have deflated the visual reliance scores of Chapter 6, as participants in either group exhibited little reliance throughout the study. Future research is likely needed to better understand how feedback and feedforward visual reliance change with practice, particularly in relation to locomotor practice.

Conclusion

In general, the results of the meta-analysis presented here agree that fixation distance increases and step error decreases with practice, though there is not a consistent effect of practice on visual reliance. The change in fixation distance with practice provides additional detail into the role of gaze behavior throughout the motor learning process. While there are some differences evident due to the different study designs, the consistency of this result is significant, suggesting little-tono effect of sequence learning or concussion on target stepping performance and fixation distance. In contrast, the effect of motor learning on visual reliance was significantly impacted by task, with visual reliance significantly reducing during the online learning task, and either increasing (Chapter 5) or decreasing (Chapter 6) with locomotor learning. More research is therefore needed to understand what may be driving these effects to determine the true impact of locomotor learning on visual reliance.

Chapter 8: Conclusions, clinical implications, and future directions

The research presented here first explores how gaze behavior changes with motor learning and then applies this knowledge to explore one possible mechanistic theory for why people postconcussion exhibit persistent gait deficits. In this final chapter, I will begin by providing a brief summary of my work and provide alternative perspectives to consider for each conclusion. I then present the clinical implications of this work. Throughout, I discuss outstanding questions and how they may be tested in the future.

Summary of work

The research presented here describes how gaze behavior changes in response to motor and in particular locomotor, learning along with how gaze behavior is impacted following a concussion. In short, I find:

- 1. Fixation distance increases with locomotor learning.
- 2. Visual reliance may or may not change with motor learning, dependent upon both task and individual characteristics.
- Following recovery from a concussion there are no persistent gait deficits in gaze behavior during walking.

Fixation distance increases with locomotor learning

As captured in Chapter 7, fixation distance consistently increased with practice of the novel precision stepping task. While there was some variation due to task design (such as the inclusion

of visual probes or not) and participant (post-concussion or healthy young adult), there was a clear underlying trend of fixation distance increasing and step error decreasing with locomotor practice. These results are in line with previous literature in the upper body (Sailer et al. 2005, Safstrom et al. 2014, Vieluf et al. 2015, Perry et al. 2020) and extend the work on walking (Kopiske et al. 2020, Muller et al. 2023) learning tasks. Additionally, unlike previous walking studies, the changes in both locomotor performance and fixation distance persisted across trial blocks. This may have to do with the continuous nature of the task used here, such that every step a participant took within a trial block must be guided to a target. Overall, the results confirm that fixation distance increases with locomotor learning.

Alternative perspective: Fixation distance vs fixation timing

While the present work focuses on fixation distance based on gaze location, one alternative perspective is a focus on fixation timing. Rather than the emphasis being on how far ahead an individual is fixating, it may be more fruitful to focus on time. Cognitive processing time may be the main driver of where someone looks in order to ensure they have enough time to process and react to the visual information they collect. Dominguez-Zamora and colleagues (2018) have shown that the timing relationship between fixations and steps relates to stepping performance, especially in uncertain environments. The present work does present toe-off and heel-strike intervals (Chapters 4 and 5) to include some of this information. However, because all the studies presented kept the target and walking speeds constant, the time and distance are relatively equal, with any changes coming primarily from changes in step length. While many studies (including those presented here) largely control for the difference between fixation distance and timing by setting the gait speed, whether the brain is optimizing for distance or time should be considered in future investigations.

153

Changes in visual reliance from motor learning may be task dependent

Unlike changes in fixation distance, changes in visual reliance from motor learning appear to greatly depend on the task being performed. In the online learning task (Chapter 3), participants were not reliant on feedback or feedforward visual information to learn the task, and motor learning significantly reduced their reliance on visual information to perform the task. In contrast, during the locomotor learning tasks, participant visual reliance either increased (Chapter 5) or decreased (Chapter 6). While the methods of probing visual reliance during walking may explain some of this variation, the large dichotomy between the online task (Chapter 3) and the walking tasks (Chapters 5 and 6) suggests that there may be different visual reliance processes for typing vs walking.

Alternative perspective: Central vs peripheral vision

While most eye tracking is done with central vision, there is evidence that much of the visual information used to control walking is gathered through peripheral vision (Franchak and Adolph 2010, Marigold 2008). The act of walking may actually increase peripheral awareness (Benjamin et al; 2018, Cao and Handel 2019; Reiser et al. 2022), possibly by increasing pupil size (Vilotijevic and Mathot 2022). In motor learning, Perry and colleagues (2020) demonstrated an increased use of peripheral vision from practicing a reaching task. As discussed in Chapter 5, a shift towards using peripheral vision would allow central visual fixation distance to increase while reliance on feedback visual information also increases. Additionally, preliminary evidence suggests peripheral awareness is not impaired following a concussion (Jenerou et al. 2018), in

line with the lack of a difference in visual reliance found in Chapter 6. Peripheral vision should therefore be considered when examining how the role of vision changes with locomotor learning.

Next question: What role does peripheral vision play in locomotor learning?

Given that peripheral vision likely plays a significant role in guiding gait and that peripheral awareness is enhanced during walking, the shift in fixation distance may be explained by a shift from central to peripheral visual processing. Future research could look to quantify how peripheral visual processing changes with locomotor learning by scoring stepping performance only on targets that were never fixated upon (similar to the reaching study performed by Perry et al. 2020).

Gaze behavior does not change following a concussion

Surprisingly, my research found no differences in gaze behavior between individuals who recently recovered from a concussion and matched controls. The result is even more surprising given there were significant differences in balance and oculomotor performance. Counter to my hypothesis, visuo-locomotor performance was unchanged among individuals who recently recovered from a concussion. Visuomotor control may not, therefore, be disrupted in people post-concussion, at least during the target stepping tasks presented here. While a different methodology than proposed by Eagle and colleagues (2020), I still expected gaze behavior changes between the groups, especially considering both groups exhibited the characteristic increase in fixation distance with practice. Given this result, it is important to consider that vision may not be an underlying mechanism of the persistent gait deficits following a concussion.

Alternative perspective: Vision and proprioception

While Chapter 6 explores whether changes in gaze behavior are an underlying mechanism for the persistent gait deficits reported after recovery from a concussion, it is not the only possible mechanism. As discussed in Chapter 6, proprioception also plays a significant role in controlling walking (Roemmich et al. 2016) and is also disrupted during the acute stages of a concussion (Subbian et al. 2016; McPherson et al. 2019). When controlling movement, vision often acts to confirm and enhance the signal that proprioception initially provides (Roemmich et al. 2016). Similar to vision, training proprioception improves locomotor recovery among gait deficient populations (Aman et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2021) and may provide similar benefits among individuals post-concussion. Therefore, proprioception should be considered as part of future investigations into the recovery from a concussion.

Next question: What is the relationship between proprioception and vision in informing locomotor control?

While vision is the focus of the present dissertation, as discussed, proprioception presents a plausible alternative mechanism to explain the persistent gait deficits post-concussion. Therefore, exploring proprioception may provide novel insights into both the persistent gait deficits and more generally into the locomotor learning process. A future experiment may test proprioception by having individuals learn and reproduce a gait pattern (such as the sequence of step lengths used in chapters 4 and 6) without the use of visual feedback. Charting a person's ability to use proprioception alone, and the accuracy of their proprioception during walking, may help optimize future movement training and rehabilitation approaches.

Clinical Implications

There are two main clinical implications of the research presented here: Implications for gaze training as a movement rehabilitation intervention and implications for the treatment of individuals with a concussion.

Gaze training for movement rehabilitation

The present dissertation explores how gaze behavior changes with motor, and in particular locomotor, learning. The results suggest that fixation distance naturally increases as a consequence of the motor learning process, but changes in visual reliance following training are mixed. A few studies have presented preliminary evidence that gaze training may be beneficial for motor rehabilitation. Young and Hollands (2010) repeatedly reminded older adults about where to look while navigating intermittent precision steps, finding improvements in step placement with the repeated reminders. Gunn and colleagues (2019) tested a gaze training program for older adults with glaucoma, again finding improvements in step placement accuracy following training on where to look. The present dissertation provides some interesting context to these approaches. First, with adults performing a typing task, we did not find that dictating where people looked effected learning rates. Second, we found fixation distance to naturally increase with locomotor learning, suggesting that the overall practice effects of walking provide natural benefits toward shifting gaze behavior. These two results suggest that gaze training protocols may not provide the benefits they suggest, as people may naturally look where they should based on their current ability and environment. Directing this gaze does not appear to accelerate motor learning. That said, given the success of these protocols, and the mixed results on locomotor learning and visual reliance presented here, there may be a different mechanism at

play. I propose that gaze training protocols are more about training participants where to direct their attention and cognitive processing than they are about where they look. In that case, attention training may be useful for a broad range of gait-deficient populations, emphasizing what visual information to use, even if they don't need to emphasize where to look.

Implications for post-concussion care

For individuals with a concussion, there are a couple of different clinical implications. First, despite having reached the designated "recovery" point of symptoms returning to baseline as reported by a clinician, there was still evidence of balance and oculomotor dysfunction among individuals post-concussion. While standard clinical tests were used to probe these deficits, the outcome measures used were more precise than what is normally available in the clinic. Specifically, I used the center of pressure data instead of time for the balance testing and the number of fixations in addition to time and number of errors for oculomotor testing. Because the deficits were only apparent with the more precise measures, clinicians may need to incorporate more sensitive tests into their determination of return to play. Technological advancements may help this, as low-cost force plates (such as the Wii balance board) are being shown to provide reliable center of pressure evaluations of balance (Quijoux et al. 2020, Estevex-Pedraza et al. 2022). Eye-tracking technology has a longer way to go before achieving the same widespread accessibility, but automated calibration systems (such as is offered by Pupil Labs) and novel webcam-based eye tracking systems (Papoutsaki et al. 2016) suggest a future where the average clinic can conduct eye tracking based assessments.

Despite the persistent oculomotor and balance deficits found among individuals post-concussion, there were no visuo-locomotor deficits. Individuals post-concussion displayed the same fixation

distance and step error as healthy controls, including a consistent change in each with locomotor practice. Given that, it is unlikely that fixation distance differences are a cause of the persistent locomotor deficits. While there were similarly no differences in visual reliance, the variation in results between Chapter 5 and Chapter 6 make me hesitant to make any definitive claims about how a concussion may affect visual reliance. As discussed in Chapter 6, both results may have been limited due to task difficulty (Fino et al. 2018), such that the target stepping task was not complex enough to elicit gait deficits (or similarly gaze behavior impairments). That said, when both results are taken together, they do not suggest that gaze behavior changes should be incorporated into the recovery process, though further testing, especially around visual reliance is needed.

Next question: How long do balance and oculomotor deficits persist postconcussion?

Given that Chapter 6 found persistent oculomotor and balance deficits 2 weeks post-recovery from a concussion, it is important to establish a timeline for how long these deficits may persist and what the recovery process may look like. While the present research did not exhibit gait deficits, previous literature has established impairments persisting for months after the concussion (Wood et al. 2019). Understanding if the balance and oculomotor deficits similarly persist would provide additional information on the recovery process from a concussion and would help design effective therapeutic interventions to improve recovery.

Final Thoughts

The present dissertation explores how gaze behavior, specifically where people look and how much they rely on visual information, changes with motor learning and following a concussion. While there were clear changes in fixation distance following locomotor learning, changes in visual reliance and following a concussion were less clear. Together the studies characterize the process of visuomotor learning during walking and provide a strong foundation for further investigations into the accompanying sensory changes. The results also begin to narrow possible causes of the persistent gait deficits reported following recovery from a concussion. Future work should aim to characterize the role of peripheral vision in locomotor learning and the relationship between proprioception and vision in the control of walking.

References

Aksum, Karl Marius, Lukas Magnaguagno, Christian Thue Bjørndal, and Geir Jordet. 2020. "What Do Football Players Look at? An Eye-Tracking Analysis of the Visual Fixations of Players in 11 v 11 Elite Football Match Play." Frontiers in Psychology 11 (October): 562995.

Aman, Joshua E., Naveen Elangovan, I-Ling Yeh, and Jürgen Konczak. 2014. "The Effectiveness of Proprioceptive Training for Improving Motor Function: A Systematic Review." Frontiers in Human Neuroscience 8: 1075.

Anson, E., P. Agada, T. Kiemel, Y. Ivanenko, F. Lacquaniti, and J. Jeka. 2014. "Visual Control of Trunk Translation and Orientation during Locomotion." Experimental Brain Research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale 232 (6): 1941–51.

Ariani, Giacomo, Neda Kordjazi, J. Andrew Pruszynski, and Jörn Diedrichsen. 2021. "The Planning Horizon for Movement Sequences." eNeuro 8 (2). https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0085-21.2021.

Babu, Reshma. 2020. "Components of Complex Movement That Can Be Best Studied Using the Sequence Learning Paradigm." Journal of Neurophysiology 124 (3): 645–47.

Ballester, Belén Rubio, Jens Nirme, Esther Duarte, Ampar Cuxart, Susana Rodriguez, Paul Verschure, and Armin Duff. 2015. "The Visual Amplification of Goal-Oriented Movements Counteracts Acquired Non-Use in Hemiparetic Stroke Patients." Journal of Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation 12 (June): 50.

Bashford, Luke, Dmitry Kobak, Jörn Diedrichsen, and Carsten Mehring. 2022. "Motor Skill Learning Decreases Movement Variability and Increases Planning Horizon." Journal of Neurophysiology 127 (4): 995–1006.

Benjamin, Alex V., Kirstie Wailes-Newson, Anna Ma-Wyatt, Daniel H. Baker, and Alex R. Wade. 2018. "The Effect of Locomotion on Early Visual Contrast Processing in Humans." The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience 38 (12): 3050–59.

Bourassa, Marie-Eve, Gaëlle Dumel, Camille Charlebois-Plante, Jean-François Gagnon, and Louis De Beaumont. 2021. "Persistent Implicit Motor Learning Alterations Following a Mild Traumatic Brain Injury Sustained during Late Adulthood." Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology 43 (1): 105–15.

Brenton, John, Sean Müller, and Akshai Mansingh. 2016. "Discrimination of Visual Anticipation in Skilled Cricket Batsmen." Journal of Applied Sport Psychology 28 (4): 483–88.

Brooks, M. Alison, Kaitlin Peterson, Kevin Biese, Jennifer Sanfilippo, Bryan C. Heiderscheit, and David R. Bell. 2016. "Concussion Increases Odds of Sustaining a Lower Extremity Musculoskeletal Injury After Return to Play Among Collegiate Athletes." The American Journal of Sports Medicine 44 (3): 742–47.

Buckley, John G., Karen J. Heasley, Pete Twigg, and David B. Elliott. 2005. "The Effects of Blurred Vision on the Mechanics of Landing during Stepping down by the Elderly." *Gait & Posture* 21 (1): 65–71.

Buckley, John G., Michael J. MacLellan, Mark W. Tucker, Andy J. Scally, and Simon J. Bennett. 2008. "Visual Guidance of Landing Behaviour When Stepping down to a New Level." *Experimental Brain Research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale* 184 (2): 223–32.

Buckley, Thomas A., Barry A. Munkasy, Tiffen G. Tapia-Lovler, and Erik A. Wikstrom. 2013. "Altered Gait Termination Strategies Following a Concussion." Gait & Posture 38 (3): 549–51.

Buckley, Thomas A., Srikant Vallabhajosula, Jessie R. Oldham, Barry A. Munkasy, Kelsey M. Evans, David A. Krazeise, Caroline J. Ketcham, and Eric E. Hall. 2016. "Evidence of a Conservative Gait Strategy in Athletes with a History of Concussions." Journal of Sport and Health Science 5 (4): 417–23.

Cao, Liyu, and Barbara Händel. 2019. "Walking Enhances Peripheral Visual Processing in Humans." PLoS Biology 17 (10): e3000511.

Cantarero, Gabriela, Jake Choynowski, Maria St Pierre, Manuel Anaya, Matthew Statton, William Stokes, Vincent Capaldi, Vikram Chib, and Pablo Celnik. 2020. "Repeated Concussions Impair Behavioral and Neurophysiological Changes in the Motor Learning System." Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair 34 (9): 804–13.

Cantu, Robert C. 2003. "Recurrent Athletic Head Injury: Risks and When to Retire." Clinics in Sports Medicine 22 (3): 593–603, x.

Carnegie, Evelyn, David Marchant, Sam Towers, and Paul Ellison. 2020. "Beyond Visual Fixations and Gaze Behaviour. Using Pupillometry to Examine the Mechanisms in the Planning and Motor Performance of a Golf Putt." Human Movement Science 71 (June): 102622.

Catena, Robert D., Paul van Donkelaar, and Li-Shan Chou. 2007. "Cognitive Task Effects on Gait Stability Following Concussion." Experimental Brain Research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale 176 (1): 23–31.

Cates, Alexander, and Keith E. Gordon. 2022. "Don't Watch Your Step: Gaze Behavior Adapts with Practice of a Target Stepping Task." Journal of Neurophysiology 128 (3): 445–54.

Chapman, G. J., and M. A. Hollands. 2006a. "Age-Related Differences in Stepping Performance during Step Cycle-Related Removal of Vision." Experimental Brain Research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale 174 (4): 613–21.

Chapman, G. J., and M. A. Hollands. 2006b. "Evidence for a Link between Changes to Gaze Behaviour and Risk of Falling in Older Adults during Adaptive Locomotion." Gait & Posture 24 (3): 288–94.

Chapman, Graham John, and Mark Andrew Hollands. 2010. "Age-Related Differences in Visual Sampling Requirements during Adaptive Locomotion." Experimental Brain Research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale 201 (3): 467–78.

Choi JT, Jensen P, Nielsen JB. Locomotor sequence learning in visually guided walking. J Neurophysiol 115: 2014–2020, 2016.

Clegg, Benjamin A., Gregory J. DiGirolamo, and Steven W. Keele. 1998. "Sequence Learning." *Trends in Cognitive Sciences* 2 (8): 275–81.

Craik, R. L., B. A. Cozzens, and W. Freedman. 1982. "The Role of Sensory Conflict on Stair Descent Performance in Humans." *Experimental Brain Research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale* 45 (3): 399–409.

De Beaumont, Louis, Sébastien Tremblay, Judes Poirier, Maryse Lassonde, and Hugo Théoret. 2012. "Altered Bidirectional Plasticity and Reduced Implicit Motor Learning in Concussed Athletes." Cerebral Cortex 22 (1): 112–21.

DePadilla, Lara, Gabrielle F. Miller, Sherry Everett Jones, Alexis B. Peterson, and Matthew J. Breiding. 2018. "Self-Reported Concussions from Playing a Sport or Being Physically Active Among High School Students - United States, 2017." MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 67 (24): 682–85.

Dettori, Joseph R., Daniel C. Norvell, and Jens R. Chapman. 2022. "Fixed-Effect vs Random-Effects Models for Meta-Analysis: 3 Points to Consider." *Global Spine Journal* 12 (7): 1624–26.

Domínguez-Zamora, F. Javier, Shaila M. Gunn, and Daniel S. Marigold. 2018. "Adaptive Gaze Strategies to Reduce Environmental Uncertainty During a Sequential Visuomotor Behaviour." *Scientific Reports* 8 (1): 14112.

Domínguez-Zamora, F. Javier, Kim Lajoie, Andreas B. Miller, and Daniel S. Marigold. 2020. "Age-Related Changes in Gaze Sampling Strategies during Obstacle Navigation." *Gait & Posture* 76: 252–58. Eagle, Shawn R., Anthony P. Kontos, Gert-Jan Pepping, Caleb D. Johnson, Aaron Sinnott, Alice LaGoy, and Chris Connaboy. 2020. "Increased Risk of Musculoskeletal Injury Following Sport-Related Concussion: A Perception-Action Coupling Approach." Sports Medicine 50 (1): 15–23.

Eckner, James T., Jeffrey S. Kutcher, and James K. Richardson. 2011. "Effect of Concussion on Clinically Measured Reaction Time in 9 NCAA Division I Collegiate Athletes: A Preliminary Study." PM & R: The Journal of Injury, Function, and Rehabilitation 3 (3): 212–18.

Ellis, Michael J., Dean Cordingley, Sara Vis, Karen Reimer, Jeff Leiter, and Kelly Russell. 2015. "Vestibulo-Ocular Dysfunction in Pediatric Sports-Related Concussion." Journal of Neurosurgery. Pediatrics 16 (3): 248–55.

Ellmers, Toby J., Adam J. Cocks, Elmar C. Kal, and William R. Young. 2020. "Conscious Movement Processing, Fall-Related Anxiety, and the Visuomotor Control of Locomotion in Older Adults." The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, August. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbaa081.

Ellmers, Toby J., Adam J. Cocks, and William R. Young. 2019. "Evidence of a Link between Fall-Related Anxiety and High-Risk Patterns of Visual Search in Older Adults during Adaptive Locomotion." The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, July. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glz176.

Ellmers, Toby J., Adam J. Cocks, and William R. Young. 2020. "Exploring Attentional Focus of Older Adult Fallers during Heightened Postural Threat." Psychological Research 84 (7): 1877–89.

Estévez-Pedraza, Ángel Gabriel, Enrique Hernandez-Laredo, María Elena Millan-Guadarrama, Rigoberto Martínez-Méndez, María Fernanda Carrillo-Vega, and Lorena Parra-Rodríguez. 2022. "Reliability and Usability Analysis of an Embedded System Capable of Evaluating Balance in Elderly Populations Based on a Modified Wii Balance Board." International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 19 (17). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph191711026.

Fino, Peter C., Maury A. Nussbaum, and Per Gunnar Brolinson. 2016. "Locomotor Deficits in Recently Concussed Athletes and Matched Controls during Single and Dual-Task Turning Gait: Preliminary Results." Journal of Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation 13 (1): 65.

Fino, Peter C., Lucy Parrington, Will Pitt, Douglas N. Martini, James C. Chesnutt, Li-Shan Chou, and Laurie A. King. 2018. "Detecting Gait Abnormalities after Concussion or Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: A Systematic Review of Single-Task, Dual-Task, and Complex Gait." Gait & Posture 62 (May): 157–66.

Franchak, John M., and Karen E. Adolph. 2010. "Visually Guided Navigation: Head-Mounted Eye-Tracking of Natural Locomotion in Children and Adults." *Vision Research* 50 (24): 2766–74.

Franklin DW, Wolpert DM. Computational mechanisms of sensorimotor control. Neuron 72: 425–442, 2011.

Franklin DW, Osu R, Burdet E, Kawato M, Milner TE. Adaptation to stable and unstable dynamics achieved by combined impedance control and inverse dynamics model. J Neurophysiol 90:3270-3282, 2003

Galetta, Kristin M., Lauren E. Brandes, Karl Maki, Mark S. Dziemianowicz, Eric Laudano, Megan Allen, Kathy Lawler, et al. 2011. "The King-Devick Test and Sports-Related Concussion: Study of a Rapid Visual Screening Tool in a Collegiate Cohort." Journal of the Neurological Sciences 309 (1-2): 34–39.

Ginneken, Wouter F. van, Jamie M. Poolton, Catherine M. Capio, John van der Kamp, Cynthia S. Y. Choi, and Richard S. W. Masters. 2018. "Conscious Control Is Associated With Freezing of Mechanical Degrees of Freedom During Motor Learning." Journal of Motor Behavior 50 (4): 436–56.

Glover, Scott, and Peter Dixon. 2004. "A Step and a Hop on the Müller-Lyer: Illusion Effects on Lower-Limb Movements." *Experimental Brain Research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale* 154 (4): 504–12.

Goh, Jin X., Judith A. Hall, and Robert Rosenthal. 2016. "Mini Meta-Analysis of Your Own Studies: Some Arguments on Why and a Primer on How." Social and Personality Psychology Compass 10 (10): 535–49.

Gordon Millichap, J. n.d. "Vestibular Deficits Following Concussion." https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.

Graci, Valentina, David B. Elliott, and John G. Buckley. 2010. "Utility of Peripheral Visual Cues in Planning and Controlling Adaptive Gait." *Optometry and Vision Science: Official Publication of the American Academy of Optometry* 87 (1): 21–27.

Gunn, Shaila M., Kim Lajoie, Kim T. Zebehazy, Robert A. Strath, David R. Neima, and Daniel S. Marigold. 2019. "Mobility-Related Gaze Training in Individuals With Glaucoma: A Proof-of-Concept Study." Translational Vision Science & Technology 8 (5): 23.

Guo, Cong C., and Jennifer L. Raymond. 2010. "Motor Learning Reduces Eye Movement Variability through Reweighting of Sensory Inputs." The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience 30 (48): 16241–48.

Guskiewicz, K. M., N. L. Weaver, D. A. Padua, and W. E. Garrett Jr. 2000. "Epidemiology of Concussion in Collegiate and High School Football Players." The American Journal of Sports Medicine 28 (5): 643–50.

Hak, Laura, Han Houdijk, Frans Steenbrink, Agali Mert, Peter van der Wurff, Peter J. Beek, and Jaap H. van Dieën. 2013. "Stepping Strategies for Regulating Gait Adaptability and Stability." Journal of Biomechanics 46 (5): 905–11.

Hallock, Harry, Maron Mantwill, Peter Vajkoczy, Bernd Wolfarth, Claus Reinsberger, Amit Lampit, and Carsten Finke. 2023. "Sport-Related Concussion." Neurology. Clinical Practice 13 (2). https://doi.org/10.1212/CPJ.000000000200123.

Han, Y. Catherine, and Paul J. Reber. 2022. "Implicit Sequence Learning Using Auditory Cues Leads to Modality-Specific Representations." Psychonomic Bulletin & Review 29 (2): 541–51.

Harada, Garrett K., Caitlin M. Rugg, Armin Arshi, Jeremy Vail, and Sharon L. Hame. 2019. "Multiple Concussions Increase Odds and Rate of Lower Extremity Injury in National Collegiate Athletic Association Athletes After Return to Play." The American Journal of Sports Medicine 47 (13): 3256–62.

Hardeman, L. E. S., E. C. Kal, W. R. Young, J. van der Kamp, and T. J. Ellmers. 2020. "Visuomotor Control of Walking in Parkinson's Disease: Exploring Possible Links between Conscious Movement Processing and Freezing of Gait." Behavioural Brain Research, July, 112837.

Harmon, Kimberly G., Jonathan Drezner, Matthew Gammons, Kevin Guskiewicz, Mark Halstead, Stan Herring, Jeff Kutcher, et al. 2013. "American Medical Society for Sports Medicine Position Statement: Concussion in Sport." Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine: Official Journal of the Canadian Academy of Sport Medicine 23 (1): 1–18.

Harris, David J., Gavin Buckingham, Mark R. Wilson, Jack Brookes, Faisal Mushtaq, Mark Mon-Williams, and Samuel J. Vine. 2020. "The Effect of a Virtual Reality Environment on Gaze Behaviour and Motor Skill Learning." Psychology of Sport and Exercise 50 (September): 101721.

Hayhoe M, Mennie N, Sullivan B, Gorgos K. The Role of Internal Models and Prediction in Catching Balls. AAAI, 2002.

Hayhoe, Mary, Barbara Gillam, Kelly Chajka, and Elia Vecellio. 2009. "The Role of Binocular Vision in Walking." Visual Neuroscience 26 (1): 73–80.

Herman, Daniel C., Debi Jones, Ashley Harrison, Michael Moser, Susan Tillman, Kevin Farmer, Anthony Pass, James R. Clugston, Jorge Hernandez, and Terese L. Chmielewski. 2017.

"Concussion May Increase the Risk of Subsequent Lower Extremity Musculoskeletal Injury in Collegiate Athletes." Sports Medicine 47 (5): 1003–10.

Hoge, Charles W., Dennis McGurk, Jeffrey L. Thomas, Anthony L. Cox, Charles C. Engel, and Carl A. Castro. 2008. "Mild Traumatic Brain Injury in U.S. Soldiers Returning from Iraq." The New England Journal of Medicine 358 (5): 453–63.

Hollands, M. A., and D. E. Marple-Horvat. 1996. "Visually Guided Stepping under Conditions of Step Cycle-Related Denial of Visual Information." *Experimental Brain Research*. *Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale* 109 (2): 343–56.

Hollands MA, Patla AE, Vickers JN. "Look where you're going!": gaze behavior associated with maintaining and changing the direction of locomotion. Exp Brain Res 143:221-230, 2002

Howell, David R., Robert C. Lynall, Thomas A. Buckley, and Daniel C. Herman. 2018. "Neuromuscular Control Deficits and the Risk of Subsequent Injury after a Concussion: A Scoping Review." Sports Medicine 48 (5): 1097–1115.

Hunt, David, Samuel Stuart, Jeremy Nell, Jeffrey M. Hausdorff, Brook Galna, Lynn Rochester, and Lisa Alcock. 2018. "Do People with Parkinson's Disease Look at Task Relevant Stimuli When Walking? An Exploration of Eye Movements." Behavioural Brain Research 348 (August): 82–89.

Hunt, Rhys, Chris Mills, Gillian Frost, Tim Blackmore, and Matt Miller-Dicks. 2023. "The Visual Control of Locomotion When Stepping onto Moving Surfaces: A Comparison of Younger and Older Adults." Experimental Gerontology 174 (February): 112117.

Hwang, Sungjae, Peter Agada, Tim Kiemel, and John J. Jeka. 2014. "Dynamic Reweighting of Three Modalities for Sensor Fusion." PloS One 9 (1): e88132.

Jeka, John, Leslie Allison, Mark Saffer, Yuanfen Zhang, Sean Carver, and Tim Kiemel. 2006. "Sensory Reweighting with Translational Visual Stimuli in Young and Elderly Adults: The Role of State-Dependent Noise." Experimental Brain Research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale 174 (3): 517–27.

Jenerou, Alison, Faao Avesh Raghunandan, and Faao Sara Bush. 2018. "Divided Visual Attention Performance of Ice Hockey Players with History of Concussion." Vision Development and Rehabilitation, September, 121–27.

Khan, Michael A., and Ian M. Franks. "The utilization of visual feedback in the acquisition of motor skills." In Skill Acquisition in Sport, pp. 69-86. Routledge, 2004.

Kim, Aram, Kari S. Kretch, Zixuan Zhou, and James M. Finley. 2018. "The Quality of Visual Information about the Lower Extremities Influences Visuomotor Coordination during Virtual Obstacle Negotiation." Journal of Neurophysiology 120 (2): 839–47.

King, Doug, Matt Brughelli, Patria Hume, and Conor Gissane. 2014. "Assessment, Management and Knowledge of Sport-Related Concussion: Systematic Review." Sports Medicine 44 (4): 449–71.

Kluft, Nick, Sjoerd M. Bruijn, M. John Luu, Jaap H. van Dieën, Mark G. Carpenter, and Mirjam Pijnappels. 2020. "The Influence of Postural Threat on Strategy Selection in a Stepping-down Paradigm." Scientific Reports 10 (1): 10815.

Kopiske, Karl, Daniel Koska, Thomas Baumann, Christian Maiwald, and Wolfgang Einhäuser. 2021. "Icy Road Ahead-Rapid Adjustments of Gaze-Gait Interactions during Perturbed Naturalistic Walking." Journal of Vision 21 (8): 11.

Koren Y, Mairon R, Sofer I, Parmet Y, Ben-Shahar O, Bar-Haim S. Gazing down increases standing and walking postural steadiness. R Soc Open Sci 8: 201556, 2021.

Koren Y, Mairon R, Sofer I, Parmet Y, Ben-Shahar O, Bar-Haim S. Vision, cognition, and walking stability in young adults. Sci Rep 12: 513, 2022.

Korhonen, Niina, Seppo Niemi, Jari Parkkari, Harri Sievänen, and Pekka Kannus. 2013. "Incidence of Fall-Related Traumatic Brain Injuries among Older Finnish Adults between 1970 and 2011." JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association 309 (18): 1891–92.

Kunimune, Sho, and Shuichi Okada. 2017. "The Effects of Object Height and Visual Information on the Control of Obstacle Crossing during Locomotion in Healthy Older Adults." Gait & Posture 55 (June): 126–30.

Kurz, Johannes, Mathias Hegele, and Jörn Munzert. 2018. "Gaze Behavior in a Natural Environment with a Task-Relevant Distractor: How the Presence of a Goalkeeper Distracts the Penalty Taker." Frontiers in Psychology 9 (January): 19.

Lamontagne, Anouk, and Joyce Fung. 2009. "Gaze and Postural Reorientation in the Control of Locomotor Steering after Stroke." Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair 23 (3): 256–66.

Lamontagne, Anouk, Joyce Fung, Bradford McFadyen, Jocelyn Faubert, and Caroline Paquette. 2010. "Stroke Affects Locomotor Steering Responses to Changing Optic Flow Directions." Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair 24 (5): 457–68.

Lamontagne, Anouk, Caroline Paquette, and Joyce Fung. 2007. "Stroke Affects the Coordination of Gaze and Posture during Preplanned Turns While Walking." Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair 21 (1): 62–67.

Lee, Hyunwook, Seunguk Han, and Jon Ty Hopkins. 2022. "Altered Visual Reliance Induced by Stroboscopic Glasses during Postural Control." International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 19 (4). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19042076.

Lehtonen E, Lappi O, Kotkanen H, Summala H. Look-ahead fixations in curve driving. Ergonomics 56(1): 34-44, 2013

Li, Yuhui, Yong Wang, and He Cui. 2018. "Eye-Hand Coordination during Flexible Manual Interception of an Abruptly Appearing, Moving Target." Journal of Neurophysiology 119 (1): 221–34.

Lo, On-Yee, Paul van Donkelaar, and Li-Shan Chou. 2015. "Distracting Visuospatial Attention While Approaching an Obstacle Reduces the Toe-Obstacle Clearance." Experimental Brain Research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale 233 (4): 1137–44.

Makris, Stergios, and Cosimo Urgesi. 2015. "Neural Underpinnings of Superior Action Prediction Abilities in Soccer Players." Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience 10 (3): 342–51.

Mak, Toby C. T., William R. Young, Debbie C. L. Chan, and Thomson W. L. Wong. 2020. "Gait Stability in Older Adults During Level-Ground Walking: The Attentional Focus Approach." The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences 75 (2): 274–81.

Malik, Raza Naseem, Rachel Cote, and Tania Lam. 2017. "Sensorimotor Integration of Vision and Proprioception for Obstacle Crossing in Ambulatory Individuals with Spinal Cord Injury." Journal of Neurophysiology 117 (1): 36–46.

Marigold, Daniel S. 2008. "Role of Peripheral Visual Cues in Online Visual Guidance of Locomotion." *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews* 36 (3): 145–51.

Marigold, D. S., and A. E. Patla. 2007. "Gaze Fixation Patterns for Negotiating Complex Ground Terrain." *Neuroscience* 144 (1): 302–13.

Marigold, Daniel S., and Aftab E. Patla. 2008. "Visual Information from the Lower Visual Field Is Important for Walking across Multi-Surface Terrain." Experimental Brain Research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale 188 (1): 23–31.

Massing, Matthias, Yannick Blandin, and Stefan Panzer. 2016. "Magnifying Visual Target Information and the Role of Eye Movements in Motor Sequence Learning." Acta Psychologica 163 (January): 59–64.

Mathew, James, J. Randall Flanagan, and Frederic R. Danion. 2019. "Gaze Behavior during Visuomotor Tracking with Complex Hand-Cursor Dynamics." Journal of Vision 19 (14): 24.

Matthis, Jonathan Samir, and Brett R. Fajen. 2013. "Humans Exploit the Biomechanics of Bipedal Gait during Visually Guided Walking over Complex Terrain." Proceedings. Biological Sciences / The Royal Society 280 (1762): 20130700.

Matthis, Jonathan Samir, Jacob L. Yates, and Mary M. Hayhoe. 2018. "Gaze and the Control of Foot Placement When Walking in Natural Terrain." Current Biology: CB 28 (8): 1224–33.e5.

Matthis, Jonathan S., and Brett R. Fajen. 2014. "Visual Control of Foot Placement When Walking over Complex Terrain." Journal of Experimental Psychology. Human Perception and Performance 40 (1): 106–15.

McCarville, Elizabeth M., and David A. Westwood. 2006. "The Visual Control of Stepping Operates in Real Time: Evidence from a Pictorial Illusion." *Experimental Brain Research*. *Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale* 171 (3): 405–10.

McCrea, Michael, Kevin Guskiewicz, Christopher Randolph, William B. Barr, Thomas A. Hammeke, Stephen W. Marshall, Matthew R. Powell, Kwang Woo Ahn, Yanzhi Wang, and James P. Kelly. 2013. "Incidence, Clinical Course, and Predictors of Prolonged Recovery Time Following Sport-Related Concussion in High School and College Athletes." Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society: JINS 19 (1): 22–33.

McPherson, April L., Takashi Nagai, Kate E. Webster, and Timothy E. Hewett. 2019. "Musculoskeletal Injury Risk After Sport-Related Concussion: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." The American Journal of Sports Medicine 47 (7): 1754–62.

Mennie, Neil, Mary Hayhoe, and Brian Sullivan. 2007. "Look-Ahead Fixations: Anticipatory Eye Movements in Natural Tasks." Experimental Brain Research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale 179 (3): 427–42.

Gordon Millichap, J. 2015. "Vestibular Deficits Following Concussion." *Pediatric Neurology Briefs* 29 (5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.

Mohagheghi, Amir A., Renato Moraes, and Aftab E. Patla. 2004. "The Effects of Distant and on-Line Visual Information on the Control of Approach Phase and Step over an Obstacle during Locomotion." Experimental Brain Research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale 155 (4): 459–68.

Moran, Ryan N., Jeff Meek, Jeff Allen, and James Robinson. 2020. "Sex Differences and Normative Data for the M-CTSIB and Sensory Integration on Baseline Concussion Assessment in Collegiate Athletes." Brain Injury: [BI] 34 (1): 20–25.

Muir, B. C., J. M. Haddad, M. J. H. Heijnen, and S. Rietdyk. 2015. "Proactive Gait Strategies to Mitigate Risk of Obstacle Contact Are More Prevalent with Advancing Age." Gait & Posture 41 (1): 233–39.

Müller, Carl, Thomas Baumann, Wolfgang Einhäuser, and Karl Kopiske. 2023. "Slipping While Counting: Gaze-Gait Interactions during Perturbed Walking under Dual-Task Conditions." Experimental Brain Research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale, February. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-023-06560-6.

Muller, Karl S., Jonathan Matthis, Kathryn Bonnen, Lawrence K. Cormack, Alex C. Huk, and Mary Hayhoe. 2023. "Retinal Motion Statistics during Natural Locomotion." eLife 12 (May). https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.82410.

Murray, Nicholas G., Brian Szekely, Arthur Islas, Barry A. Munkasy, Russell Gore, Marian E. Berryhill, and Rebecca J. Reed-Jones. 2019. "Sport-Related Concussions May Rely on Larger and Faster Saccadic Eye Movements during a Sport-like Visual Task." Journal of Neurotrauma, September. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2019.6595.

Natrup, Jens, Jana Bramme, Marc H. E. de Lussanet, Kim Joris Boström, Markus Lappe, and Heiko Wagner. 2020. "Gaze Behavior of Trampoline Gymnasts during a Back Tuck Somersault." Human Movement Science 70 (April): 102589.

Nelson, David V., and Mary Lee Esty. 2015. "Neurotherapy for Chronic Headache Following Traumatic Brain Injury." Military Medical Research 2 (August): 22.

Nordström, Anna, Peter Nordström, and Jan Ekstrand. 2014. "Sports-Related Concussion Increases the Risk of Subsequent Injury by about 50% in Elite Male Football Players." British Journal of Sports Medicine 48 (19): 1447–50.

Oppici, Luca, Annika Dix, and Susanne Narciss. 2021. "When Is Knowledge of Performance (KP) Superior to Knowledge of Results (KR) in Promoting Motor Skill Learning? A Systematic Review." International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology, October, 1–25.

Oudejans, Raôul R. D., Rajiv S. Karamat, and Maarten H. Stolk. 2012. "Effects of Actions Preceding the Jump Shot on Gaze Behavior and Shooting Performance in Elite Female Basketball Players." International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching 7 (2): 255–67.

Oudejans, Raôul R. D., Rolf W. van de Langenberg, and R. I. Vana Hutter. 2002. "Aiming at a Far Target under Different Viewing Conditions: Visual Control in Basketball Jump Shooting." Human Movement Science 21 (4): 457–80.

Papoutsaki, Alexandra, Patsorn Sangkloy, and James Laskey. n.d. "WebGazer: Scalable Webcam Eye Tracking Using User Interactions."

Parker, Tonya M., Louis R. Osternig, Paul van Donkelaar, and Li-Shan Chou. 2007. "Recovery of Cognitive and Dynamic Motor Function Following Concussion." British Journal of Sports Medicine 41 (12): 868–73; discussion 873.

Patla, A. E. 2003. "Strategies for Dynamic Stability during Adaptive Human Locomotion." IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Magazine: The Quarterly Magazine of the Engineering in Medicine & Biology Society 22 (2): 48–52.

Patla, Aftab E., and Michael Greig. 2006. "Any Way You Look at It, Successful Obstacle Negotiation Needs Visually Guided on-Line Foot Placement Regulation during the Approach Phase." *Neuroscience Letters* 397 (1-2): 110–14.

Patla, A. E., S. Rietdyk, C. Martin, and S. Prentice. 1996. "Locomotor Patterns of the Leading and the Trailing Limbs as Solid and Fragile Obstacles Are Stepped Over: Some Insights Into the Role of Vision During Locomotion." *Journal of Motor Behavior* 28 (1): 35–47.

Patla, Aftab E., and Joan N. Vickers. 1997. "Where and When Do We Look as We Approach and Step over an Obstacle in the Travel Path?" Neuroreport 8 (17): 3661.

Patla, Aftab E., and Joan N. Vickers. 2003. "How Far Ahead Do We Look When Required to Step on Specific Locations in the Travel Path during Locomotion?" Experimental Brain Research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale 148 (1): 133–38.

Perry, Christopher M., Tarkeshwar Singh, Kayla G. Springer, Adam T. Harrison, Alexander C. McLain, and Troy M. Herter. 2020. "Multiple Processes Independently Predict Motor Learning." Journal of Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation 17 (1): 151.

Pham, Quang-Cuong, Alain Berthoz, and Halim Hicheur. 2011. "Invariance of Locomotor Trajectories across Visual and Gait Direction Conditions." Experimental Brain Research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale 210 (2): 207–15.

Piras, A., R. Lobietti, and S. Squatrito. 2010. "A Study of Saccadic Eye Movement Dynamics in Volleyball: Comparison between Athletes and Non-Athletes." The Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness 50 (1): 99–108.

Potocanac, Zrinka, Ellen Smulders, Mirjam Pijnappels, Sabine Verschueren, and Jacques Duysens. 2015. "Response Inhibition and Avoidance of Virtual Obstacles during Gait in Healthy Young and Older Adults." *Human Movement Science* 39 (February): 27–40.

Pradeep Ambati, V. N., Nicholas G. Murray, Fabricio Saucedo, Douglas W. Powell, and Rebecca J. Reed-Jones. 2013. "Constraining Eye Movement When Redirecting Walking Trajectories Alters Turning Control in Healthy Young Adults." Experimental Brain Research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale 226 (4): 549–56.

Proteau, L., and J. Cournoyer. 1990. "Vision of the Stylus in a Manual Aiming Task: The Effects of Practice." The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology. A, Human Experimental Psychology 42 (4): 811–28

Pupil Labs (2022, 05) Terminology. Pupil Labs Documentation. https://docs.pupil-labs.com/core/terminology/

Quijoux, Flavien, Aliénor Vienne-Jumeau, François Bertin-Hugault, Philippe Zawieja, Marie Lefèvre, Pierre-Paul Vidal, and Damien Ricard. 2020. "Center of Pressure Displacement Characteristics Differentiate Fall Risk in Older People: A Systematic Review with Meta-Analysis." Ageing Research Reviews 62 (September): 101117.

Reiser, Julian Elias, Stefan Arnau, Gerhard Rinkenauer, and Edmund Wascher. 2022. "Did You Even See That? Visual Sensory Processing of Single Stimuli under Different Locomotor Loads." PloS One 17 (5): e0267896.

Reynolds, Raymond F., and Brian L. Day (2005) Visual Guidance of the Human Foot during a Step. The Journal of Physiology 569 (Pt 2): 677–84. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2005.095869

Rietdyk, Shirley, and Chris K. Rhea. 2006. "Control of Adaptive Locomotion: Effect of Visual Obstruction and Visual Cues in the Environment." *Experimental Brain Research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale* 169 (2): 272–78.

Rietdyk, Shirley, and Christopher K. Rhea. 2011. "The Effect of the Visual Characteristics of Obstacles on Risk of Tripping and Gait Parameters during Locomotion." *Ophthalmic & Physiological Optics: The Journal of the British College of Ophthalmic Opticians* 31 (3): 302–10.

Rizzo, John-Ross, Todd E. Hudson, Weiwei Dai, Joel Birkemeier, Rosa M. Pasculli, Ivan Selesnick, Laura J. Balcer, Steven L. Galetta, and Janet C. Rucker. 2016. "Rapid Number Naming in Chronic Concussion: Eye Movements in the King-Devick Test." Annals of Clinical and Translational Neurology 3 (10): 801–11.

Roden-Reynolds, Devin C., Megan H. Walker, Camille R. Wasserman, and Jesse C. Dean. 2015. "Hip Proprioceptive Feedback Influences the Control of Mediolateral Stability during Human Walking." Journal of Neurophysiology 114 (4): 2220–29.

Roemmich, Ryan T., Andrew W. Long, and Amy J. Bastian. 2016. "Seeing the Errors You Feel Enhances Locomotor Performance but Not Learning." Current Biology: CB 26 (20): 2707–16.

Saeedpour-Parizi MR, Hassan SE, Baniasadi T, Baute KJ, Shea JB. Hierarchical goal effects on center of mass velocity and eye fixations during gait. Exp Brain Res, 2020. doi:10.1007/s00221-020-05900-0.

Säfström, Daniel, Roland S. Johansson, and J. Randall Flanagan. 2014. "Gaze Behavior When Learning to Link Sequential Action Phases in a Manual Task." Journal of Vision 14 (4). https://doi.org/10.1167/14.4.3.

Sailer, Uta, J. Randall Flanagan, and Roland S. Johansson. 2005. "Eye–Hand Coordination during Learning of a Novel Visuomotor Task." The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience 25 (39): 8833–42.

Sanchez, Daniel J., Eric W. Gobel, and Paul J. Reber. 2010. "Performing the Unexplainable: Implicit Task Performance Reveals Individually Reliable Sequence Learning without Explicit Knowledge." Psychonomic Bulletin & Review 17 (6): 790–96.

Seidler-Dobrin, Rachael D., and G. E. Stelmach. 1998. "Persistence in Visual Feedback Control by the Elderly." Experimental Brain Research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale 119 (4): 467–74.

Selgrade, Brian P., Diane Meyer, Jacob J. Sosnoff, and Jason R. Franz. 2020. "Can Optical Flow Perturbations Detect Walking Balance Impairment in People with Multiple Sclerosis?" PloS One 15 (3): e0230202.

Simieli, Lucas, Rodrigo Vitório, Sérgio Tosi Rodrigues, Paula Fávaro Polastri Zago, Vinícius Alota Ignacio Pereira, André Macari Baptista, Pedro Henrique Alves de Paula, Tiago Penedo, Quincy J. Almeida, and Fabio Augusto Barbieri. 2017. "Gaze and Motor Behavior of People with PD during Obstacle Circumvention." Gait & Posture 58 (October): 504–9.

Subbian, Vignesh, Jonathan J. Ratcliff, Joseph J. Korfhagen, Kimberly W. Hart, Jason M. Meunier, George J. Shaw, Christopher J. Lindsell, and Fred R. Beyette Jr. 2016. "A Novel Tool for Evaluation of Mild Traumatic Brain Injury Patients in the Emergency Department: Does Robotic Assessment of Neuromotor Performance Following Injury Predict the Presence of Postconcussion Symptoms at Follow-Up?" Academic Emergency Medicine: Official Journal of the Society for Academic Emergency Medicine 23 (4): 382–92.

Thomas, Nicholas D. A., James D. Gardiner, Robin H. Crompton, and Rebecca Lawson. 2020a. "Look out: An Exploratory Study Assessing How Gaze (eye Angle and Head Angle) and Gait Speed Are Influenced by Surface Complexity." PeerJ 8 (April): e8838.

Thomas, Nicholas D. A., James D. Gardiner, Robin H. Crompton, and Rebecca Lawson. 2020b. "Physical and Perceptual Measures of Walking Surface Complexity Strongly Predict Gait and Gaze Behaviour." Human Movement Science 71 (June): 102615.

Thomas, Nicholas D. A., James D. Gardiner, Robin H. Crompton, and Rebecca Lawson. 2020c. "Keep Your Head down: Maintaining Gait Stability in Challenging Conditions." Human Movement Science 73 (September): 102676. Timmis, Matthew A., Simon J. Bennett, and John G. Buckley. 2009. "Visuomotor Control of Step Descent: Evidence of Specialised Role of the Lower Visual Field." *Experimental Brain Research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale* 195 (2): 219–27.

Timmis, Matthew A., and John G. Buckley. 2012. "Obstacle Crossing during Locomotion: Visual Exproprioceptive Information Is Used in an Online Mode to Update Foot Placement before the Obstacle but Not Swing Trajectory over It." Gait & Posture 36 (1): 160–62.

Tremblay, L., and L. Proteau. 1998. "Specificity of Practice: The Case of Powerlifting." Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport 69 (3): 284–89.

Tuhkanen, Samuel, Jami Pekkanen, Richard M. Wilkie, and Otto Lappi. 2021. "Visual Anticipation of the Future Path: Predictive Gaze and Steering." Journal of Vision 21 (8): 25.

Turano, Kathleen A., Duane R. Geruschat, and Frank H. Baker. 2003. "Oculomotor Strategies for the Direction of Gaze Tested with a Real-World Activity." Vision Research 43 (3): 333–46.

Vasconcelos, Gabriela Souza de, Anelize Cini, and Cláudia Silveira Lima. 2020. "Proprioceptive Training on Dynamic Neuromuscular Control in Fencers: A Clinical Trial." Journal of Sport Rehabilitation 30 (2): 220–25.

Vickers, Stephen, Howell Istance, and Matthew Smalley. 2010. "EyeGuitar: Making Rhythm Based Music Video Games Accessible Using Only Eye Movements." In Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Advances in Computer Entertainment Technology, 36–39. ACE '10. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery.

Vieluf, Solveig, Matthias Massing, Yannick Blandin, Peter Leinen, and Stefan Panzer. 2015. "The Role of Eye Movements in Motor Sequence Learning." Human Movement Science 40 (April): 220–36.

Vilotijević, Ana, and Sebastiaan Mathôt. 2022. "Emphasis on Peripheral Vision Is Accompanied by Pupil Dilation." bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.07.14.500035.

Vitório, Rodrigo, Ellen Lirani-Silva, Fabio Augusto Barbieri, Vivian Raile, Florindo Stella, and Lilian Teresa Bucken Gobbi. 2013. "Influence of Visual Feedback Sampling on Obstacle Crossing Behavior in People with Parkinson's Disease." Gait & Posture 38 (2): 330–34.

Vitório, Rodrigo, Lilian T. B. Gobbi, Ellen Lirani-Silva, Renato Moraes, and Quincy J. Almeida. 2016. "Synchrony of Gaze and Stepping Patterns in People with Parkinson's Disease." *Behavioural Brain Research* 307 (July): 159–64.

Wang, Yi, Zugui Wu, Zehua Chen, Xiangling Ye, Guoqian Chen, Jiaman Yang, Peiming Zhang, et al. 2021. "Proprioceptive Training for Knee Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials." Frontiers of Medicine 8 (October): 699921.

Warlop, Griet, Pieter Vansteenkiste, Matthieu Lenoir, Jérôme Van Causenbroeck, and Frederik J. A. Deconinck. 2020. "Gaze Behaviour during Walking in Young Adults with Developmental Coordination Disorder." Human Movement Science 71 (June): 102616.

Wilson RC, Shenhav A, Straccia M, Cohen JD. The Eighty Five Percent Rule for optimal learning. Nat Commun 10: 4646, 2019.

Winter, D. A., H. G. Sidwall, and D. A. Hobson. 1974. "Measurement and Reduction of Noise in Kinematics of Locomotion." Journal of Biomechanics 7 (2): 157–59.

Wolfe, Jeremy M., Anna Kosovicheva, and Benjamin Wolfe. (2022). Normal Blindness: When We Look But Fail To See. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, July. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2022.06.006.

Wood, Tyler A., Katherine L. Hsieh, Ruopeng An, Randy A. Ballard, and Jacob J. Sosnoff. 2019. "Balance and Gait Alterations Observed More Than 2 Weeks After Concussion: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation / Association of Academic Physiatrists 98 (7): 566–76.

Xu, Shanshan, Guoxiao Sun, and Mark R. Wilson. 2021. "Neurophysiological Evidence of How Quiet Eye Supports Motor Performance." Cognitive Processing 22 (4): 641–48.

Yamamoto H, Sato A, Itakura S. Transition From Crawling to Walking Changes Gaze Communication Space in Everyday Infant-Parent Interaction. Front Psychol 10: 2987, 2019.

Yeh, Ting Ting, Tyler Cluff, and Ramesh Balasubramaniam. 2014. "Visual Reliance for Balance Control in Older Adults Persists When Visual Information Is Disrupted by Artificial Feedback Delays." PloS One 9 (3): e91554.

Young, William R., and Mark A. Hollands. 2010. "Can Telling Older Adults Where to Look Reduce Falls? Evidence for a Causal Link between Inappropriate Visual Sampling and Suboptimal Stepping Performance." Experimental Brain Research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation Cerebrale 204 (1): 103–13.

Zhang, A. 2017. Speech Recognition (Version 3.8) [Software]. Available from https://github.com/Uberi/speech_recognition#readme.

Zietz, Doerte, and Mark Hollands. 2009. "Gaze Behavior of Young and Older Adults during Stair Walking." Journal of Motor Behavior 41 (4): 357–65.

Zukowski, Lisa A., Gözde Iyigün, Carol A. Giuliani, and Prudence Plummer. 2020. "Effect of the Environment on Gait and Gaze Behavior in Older Adult Fallers Compared to Older Adult Non-Fallers." PloS One 15 (3): e0230479.